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Part 1 – BUSINESS AND GENERAL INFORMATION
Item 1. BUSINESS
1. 1. Brief Description and Recent Developments
Filinvest Land Inc. (“FLI” or “the Parent Company”) is one of the leading real estate developers in the
country, providing a wide range of real estate products to residential and commercial customers. FLI
(including its predecessor’s operations) has over 50 years of real estate expertise and has developed
over 2500 hectares of land, having provided home/home sites for over 200,000 families.
FLI is one of the largest nationwide residential developers in 55 cities and towns in 22 provinces in
the Philippines. It is also one of the largest mid-rise building (MRB) developers in the country today
and a market leader in the affordable and middle-income residential segments. It currently owns land
bank of 1,650 hectares and has joint ventures arrangement for another 691 hectares, totaling 2,341
hectares under its control and management for sustainable future growth .
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”) offer a range of real
estate products from socialized and affordable housing to middle-income and high-end housing,
various types of subdivision lots, medium-rise residential buildings, farm estates, industrial parks,
residential resort projects and condominium buildings. The Group also leases out commercial and
office spaces in Muntinlupa City, Makati City, Pasay City, Cebu City, Tagaytay City, Cavite, and
Clark Mimosa, its major locations for leasing currently. Upcoming locations are New Clark city,
Dumaguete, Ortigas, Manila, among others in the pipeline.
FLI now operates 31 office buildings totaling 523,904 square meters. For retail, FLI has 256,830
square meters GLA in the retail portfolio in 2020 from 243,215 square meters in 2019.
With a more diversified portfolio, FLI expects to generate stable recurring revenue from its retail and
office investment properties. These recurring revenues can, in turn, be used to provide internally
generated funding for other projects. FLI is not and has never been a subject of any bankruptcy,
receivership, or similar proceedings.
19.2-hectare South Road Properties
In July 2015, FLI, CPI and FAI (collectively referred to as “Filinvest Consortium”) won the bidding
for a 19.20-hectare lot in Cebu’s SRP. Thereafter, on August 7, 2015, Filinvest Consortium entered
into a Deed of Sale on Installment (DSI) with the Cebu City Government. In a letter dated January 6,
2017, the Cebu City Mayor questioned the validity of the sale and gave the buyers the option to
withdraw from the sale at buyer’s discretion. In a letter to the Cebu City Mayor dated February 7,
2017 (the Letter), Filinvest Consortium expressed its intention to rescind the DSI. Under the DSI,
Cebu City undertook to comply with several covenants, undertakings and obligations no later than
February 7, 2016 (or 180 days from execution of the DSI). The Letter pointed out that as of February
7, 2017, the said covenants, undertakings and obligations have not been complied with and it does not
appear that these will be complied with within a foreseeable reasonable period of time.
The rescission of the DSI shall only take effect upon return by Cebu City of the down payment and
installment payments made to Cebu City by Filinvest Consortium, plus interests, within ninety (90)
days from receipt of the Letter in accordance with Section 5.7 of the DSI. Pending receipt of such
payments, the DSI shall remain valid and subsisting by and among the parties.
As of February 27, 2019, such payment has not been received and no formal and definitive legal
proceeding has been undertaken by the parties on this matter. Consequently, as of said date, the DSI
remains valid and Filinvest Consortium has the sole and rightful claim over the property.
The 19.2-hectare property mentioned above is a separate property from the other two (2) properties
within the SRP which were acquired from Cebu City: a) the 40-hectare property under a joint venture
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undertaking with Cebu City; and b) the 10-hectare property which was already paid in full by FLI to
Cebu City.
On August 2, 2019, Filinvest Consortium informed Cebu City that the payments will be judicially
consigned in accordance with law considering that to date, Cebu City has not yet returned the
payments with interest, thus, the conditional rescission has already expired. In response, Cebu City
issued a letter dated October 4, 2019 to FLI Consortium and insisted that the latter has no longer any
debt to Filinvest Consortium as the DSI was effectively rescinded. Cebu City reiterates its willingness
to restitute the Filinvest Consortium of the amount it has already paid prior the rescission.
The Cebu City Government and Filinvest Consortium came to a resolution on January 8, 2020 with
the full payment and the signing of the Deed of Absolute Sale. The Filinvest Consortium paid on
December 17, 2019 the full amount of the purchase price of the lot plus the accumulated interest for
the unpaid installments since 2017. Accordingly, the matter has been resolved.
The carrying value of the property amounted to ₱1.20 billion as of December 31, 2020.

1.2. Form and Date of Organization
FLI was incorporated in the Philippines on November 24, 1989 as Citation Homes, Inc. and later
changed its name to FLI on July 12, 1993. It started commercial operations in August 1993 after
Filinvest Development Corporation (FDC), the Parent Company, spun off its real estate operations
and transferred all related assets and liabilities to FLI in exchange for shares of stock of FLI. FLI was
listed on the PSE on October 25, 1993.
As of December 31, 2020, FDC owns 65% of Common Stock and 100% of Preferred Stock of FLI.
FDC is the holding company for real estate and other business activities of the Gotianun Family. FDC
traces its origin to the consumer finance business established by Mr. Andrew Gotianun Sr. and his
family in 1955. The shares of FDC and FLI are both listed in the Philippine Stock Exchange. The
ultimate parent company of FLI is A. L. Gotianun, Inc.

1.3. Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Parent Company and the following
subsidiaries. The nature of business and the corresponding percentages of ownership over these
entities as at December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows. The voting rights held by the Group
in these subsidiaries are in proportion to its ownership interest.
Subsidiaries
Filinvest AII Philippines, Inc. (FAPI)
Filinvest BCDA Clark, Inc. (FBCI) 1
FCGC Corporation (FCGCC)
Gintong Parisukat Realty and
Development Inc. (GPRDI)
Homepro Realty Marketing, Inc. (Homepro)
Cyberzone Properties, Inc. (CPI)
Filinvest Asia Corporation (FAC)
Filinvest Cyberparks, Inc. (FCI)
Filinvest Cyberzone Mimosa, Inc. (FCMI)
Festival Supermall, Inc. (FSI)
Filinvest Lifemalls Corporation (FLC)
Filinvest Lifemalls Mimosa, Inc. (FLMI)
Filinvest Lifemalls Tagaytay, Inc. (FLTI)
Pro-Excel Property Managers, Inc.
(Pro-Excel) 2
ProOffice Works Services, Inc. (ProOffice)3

Nature of Business
Real estate developer
Real estate developer
Real estate developer
Real estate developer

2020
100%
55%
100%
100%

2019
100%
55%
100%
100%

2018
100%
55%
100%
100%

Real estate developer
Leasing
Leasing
Leasing
Leasing
Property management
Property management
Property management
Property management
Property management

100%
100%
60%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
33%

100%
100%
60%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
33%

100%
100%
60%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
74%

Property management

100%

100%

–
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Subsidiaries
Property Specialist Resources, Inc. (Prosper)
FSM Cinemas, Inc. (FSM Cinemas) 4
Philippine DCS Development Corporation
(PDDC)
Timberland Sports and Nature
Club, Inc. (TSNC) 5
Dreambuilders Pro, Inc. (DPI) 6
ProMixers Aggregates Corp. (PMAC) 7
Leisurepro, Inc. (Leisurepro)
Proleads Philippines, Inc. (PPI)
Property Leaders International Limited
(PLIL)
Property Maximizer Professional Corp.
(Promax)
Realpros Philippines, Inc. (RPI)
Nature Specialists, Inc. (NSI)
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

Nature of Business
Property management

2020
100%

2019
100%

2018
100%

60%
60%

60%
60%

60%
60%

Theater operator
District cooling systems,
builder and operator
Recreational Sports and
Natures Club
Construction
Construction
Marketing
Marketing
Marketing

98%

98%

98%

45%
45%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
–
100%
100%
100%

Marketing

100%

100%

100%

Marketing
Recreational Sports and
Natures Club

100%
75%

100%
–

100%
–

FBCI is owned indirectly through FCGCC.
Deconsolidated in 2019. CPI and FCI sold its ownership in Pro-Excel to FAI (see Note 1). The effective
ownership interest of the Parent Company was reduced to 33%.
CPI assigned its 60% interest in ProOffice to FLI. 40% remaining interest is owned by FCI. Effectively, FLI owns
100% of ProOffice.
FSM Cinemas is owned indirectly through FSI.
In 2018 and 2017, the Parent Company acquired noncontrolling interest in TSNC representing additional 1% and
5% ownership interest, respectively, for a total consideration of =
P 16.09 million and =
P 138.85 million, respectively.
Deconsolidated in 2020.
PMAC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DPI.
Filinvest Cyberzone Mimosa, Inc. (FCMI) was renamed Filinvest Clark Mimosa Inc. on February 15, 2021.

Except PLIL which was incorporated in British Virgin Islands, all of the Parent Company’s
subsidiaries were incorporated in the Philippines. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Parent Company using consistent accounting policies.
Detailed discussion of each subsidiary follows:
•

FAPI was incorporated on September 25, 2006 to develop the TSNC and Phase 2 of Timberland
Heights

•

FCGCC was incorporated on February 11, 2016 to undertake the development of the Clark Green
City (now New Clark City) Project under the Joint Venture Agreement with Bases Conversion and
Development Authority (BCDA). On March 16, 2016, FBCI, a joint venture company with
BCDA, was incorporated to handle the aforementioned development. FBCI is 55%-owned by
FCGCC and 45%-owned by BCDA. As of December 31, 2020, FCGCC and FBCI have not
started commercial operations.

•

On January 19, 2018, FLI entered into a Share Sale and Purchase Agreement to purchase 100% of
the total outstanding shares of GPRDI for a total consideration of ₱1.71 billion. The primary
purpose of GPRDI is to hold, purchase, lease, contract otherwise acquire any and all real and
personal properties. GPRDI has not started its commercial operations as of December 31, 2020.

•

Homepro was incorporated on March 25, 1997 and started commercial operations on January 1,
2004.

•

CPI was incorporated on January 14, 2000 and began commercial operations on May 1, 2001. CPI
is registered with the PEZA as an Economic Zone Facilities Enterprise, which entitles CPI to
certain tax benefits and non-fiscal incentives such as paying a 5% tax on its modified gross
income in lieu of of national and local taxes. CPI is also entitled to zero percent value-added tax
on sales made to other PEZA-registered enterprises. CPI owns and operates the IT buildings in
Northgate Cyberzone, located in a 10-hectare parcel of land within Filinvest City owned by the
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parent Company, FLI. CPI also leases a parcel of land measuring 2,831 sq.m. located in EDSA on
which CPI built a 5-storey BPO building with a total GLA of 7,358 sq.m.
•

FAC was incorporated on January 22, 1997 and as at date of this report is 60%-owned by FLI and
40%-owned by Reco Herrra Pte.Ltd. (RHPL). RHPL is 100% beneficially owned by the
Government of Singapore Investment Corporation Pte. Ltd (GIC). FAC owns 50% of the 52storey PBCom Tower, which is strategically located at the corner of Ayala Avenue and V. A.
Rufino Streets in the Makati City Central Business District. FAC owns 36,000 sq. m. of leasable
office space. The remaining 50% of PBCom Tower is owned by the Philippine Bank of
Communications.

•

The PBCom Tower is registered as an information technology building by PEZA. Consequently,
tenants occupying space in PBCom Tower are entitled to avail of certain fiscal incentives, such as
a 5% tax on modified gross income in lieu of the national and local taxes, income tax holidays
and zero rated vat in certain cases.

•

FCI was incorporated on February 4, 2014. Its primary purpose is to acquire by purchase, lease,
donate and/or to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, hold for
investment and deal with real estate of all kinds.

•

FCMI was incorporated on January 23, 2017. Its primary purpose is to acquire by purchase, lease
except financial leasing, donation or and hold for investment or otherwise deal in real estate of all
kinds, nature, purpose and/or any interest or right therein. FCMI started its commercial operations
in May 2018. FCMI is registered with Clark Development Corporation (CDC) as a Clark Freeport
Enterprise enjoying the incentives similar to PEZA such as zero percent VAT on its revenues and
5% income tax on modified gross income, in lieu of local and national taxes.

•

FSI is the property manager of Festival Supermall and other commercial centers of the Group. FSI
also owns 60% equity interest in FSM Cinemas, Inc. which is engaged in theater operations. The
transaction was accounted for using the pooling of interest method wherein the assets and
liabilities of the combining entities are reflected in the consolidated financial statements at their
carrying amounts.

•

FLC, formerly Whiluc Realty & Mgt., Inc., is organized to invest in, purchase, hold, use, develop,
lease, sell, assign, transfer mortgage, enjoy or otherwise dispose of, as may be permitted by law,
all properties of every kind, nature and description and wherever situated, of any corporation.

•

FLMI was incorporated on January 23, 2017. Its primary purpose is to acquire by purchase, lease
except financial leasing, donation, or otherwise, and/or to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide,
sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, develop and hold for investment or otherwise deal in real estate
of all kinds, nature and purpose and/or any interest or right therein. FLMI has not started its
commercial operations as of December 31, 2020.

•

FLTI was incorporated on November 20, 2017. Its primary purpose is to acquire by purchase,
lease (except financial leasing), donation or otherwise, and to own, use, improve, develop,
subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, develop and hold for investment or otherwise deal in
real estate of all kinds in order to develop, conduct, operation, lease, and maintenance of retail and
commercial space for rent, restaurants, function halls, amusement centers, movie or cinema
theaters within the compound to premises of the shopping centers. FLTI started its commercial
operations in March 2018.

•

On December 26, 2019, CPI and FCI, wholly owned subsidiaries of the Parent, entered into a
Deed of Assignment to sell its ownership in Pro-Excel to FAI. The sale resulted in a loss of
control in Pro-Excel and deconsolidation by the Group. The remaining ownership of the Parent
Company in Pro-Excel is 33%. Subsequently after disposal, the investment in Pro-excel is
accounted as investment in associate under the equity method.
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•

ProOffice was incorporated on March 18, 2019 to engage in the business of administration,
maintenance and management of real estate developments and projects. ProOffice started
commercial operations in August 2019.

•

Prosper was incorporated on June 10, 2002 and started commercial operations on January 01,
2004. Prosper is engaged in the purchase, lease and management of hotel and resort properties,
and is currently managing the condotel operations of a high-rise condominium (Grand Cenia) and
hotel project (Quest Hotel) of the Parent Company. Prior to Prosper’s condotel and hotel
management business, Prosper was engaged in the business of real estate marketing.

•

FSM Cinemas was incorporated on April 23, 1998 to engage in servicing, booking, and arranging
of films, programs, shows, plays, and movies of all kinds, types, makes, and colors for movie
houses, theaters, or cinemas and to exhibit, lease, rent, run or operate movie houses, theaters,
cinemas, as well as, supply equipment, machines and accessories needed in cinemas, theaters or
movie houses. FSM Cinemas is owned indirectly through FSI.

•

On April 15, 2015, FLI and Engie Services Philippines (ENGIE) entered into a joint venture
agreement to establish PDDC. On July 31, 2015, PDDC was registered with the SEC to engage in
the business of building and operating a district cooling system within existing and future
buildings at Northgate Cyberzone Area, Filinvest City, Alabang, Muntinlupa City. PDDC is 60%
owned by FLI and 40% owned by ENGIE.

•

On July 18, 2018, the SEC approved TSNC’s application on voluntary revocation of its secondary
registration which allowed TSNC to proceed with the transition to its new business model. On
November 15, 2018, the Board of Directors (BOD) approved the amendment to change the
primary purpose of the Club from an exclusive recreational sports club to a for profit commercial
facility. On July 24, 2019, TSNC submitted its Amended Articles of Incorporation to SEC. The
amendments include (a) change of the primary purpose of TSNC from that of an exclusive
recreational sports club to a real estate development Company; (b) change of TSNC’s principal
address from No. 173 P. Gomez Street, San Juan, Metro Manila to Timberland Heights, Barangay
Malanday, San Mateo Rizal; (c) converting of TSNC’s capital stock from no par value club shares
to par value shares; (d) removal of provisions which characterizes TSNC as an exclusive
nonprofit association; and (e) removal of paragraphs which relate to the operations of an exclusive
recreational sports club. On August 1, 2019, the SEC approved TSNC’s application for voluntary
revocation of its secondary registration. On August 18, 2019, the SEC approved TSNC’s
Amended Articles of Incorporation.

•

PMAC was incorporated on October 11, 2019 mainly to operate concrete batching plant,
manufacture and supply of precast and construction equipment supply and rental. PMAC has not
started commercial operations as of December 31, 2020.

•

Leisurepro was incorporated on April 21, 2004 and started commercial operations on January 1,
2006. The company is inactive since 2010.

•

PPI was incorporated on March 29, 2017 to provide management, organizational, and other
administrative services and training. PPI started its commercial operations in November 2017.

•

PLIL, a company limited by shares, was registered at the territory of the British Virgin Islands on
February 7, 2017. PLIL has not started its commercial operations as of December 31, 2020.

•

Promax was incorporated on October 3, 1997. It is engaged in real estate marketing business and
handle the marketing and sale of socialized, affordable, middle income, high-end and farm estate
property development projects of FLI.

•

RPI was incorporated on August 3, 2017 to provide administrative support services and skills
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training primarily through the use of information technology, licensed software, and systems. RPI
has started its commercial operations in November 2017.
•

NSI was incorporated on August 24, 2018 to conduct real estate activities primarily focusing on
hotels, inns, resorts, lodging houses and all adjunct accessories thereto, including restuarants,
cafes, bars, stores, offices, etc.. NSI has not started its commercial operations in as of December
31, 2020.

1.4. Equity Investments in CTI, Pro-Excel, FAI and FMI
CTI
As of December 31, 2018, investment in Corporate Technologies, Inc. (CTI) was reported under
“Other noncurrent assets” due to pending SEC approval and issuance of amended articles of
incorporation. In 2019, the 30% interest in CTI of the Parent Company was classified as an
investment in associate. CTI is primarily involved in information technology service management.
Pro-Excel
On December 26, 2019, CPI and FCI, wholly owned subsidiaries of the Parent, entered into a Deed of
Assignment to sell ownership in Pro-Excel to FAI. The sale resulted to a loss of control in Pro-Excel
and deconsolidation by the Group. As of December 31, 2019, the remaining ownership of the Parent
Company in Pro-Excel is 33%. No significant transaction transpired between the date of sale and
reporting date resulting in no share in net earnings of Pro-Excel for the year ended December 31,
2019. Pro-Excel is engaged in the business of administration, maintenance and management of real
estate development, controlled development projects and subdivision projects.
FAI
FAI was incorporated on August 25, 1993 and started commercial operations in October 1995. FLI
has a 20% equity interest in FAI. FAI’s current project is the master-planned development of
Filinvest City, a 244-hectare premier satellite city development project which has been designed using
modern and state of the art, ecological, urban planning with a mixed-use integrated development with
office, retail, residential, institutional, leisure and hospitality projects in southern Metro Manila.
Located at the southern end of Metro Manila and adjacent to the South Expressway, Filinvest City is
approximately 16 kilometers south of Makati, the central business district in Manila and 10 kilometers
from the Ninoy Aquino International Airport. Filinvest City is surrounded by over 2,800 hectares of
developed high-end and middle-income residential subdivisions and commercial developments. The
said project is under a joint venture agreement with the Government.
FMI
FMI was incorporated on March 31, 2016 and started commercial operations in June 2016. FLI has a
47.5% equity interest in FMI. FMI entered into a long-term lease of the Mimosa Leisure Estate after
it bagged the rights to lease, develop and operate the 202 hectare estate development. FMI subleases
to FCMI the development of residential, office, retail and co-living leasing segments of the Estate
while another affiliate MCI, sub-leases the leisure, hospitality segments of the estate.
DPI
DPI was incorporated on January 11, 2017 to engage in and carry on a general construction business.
DPI started its commercial operations in February 2017. DPI was deconsolidated from the Group and
became associate effective December 17, 2020
1.5. Business Groups, Product Categories, Target Markets and Revenue Contribution
FLI is now composed of two business segments with corresponding product categories, target markets
and revenue contributions as follows:
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1.5.1 Real Estate Sales Segment
FLI’s main real estate activity since it started operations has been the development and sale of
residential property, primarily housing units and subdivision lots; in certain cases, provision of
financing for unit sales.
Residential Projects
FLI is able to tap the entire residential market spectrum with the following range of housing units
catering to various income segments:
•

Socialized housing: These developments are marketed and sold under FLI’s Pabahay brand and
consist of projects where lots typically sell for P
=160,000 or less per lot and housing units
typically sell for P
=580,000 or less per unit. Buyers for these projects are eligible to obtain
financing from the Government-mandated PAGIBIG Fund. Maximum sale prices for the
Company’s specialized housing products do not exceed the Government-mandated ceiling of
=580,000 per unit. Any income realized from the development and improvement of socialized
P
housing sites are exempt from taxation.

•

Affordable housing: These developments are marketed and sold under FLI’s Futura Homes
brand and consist of projects where lots are typically sold at prices ranging from above
=160,000 to P
P
=750,000 and housing units from above P
=580,000 to P
=1,700,000. FLI designs and
constructs homes in this sector with the capacity and structural strength to give the owner the
option to place an additional storey, which can double the available floor area. Affordable
housing projects are typically located in provinces bordering Metro Manila, including Bulacan,
Laguna, Batangas and Cavite, and in key regional cities and provinces such as Tarlac, Cebu,
Davao, Palawan, Bacolod and Koronadal. Construction of a house in this sector is usually
completed approximately six months from the completion of the required down payment.

•

Middle-income housing: These developments are marketed and sold under FLI’s Aspire brand
and consist of projects where lots are typically sold at prices ranging from above
=750,000 to P
P
=1,200,000 and housing units from above P
=1,500,000 to P
=4,000,000. Middleincome projects are typically located within Metro Manila, nearby provinces such as Rizal,
Cavite, Pampanga and Laguna, and major regional urban centers in Cebu, Davao, and
Zamboanga.

•

High-end housing: Marketed under Filinvest Prestige brand, these developments consist of
projects where lots are sold at prices above P
=1,200,000 and housing units for above P
=4,000,000.
FLI’s high-end projects are located both within Metro Manila and in areas immediately outside
Metro Manila.

Other Real Estate Projects
In order to achieve product and revenue diversification, FLI has added the following projects so as to
cater to other market niches:
a. Townships
Townships are master-planned communities to include areas reserved for the construction of anchor
facilities and amenities. FLI believes that these facilities and amenities will help attract buyers to the
project and will serve as the nexus for the township’s community. Anchor developments could
include schools, hospitals, churches, commercial centers, police stations, health centers and some
other government offices
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Filinvest at New Clark City
This 288-hectare property will be transformed into a vibrant mixed-use master planned metropolis
that is in harmony with its natural setting. The BCDA, FLI’s partner in the development, has
completed the construction of the SCTEX-NCC Road and is now completing the Airport-NCC Road
that will directly connect the project to the Clark Freeport Zone. New Clark City will be built around
four pillars: world center, multi-gen metropolis, eco-efficient capital and strategic base – the cohesive
foundation of a globally-competitive city. It will be shaped around the existing terrain, with
meandering waterways and a Loop Park to connect its various pedestrian-friendly districts. Green
path walks, bike lanes, e-transport systems and other innovative features are expected to set the
benchmark for this pioneering development in the Philippines. The development will have 100
hectares of industrial park area, over 100 hectares of mixed-use commercial office, retail and
residential developments, all interspersed with over 80 hectares of greens and open spaces.
Filinvest Mimosa+ Leisure City
As the winning bidder in the privatization of the Mimosa estate in Pampanga, Filinvest is currently
developing the 201-hectare property under Filinvest Mimosa, Inc., a new company formed by the
consortium of FLI and FDC. FLI will handle the retail, office and residential components through its
subsidiary FCMI, while FDC will undertake the hospitality, leisure and gaming segments, through its
subsidiary FCMI. Envisioned to be a top-of-mind, year-round business and leisure destination, the
sprawling Filinvest Mimosa+ Leisure City is being transformed into a vibrant and green central
township that is home to various industries such as BPO, hospitality, retail, real estate, golf and
gaming. Its location in Clark Freeport Zone allows FLI to take advantage of the growing interest of
tourists and investors in the progressing Clark City. In addition to the renowned golf course, its
components include a lifestyle and retail strip, a pavilion and grounds for events and an office campus
called Workplus. This business hub will be composed of eight mid-rise buildings with fiber-optic
facilities, podium parking and ground retail area. Also part of the design is a lovely promenade that
will connect all buildings and serve as a place for employees to enjoy the serene outdoor environment
of Mimosa. To complement the business and commercial district, the Quest Hotel and Conference
Center Clark will be joined by a residential area of mid- to high-rise buildings for investment or enduse. The existing green resort environment will be further enhanced with parks, walking paths and
bike trails to encourage wellness through nature and outdoor activities
Ciudad de Calamba
Ciudad de Calamba is a 350-hectare development located in Calamba, Laguna. This township project
is anchored by the Filinvest Technology Park-Calamba which is a PEZA-registered special economic
zone. Ciudad de Calamba provides both industrial-size lots and ready-built factories to domestic and
foreign enterprises engaged in light to medium non-polluting industries. FLI also donated to the city
government of Calamba a parcel of land located within the Ciudad de Calamba, which will be used
for a city health center and police station. The Parent Company also intends to develop the Ciudad de
Calamba Commercial Center as part of this township project.
Havila
Havila, or formerly, Filinvest East County is a 335-hectare township along the eastern edge of Metro
Manila, which traverses the municipalities of Taytay, Antipolo and Angono. It is anchored by two
educational institutions: San Beda College – Rizal and the Rosehill School. The master plan for
Havila provides for a mix of affordable, middle-income and high-end subdivisions on rolling terrain
overlooking Metro Manila at an elevation of 200 meters above sea level.
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Timberland Heights
Timberland Heights is a 677-hectare township project anchored by the Timberland Sports and Nature
Club. It is located in the municipality of San Mateo, which is just across the Marikina river from
Quezon City, and has been designed to provide residents with leisure facilities and resort amenities
while being located near malls, hospitals and educational institutions located in Quezon City.
City di Mare
Inspired by the world’s best-loved coastal cities, City di Mare, or “City by the Sea”, spans across
50.6 hectares at Cebu’s South Road Properties.
It is a master-planned development composed of different zones catering to a wide array of lifestyles
and activities - Il Corso, the 10.6-hectare waterfront lifestyle strip; the 40-hectare residential clusters;
and The Piazza, nestled at the heart of the residential enclaves puts lifestyle essentials such as school,
church, shops, and restaurants within the neighborhood. City di Mare is envisioned to be a destination
in itself, takes full advantage of the coastal ambience featuring seaside shopping, dining, beach and
water sports and more, right by the water’s edge.
The 10.6-hectare retail development known as Il Corso shall have a gross leasable area of
approximately 32,000 square meters. City di Mare has four resort-themed residential enclaves
inspired by world-class resorts, with each 10-hectare development flaunting a distinct architectural
character. With over 65% of the property allocated for wide, open areas and landscaped greens, City
di Mare provides the generous amenity of breathing space and a refreshing dose of nature throughout
the site. Residences are spread out over the sprawling development, maximizing the abundant sunlight
and allowing the invigorating sea air to circulate freely.
b. Leisure projects
FLI’s leisure projects consist of its residential farm estate developments and residential resort
development.
1. Residential farm estates
FLI’s residential farm estate projects serve as alternative primary homes near Metro Manila to
customers, such as retirees and farming enthusiasts. Customers can purchase lots (with a minimum
lot size of 750 square meters) on which they are allowed to build a residential unit (using up to 25.0%
of the total lot area). The remaining lot area can be used for small-scale farm development, such as
fish farming or vegetable farming. Residential farm estates are sold on a lot-only basis, with buyers
being responsible for the construction of residential units on their lots. To help attract buyers, FLI
personnel are available on site to provide buyers with technical advice on farming as well as to
maintain demonstration farms.
At present, FLI has three residential farm estates:
•

Nusa Dua Farm Estate (“Nusa Dua”) located in Cavite province just south of Metro Manila.
The amenities at the Nusa Dua development include a two-storey clubhouse and a 370 square
meter swimming pool.

•

Mandala Residential Farm Estate (“Mandala”) located in Rizal province as part of the FLI’s
Timberland Heights township project. It offers hobby farmers generous lot cuts and Asianinspired homes that complement the mountain lifestyle.

•

Forest Farms Residential Farm Estate (“Forest Farms”) located in Rizal province as part of
Company’s Havila township project. It is an exclusive mountain retreat and nature park, nestled
between the hills of Antipolo and forested area of Angono.
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2. Residential resort development
Kembali Coast on Samal Island, Davao is a beachfront residential resort development. This 50-hectare
Asian-Balinese inspired island getaway offers low-density exclusivity and comes with a 1.8 km beach
line that offers unobstructed view of the sea.
Laeuna de Taal (“Laeuna”) is located in Talisay Batangas with a view of the Taal lake and a lakeside
residential community, about a ten-minute drive from the popular tourist destination of Tagaytay.
Laeuna is an Asian Tropical-inspired community which offers three (3) residential enclaves (Arista,
Bahia and Orilla) with a range of property choices for every family. Located on the water front is the
Lake Club, a lakeside amenity designed for wellness, recreation and celebration.
c. Medium Rise Buildings
Medium Rise Buildings (MRB) projects are five-storey to ten-storey buildings clustered around a
central amenity area. The buildings occupy 30% to 35% of the land area, providing a lot of open
spaces. FLI currently has the following MRB projects:
Project Name
Metro Manila/ Luzon
Asiana Oasis
Bali Oasis
Bali Oasis 2
Capri Oasis
Fora
Fortune Hill
Futura East
Maui Oasis
One Oasis Ortigas
One Spatial
Panglao Oasis
Sorrento Oasis
The Signature
Verde Spatial
Alta Spatial
Centro Spatial
Belize Oasis
Visayas
Amalfi Oasis
Marina Spatial
One Oasis Cebu
One Spatial Iloilo
San Remo Oasis
Umi Garden
Mindanao
Centro Spatial
Eight Spatial
One Oasis Cagayan de Oro
One Oasis Davao
Veranda Resort Condos
Maldives Aspire
Futura Vinta

Location
Paranaque City
Pasig City
Pasig City
Pasig City
Tagaytay
San Juan City
Cainta, Rizal
Sta. Mesa, Manila
Pasig City
Pasig City
Taguig
Pasig City
Balintawak, Quezon City
Quezon City
Valenzuela City
Manila
Muntinlupa
City di Mare, Cebu
Dumaguete
Mabolo, Cebu City
Iloilo
City di Mare, Cebu
City di Mare, Cebu
Davao City
Maa, Davao
Cagayan de Oro
Davao City
Davao
Davao
Zamboanga

d. High Rise Buildings
The Linear
The Linear, a master-planned residential and commercial hub in Makati City. Two-L-shaped towers,
each 24-storeys high, comprise this dynamic condominium community that perfectly caters to the
needs of young urban professionals.
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Studio City
Studio City is a community composed of five-tower residential condominium complex within the
Filinvest City to serve the demand for housing of the growing number of professionals working within
Filinvest City and in the nearby Madrigal Business Park.
Since it is located within the Filinvest City, residents will enjoy proximity to Festival Supermall,
Westgate Center, Northgate Cyberzone, Asian Hospital and Medical Center, and other commercial,
educational and medical institutions. The development consists of 18-storeys per building with
commercial units at the ground floor. All residential floors will have 25 studio units per floor. Studio
Tower 5 is under construction.
The Levels
Located at one of the highest points of Filinvest City at around 23 meters above sea level, The Levels
is a one-block, four-tower residential condominium development that features laidback suburban
living inside a fast-paced business district. The residential development is set in a tropical landscape,
with four towers uniquely designed with terracing levels, giving it a castle-effect look. The high-rise
sections will be set in lush greenery, providing residents with views of the gardens. The second tower
has just been launched.
Vinia Residences
Vinia is a 25-storey condominium development located along EDSA in Quezon City, right across
TriNoma and just steps away from the MRT-North Avenue station. With its coveted location, it
offers a world of ease and convenience to yuppies and families looking for quality homes, as well as
budding entrepreneurs who want to start a home-based business at the heart of the city.
Studio Zen
Studio Zen is a 21-storey condominium development located along Taft Avenue in Metro Manila.
Student-oriented amenities, Zen-inspired features, and functional building facilities makes it an ideal
residence for students living independently and a great investment opportunity for entrepreneurs who
want to take advantage of the ready rental market in the area.
Studio A
Studio A is a single tower 34-storey hi-rise residential condominium located in Loyola Heights in
Quezon City. A community conveniently situated near premier universities, the LRT 2 line and other
commercial establishments.
100 West
100 West is a single tower 38-storey high-rise commercial and residential condominium with office
spaces located in Gen. Gil Puyat Avenue corner Washington St. in Makati City. 100 West is in the
Makati Business District and accessible to both north and south of Metro Manila.
Studio 7
Studio 7 is a mixed-use development that will have office and residential towers complemented with
retail outlets, located in Quezon City along EDSA very close to the GMA-Kamuning MRT station.
Studio 7 will have studios as well as one-bedroom residential units.
Activa
Activa is a mixed use development with residential, office, retail and hotel components.
It is entrenched in the heart of Quezon City's busiest and liveliest district, Cubao. Situated at the
crossroads of two of the metro's most vital thoroughfares. Activa connects to the north and south via
EDSA, and to the east and west via Aurora Boulevard. It also has direct access to the MRT and LRT
lines, and accessible by various modes of transportation like buses and jeepneys.
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Analysis of Real Estate Sales
The table below shows a comparative breakdown of FLI’s journalized real estate sales by product
categories for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2020 (in Thousands).
Years ended December 31
Category

2020
Amount

Residential Lots and
House & Lot Packages
Socialized
Affordable
Middle Income
High-end & Others
Industrial Lots
Residential Farm Lots
Leisure
Total

P
=102,308
2,630,267
6,043,733
771,538
5,905
246,310
37,061
P
=9,837,122

2019
% to total

1.04%
26.74%
61.44%
7.84%
0.06%
2.50%
0.38%
100.00%

Amount

=345,195
P
5,415,691
9,432,647
1,477,759
−
278,006
63,822
=17,013,120
P

% to total

2.03%
31.83%
55.44%
8.69%
0%
1.63%
0.38%
100.00%

Analysis of Cost of Sales
The table below shows a comparative breakdown of FLI’s journalized cost of sales into various
categories for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 (in thousands):
Land acquisition cost
Land development and construction cost

2020
P
=839,222
4,747,612
P
=5,586,834

2019
P
=2,491,305
7,362,566
P
=9,853,871

2018
=1,926,515
P
6,412,693
=8,339,208
P

1.5.2. Leasing Segment
FLI’s investment properties are categorized as retail and office segments.
Commercial Retail Leasing Properties
Festival Mall Alabang
The landmark project, Festival Supermall, carries on its position as the prime destination for
recreation and retail in southern Metro Manila. With more ‘firsts’ on its offerings and a better
shopping ambiance, the mall has elevated the retail experience in the south. It is one of the country’s
largest shopping malls with more than 1,000 shops.
Major improvements have been undertaken and continue to be undertaken for the existing mall and its
facilities. New interiors give the mall a refreshed look and modern ambiance, complementing the
recently completed 46,000 sq.m. expansion wing. Decathlon, a French sporting goods retailer, opened
a 5,000 sq.m. store in the original mall. New lifestyle and food tenants continue to open in the
expansion wing. French sports retail giant, Go Sport, opened its first ever store in Southeast Asia in
the expansion with an area close to 1,000 sq.m.
The introduction of new and unique food establishments has made Festival a gastronomic destination
ushering in new traffic and strengthening its appeal to its core target market. The Water Garden, a
new distinctly refreshing outdoor amenity and convergence zone in the expansion wing, continues to
be favorite among mall patrons. Uniqlo opened its first ever roadside store in the country in Westgate,
Festival’s affiliated lifestyle development in Filinvest City.
Fora Mall
Conveniently located right by Tagaytay Rotunda is Fora Mall, the first regional mall in the area. This
prime retail destination provides about 26,000 sq. m of leasable space amidst nature, open spaces, and
a beautifully-landscaped amphitheater. It primarily serves the local market and Tagaytay bound

12

tourists. A number of local and popular food concepts, along with national brands, have opened in the
mall. Super Metro, a 24-hour hypermarket, serves as its anchor. Other notable shops include Ace
Hardware, Power Mac, Own Days, Anello and La Sedia. The mall also has four (4) digital cinemas
which have become the go to place for Tagaytay City and surrounding towns for recreation.
Main Square
With a smaller format of over 18,000 sq. m leasable area, Main Square is the first and only mall along
Bacoor Blvd, close to Bacoor City Hall and fronting Princeton Heights. Positioned as the reliable onestop hub for neighboring gated villages of Bacoor, it provides basic shopping, wellness, service and
convenience offerings from partner brands such as Anytime Fitness, Watson’s, Ace Hardware,
Western Appliances, Japan Home, and DIY. The mall’s anchor for this development is Robinsons
Supermarket, which has become the most convenient essentials shopping option in the area.
Il Corso
Il Corso is a retail development with an estimated 34,000 sq. m of leasable area in the City di Mare
estate development of Filinvest in the South Reclamation Area of Cebu City. It’s opened restaurants
facing the sea have become destinations in the southern edge of Cebu City. The cinema has also
opened. A 10,000 sq.m. portion of the mall is being reconfigured to accommodate Business Process
Outsourcing Companies.

Commercial Office Properties
As of December 31, 2020, the Group owns commercial office spaces for lease to several BPO and
other office locators. Primarily, they are located in Northgate Cyberzone in Filinvest City, Alabang,
Muntinlupa. Northgate is an 18-hectare PEZA zone that enjoys developer incentives. Among the
Group’s portfolio is the PBCom tower where FLI owns 60.0% through FAC, which owns 50.0% of
the 52-storey PBCom Tower in the Makati CBD. PBCom Tower is a Grade A-PEZA-registered,
IT/office building on Ayala Avenue, Makati City with a GLA of 35,148 sq.m.
The Group also owns several completed office developments, in Bay City, Pasay, EDSA near Ortigas
MRT station, Clark Mimosa and Cebu IT Park. A summary of the GLA is set forth below:

Location

Northgate Cyberzone, Filinvest City
Metro Manila outside of Filinvest City
Outside Metro Manila
Total

Number of Buildings

19
7
5
31

GLA
(sq.m.)

334,912
116,070
72,922
523,904

The office buildings of Filinvest are mainly located in business parks or in mixed-used complexes
highly accessible to public transport. The Group believes its business park model, wherein the Group
builds on areas specifically suited for business and industrial establishments supported, in certain
cases, by incentives from the Government, gives it a competitive advantage as business parks are the
preferred site of major BPO tenants. Being located in a major business park allow the tenants
assurance of expansion options within close proximity thereby giving the Group an advantage over
stand-alone developments.
•

Northgate Cyberzone, an 18-hectare, PEZA-registered IT park located in Filinvest City in
Alabang. The office buildings of the Group sit within the 10-hectare parcel of land in the
Northgate district owned by FLI.

•

Mimosa Workplus, an office village that is comprised of eight buildings set amidst the lush
natural environment of the Filinvest Mimosa+ Leisure City.
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•

Cyberzone Cebu and Filinvest IT Park are two distinct developments on two separate BuildTransfer-Operate (BTO) arrangements with the Cebu Province. The two parcels of land totaling
2.9 hectares are in close proximity to the city center located along Banilad and Salinas Avenue in
Cebu. Together these comprise 7 office towers, a mall and a hotel development. The office and
mall portions are pre-certified LEED Gold rating.

•

Filinvest Cyberzone Bay City, a 4-tower office complex in the bustling section of the Bay Area.
Its four towers are already completed and operating, and fully leased by POGOs. The complex is
also certified LEED Silver rating.

•

100 West is part of a mixed used building in the Makati Central Business District. Office space
allocated is approximately 14,333 sq. m.

Ongoing Construction
•

Activa is a 1.37 hectare mixed use development at the corner of EDSA and Aurora Boulevard and
lies in close proximity to the Cubao LRT and Cubao MRT Stations. The development will have
the following: BPO office tower, a traditional office tower, residential tower, hotel and a retail
mall. The designs for the BPO office and mall portions are pre-certified with LEED Gold rating.

•

Studio 7 is a two (2)-tower mixed-use complex comprising of residential and office buildings on a
retail and parking podium. Located along major thoroughfare EDSA in Quezon City, it is
strategically located close to the GMA Kamuning Metro Rail Transit 3 Station and is a precertified LEED Silver rating.

The Group will continue to carry out an intensive marketing campaign so to maintain high occupancy
rates in its investment properties to maximize leasing revenues.
The table below shows a breakdown of FLI’s recorded gross leasing related revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (amounts in Thousands of Pesos, except percentages).
Years ended December 31
2020
Office

Amount

% to total

Amount

% to total

P
=5,558,845

87.04%

=5,170,892
P

64.30%

827,374

12.96%

1,837,850

35.70%

P
=6,386,219

100.00%

=7,008,742
P

100.00%

Retail/Commercial
Total

2019

1.6. Marketing and Sales
1.6.1 Real Estate Sales Segment
FLI develops customer awareness through marketing and promotion efforts and referrals from
satisfied customers. The Parent Company has a real estate marketing team, a network of sales offices
located in the Philippines and tie-ups with independent brokers/marketing partners in other countries
such as Europe, Hongkong, the Middle East, Japan, and Singapore. FLI’s marketing personnel,
together with in-house sales agents and accredited agents, gather demographic and market information
to help assess the feasibility of new developments and to assist in future marketing efforts for such
developments.
FLI conducts advertising and promotional campaigns principally through print and broadcast media,
including billboards, fliers, and brochures designed specifically for the target market. Advertising and
promotional campaigns are conceptualized and conducted by FLI’s marketing personnel and by thirdparty advertising companies. These campaigns are complemented with additional advertising efforts,
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including booths at shopping centers, such as Festival Supermall, and other high traffic areas, to
promote open houses and other events.
FLI also believes that the OFW population, as well as expatriate Filipinos, constitute a significant
portion of the demand for affordable and middle-income housing either directly or indirectly by
remitting funds to family members in the Philippines to purchase property. To this end, the Parent
Company has appointed and accredited independent brokers in countries and regions with large
concentrations of OFWs and expatriate Filipinos, such as Italy, Japan, Singapore, Hongkong, the
United Kingdom and the Middle East. These brokers act as the Parent Company’s marketing and
promotion agents in these territories to promote the Parent Company and its products. The Parent
Company also sponsors road shows in countries to promote its projects, targeting potential buyers,
especially the OFW and Filipino expatriate markets. FLI also markets its properties using the Internet
or via Digital marketing platforms.
Sales for FLI’s housing and land development projects are made through both in-house sales agents
and independent brokers. Both FLI’s in-house sales agents and independent brokers are compensated
through commissions on sales. In-house sales agents also receive a monthly allowance and are
provided administrative support by FLI, including office space and expense allowances.
In addition to in-house sales agents and independent brokers, FLI also employs representatives who
staff its sales offices and provide customers with information about FLI’s products, including
financing and technical development characteristics. FLI also assigns each project a sales and
operations coordinator who will provide customers with assistance from the moment they make their
sales reservation, during the process of obtaining financing, and through the steps of establishing title
on their new home. FLI also has personnel who can advise customers on financing options, collecting
necessary documentation and applying for a loan. FLI also helps design down payment plans for its
low-cost housing customers that are tailored to each customer’s economic situation. Further, once a
house is sold and delivered, FLI has customer service personnel who are available to respond to
technical questions or problems that may occur after delivery of the property.

1.6.2 Leasing Segment
Various professional, multinational commercial real estate leasing agents (including, but not limited
to Jones Lang LaSalle, Santos Knight Frank and Colliers) are accredited to find tenants for its office
space. These brokers work on a non-exclusive basis and earn commissions based on the term of the
lease.
FLI also maintains, through its subsidiaries, an in-house leasing team to do marketing and
administration of its office & commercial spaces.

1.7. Customer Financing for Real Estate Projects
The ability of customers to obtain financing for purchases of subdivision lots or housing units is a
critical element in the success of FLI’s housing and land development business. Customer financing is
particularly important in relation to sales of FLI’s socialized housing projects, where most prospective
buyers require financing for up to 100% of the purchase price. FLI therefore assists qualified
homebuyers in obtaining mortgage financing from government-sponsored mortgage lenders,
particularly for its socialized housing projects, and from commercial banks. FLI also provides a
significant amount of in-house financing to qualified buyers.
In-house financing
FLI offers in-house financing to buyers who chose not to avail of Government or bank financing. FLI
typically finances 80% of the total purchase price, which is secured primarily by a first mortgage over
the property sold. The loans are then repaid through equal monthly installments over periods mostly
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from 5 to 10 years. The interest rates charged by FLI for in-house financing typically range from
11.5% per annum to 19.0% per annum, depending on the term of the loan.
PAG-IBIG Fund
A substantial number of buyers of the Parent Company’s socialized housing units finance their
purchases through the Home Development Mutual Fund, or PAGIBIG Fund. To provide a liquidity
mechanism to private developers, the PAGIBIG Fund has instituted a take-out mechanism for
conditional sales, installment contract receivables and mortgages and repurchases of receivables from
housing loans of its members.
Mortgage loans
Mortgage loans from commercial banks are usually available to individuals who meet the credit risk
criteria set by each bank and who are able to comply with each bank’s documentary requirements. In
addition to taking security over the property, a bank may also seek repayment guarantees from the
Philippine Guarantee Corporation (PhilGuarantee). To assist prospective buyers, obtain mortgage
financing from commercial banks, FLI also has arrangements with several banks to assist qualified
customers to obtain financing for housing unit purchases.
Deferred cash purchases
In addition to the aforementioned financing arrangements, FLI has offered so-called “deferred cash”
purchases, particularly for its high-end and leisure developments. Under this arrangement, the entire
purchase price is amortized in equal installments over a fixed period, which is typically 24 months.
Title to the property passes to the buyer only when the contract price is paid in full or when the buyer
executes a real estate mortgage in favor of the Parent Company which can be annotated on the title to
the property.

1.8. Real Estate Development
FLI’s real estate development activities principally include the purchase of undeveloped land or
entering into joint venture agreements covering undeveloped land, the development of such land into
residential subdivisions or other types of development projects, the sale of lots, the construction and
sale of housing units and the provision of financing for some sales.
The development and construction work is contracted out to a number of qualified independent
contractors on the basis of either competitive bidding or the experience FLI had with a contractor on
prior project. FLI weighs each contractor’s experience, financial capability, resources and track
record of adhering to quality, cost and time of completion commitments.
FLI maintains relationships with over 100 independent contractors and deals with them on an arm’s
length basis.
FLI does not enter into long-term arrangements with contractors. Construction contracts typically
cover the provision of contractor’s services in relation to a particular project or phase of a project.
Progress payments are made to contractors during the course of a project development upon the
accomplishment of pre-determined project performance milestones. Generally, FLI retains 10% of
each progress payment in the form of a guarantee bond or cash retention for up to one year from the
date the contracted work is completed and accepted by FLI to meet contingency costs.
FLI is not and does not expect to be dependent upon one or a limited number of suppliers or
contractors. Its agreements with its contractors are in the nature of supply of labor and materials for
the development and/or construction of its various real estate projects.
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1.9. Competition
1.9.1. Real Estate Sales Segment
Real estate development and selling is very competitive. FLI believes it is strongly positioned in the
affordable to middle-income residential market segments. Success in these market segments depends
on acquiring well-located land at attractive prices often in anticipation of the direction of urban
growth.
The Parent Company believes that the name and reputation it has built in the Philippine property
market contributes to its competitive edge over the other market players. On the basis of publicly
available information and its own market knowledge, FLI’s management believes that it is among the
leading housing and land / project developers in the Philippines. FLI’s management also believes that
FLI is able to offer competitive commissions and incentives for brokers, and that FLI is able to
compete on the basis of the pricing of its products, offering a wider range of product types for
different market sectors. Its brand name and its track record of successfully completing quality
projects also give credibility to our products.
FLI directly competes with other major real estate companies positioned either as a full range
developer or with subsidiary companies focused on a specific market segment and geographic
coverage. Its direct competitors include Ayala Land Inc., Vista Land, Robinsons Land, SMPHI and
DMCI Homes.
The Parent Company faces significant competition in the Philippine property development market
including land acquisition. This is particularly true for land located in Metro Manila and its
surrounding areas, as well as in urbanized areas throughout the Philippines.
FLI’s continued growth also depends in large part on its ability either to acquire quality land at
attractive prices or to enter into joint venture agreements with land-owning partners under terms that
can yield reasonable returns. Based on the Parent Company’s current development plans, the Parent
Company believes that it has sufficient land reserves for property developments for the next several
years. If the Philippine economy continues to grow and if demand for residential properties remains
relatively strong, the Parent Company expects that competition among developers for land reserves
that are suitable for property development (whether through acquisitions or joint venture agreements)
will intensify and that land acquisition costs, and its cost of sales, will increase as a result.
1.9.2. Leasing Segment
With regard to the Parent Company’s assets dedicated to office space leasing and shopping mall
operations, the Parent Company competes with property companies such as Ayala Land Inc.,
Robinsons Land Corp. and SM Prime Holdings in retail space leasing. In office space leasing,
particularly to call centers and other BPO operators, the Parent Company competes with companies
such as Robinsons Land, Inc., Ayala Land, Inc., Eton Corporation, SM Prime, and Megaworld
Corporation.

1.10. Related-Party Transactions
The Parent Company is a member of the Filinvest Group. The Parent Company and its subsidiaries, in
their ordinary course of business, engage in transactions with FDC and its subsidiaries. The Parent
Company’s policy with respect to related-party transactions is to ensure that these transactions are
entered into on terms comparable to those available from unrelated third parties.
Significant related party transactions for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows:
a. Transactions with bank under common control of the ultimate parent (EWBC)
On 03 January 2012, the Group entered into a Receivable Purchase Agreement with EWBC, an

17

entity under common control of the ultimate parent. The Group agreed to sell, assign, transfer and
convey to EWBC all of its rights, titles and interest on certain contracts receivables. The contracts
receivables sold to EWBC will be serviced by the Group under an Accounts Servicing
Agreement.
Under this agreement, the Group shall be responsible for the monitoring and collection of
contracts receivables sold to EWBC, including safekeeping of the collections in trust until these
are remitted to EWBC, ten (10) days after the beginning of each month.
For the performance of the said services, the Group charges EWBC a service fee equivalent to a
certain percentage of amounts actually received and collected. Although the Group retains the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from the contracts receivables sold to EWBC, this will be
subsequently distributed to EWBC under a “pass-through arrangement”.
In this transaction, the risk of default and non-payment of buyers of contracts receivable is
assumed by EWBC and the Group has no liability to EWBC for such events. Due to this, the
Group derecognized the contracts receivables sold and did not recognize any liability in its
consolidated financial statements.
The Group’s plan assets in the form of cash equivalents amounting to P
=38.29 million and
=70.86 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are maintained with EWBC. The
P
Group also maintains cash and cash equivalents with EWBC.
On September 20, 2018, FLI acquired a lot from a third party seller. Total consideration is
payable on installment basis until 2022 (presented as “Accounts payable and accrued expenses” in
the Audited Financial Statements). On September 21, 2018, the third party seller entered into a
Receivable Purchase Agreement with EWBC for the purchase of the remaining amounts
receivable from FLI amounting to P
=3.79 billion, on a without recourse basis. The amounts
receivable from FLI was sold to EWBC for a total consideration of P
=3.13 billion.
As of December 31, 2020, the amounts payable to Seller (effectively to EWBC) related to the
above purchase of land amounted to P
=2.33 billion and is presented as part of accounts payable and
accrued expenses in the statement of financial position.
b. Transactions with Ultimate Parent (ALG)
Transactions with the Group’s ultimate parent company relates to sharing of common expenses.
c. Transactions with Parent Company (FDC)
The Parent Company charged FDC certain common expenses paid by the Parent Company on its
behalf.
In 2020, certain employees of FLI were transferred to FDC. The related retirement benefits of
these employees amounting to P
=12.07 million as of December 31, 2020 was also transferred with
a corresponding payable to the FDC.
In 2009, Promax was appointed by FDC as the marketing agent to act for and on behalf of FDC in
promoting the marketing and sale of the Beaufort project. Accordingly, FDC pays Promax a
marketing fee equivalent to a certain percentage of the net selling price.
d. Transactions with an Associates
Filinvest Alabang, Inc (FAI)
‘Due from Associate’ include noninterest-bearing cash advances and various charges for
management fees, marketing fees, share of expenses and commission charges. The account also
includes dividend receivable amounting to nil and P
=404.00 million as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, declared by FAI both years 2020 and 2019 (see Note 12).
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Pro-excel
Transactions from Pro-Excel relates to sharing of common expenses and management fee for
managing the buildings of FLI.
DPI
Transactions from DreamBuilders Pro, Inc. relates to sharing of common expenses and
noninterest-bearing cash advances
FMI
Transactions with Filinvest Mimosa Inc. relates to sharing of common expenses.
CTI
Transactions with Corporate Technologies, Inc. relates to sharing of common expenses and
service fee for information and technology services.
e. Transactions with Affiliates
Transactions with affiliate relates to sharing of common expenses paid by the Parent Company on
their behalf.
CPI enterted into a service agreement with FDC Retail Electricity Sales whereby CPI shall engage
and pay the services rendered by the latter to provide the electricity requirements of its facilities.
CPI also entered into a service agreement with Professional Operations Maintenance Experts
Incorporated. whereby CPI shall engage and pay the services rendered by the latter to operate and
maintain its equipment and premises.
CPI also entered into a service agreement with its affiliate, Parking Pro, Inc., to operate and
maintain the CPI’s parking facilities.
f.

The compensation of key management personnel consists of short-term employee salaries and
benefits amounting to P
=28.08 million, P
=34.17 million and P
=32.83 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. Post-employment benefits of key management personnel amounted to
=18.77 million, P
P
=22.41 million and P
=21.00 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

g. Leases with related parties - Group as lessee
The Group has several land lease transactions with related parties:
1. Mall lease with FAI
The Parent Company, as lessee, entered into a lease agreement with FAI on a portion of the
land area occupied by the Festival Supermall and its Expansion. The lease term will expire
on September 30, 2056.
2. Land lease with FAI
The Parent Company, as lessee, entered into a lease agreement with FAI for a portion of land
area occupied by a third party lessee. . The lease term will expire on December 31, 2034.
3. FCMI lease with FMI
FCMI, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Parent Company, subleases the Mimosa Leisure
Estate from FMI, an associate of the Parent Company. The original lessor is Clark
Development Corporation. The lease term is 50 years, renewable by another 25 years upon
mutual agreement by parties.
4. PDDC lease with FAI
PDDC, a 60% owned subsidiary of the Parent Company, leases Block 50 Lot 3-B-2,
Northgate District from FAI. The lease term is twenty (20) years from the date on which the
Chilled Water production plants starts supplying chilled water.
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the amount included in lease liabilities payable to related parties
is P
=5,566.3 million and P
=5,293.5 million, respectively (see Note 15).
1.11. Intellectual Property
The “Filinvest” trademark was registered with the Intellectual Property Office (“IPO”) on September
15, 2011. “Filinvest” is the brand FLI uses and by which it is known to the public.
Below are FLI service marks registered with the IPO:
Trademark
One Oasis
One Oasis Ortigas
We Build the Filipino Dream (Slogan)
The Linear Makati & Design
Filinvest (New Logo)
Studio A
The Signature
Fortune Hill
Fora Rotunda Tagaytay
The Leaf
Vinia
Citi di Mare
One Binondo
I-Go
Bali Oasis
Bali Oasis 2
Citi di Mare (Logo and Tagline)
Kembali
One Spatial
Serulyan Mactan
Capri Oasis
Timberland Heights (Horizontal
Orientation) Heights (Stacked
Timberland
Orientation)
Kembali (Reversed Logo)
The Glades
100 West
Activa
The Veranda
Studio 7
Umi Garden Suites
The Enclave Alabang
Filinvest (Reversed Logo)
Filinvest Premiere
Futura
The Ranch
The Prominence
Aldea Real
Filinvest Technology Park
La Brisa Townhomes
Montebello
Punta Altezza
Springfield View
The Glens

Date Of
Registration
10 Dec 2009
10 Dec 2009
10 Dec 2009
12 Aug 2010
15 Sep 2011
20 Dec 2012
17 Apr 2014
22 May 2014
14 Aug 2014
20 Nov 2014
20 Nov 2014
25 Dec 2014
12 Feb 2015
20 Feb 2015
26 Feb 2015
26 Feb 2015
26 Feb 2015
26 Feb 2015
26 Feb 2015
26 Feb 2015
05 Mar 2015
14 May 2015
14 May 2015
25 Jun 2015
09 Jul 2015
23 Jul 2015
13 Aug 2015
27 Aug 2015
12 Nov 2015
11 Feb 2016
11 Feb 2016
24 Mar 2016
24 Mar 2016
24 Mar 2016
12 May 2016
26 May 2016
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016

Trademark
Maui Oasis
Ashton Fields
Sandia Homes
Valle Alegre
Valle Dulce
Havila
Princeton Heights
Asenso Village
Hampton Orchards
Tierra Vista
Blue Isle
Palmridge
Cyberzone Properties, Inc.
Spring Heights
The Enclave at Filinvest Heights
Filinvest International
The Filinvest IT Zone
8 Spatial
Ciudad de Calamba
Verde Spatial
One Filinvest
Marina Town
The Levels
Studio City
Marina Spatial
Grand Cenia Residences
Sanremo Oasis
East Spatial
Phuket Oasis
Sorrento Oasis
Studio Zen
Austine Homes
Eastbay Palawan
Palm Estates
Filinvest Futura
Filinvest Prestige
Futura by Filinvest
Prestige by Filinvest
Brentville International
Community
New Leaf
The Wood Estates
Asiana Oasis
Ventura Real

Date Of
Registration
20 Oct 2016
03 Nov 2016
24 Nov 2016
24 Nov 2016
24 Nov 2016
08 Dec 2016
08 Dec 2016
29 Dec 2016
29 Dec 2016
29 Dec 2016
19 Jan 2017
19 Jan 2017
16 Feb 2017
27 Apr 2017
27 Apr 2017
04 May 2017
11 May 2017
22 Jun 2017
06 Jul 2017
06 Jul 2017
14 Jul 2017
30 Jul 2017
30 Jul 2017
29 Dec 2019
10 Aug 2017
17 Aug 2017
17 Aug 2017
24 Aug 2017
24 Aug 2017
24 Aug 2017
24 Aug 2017
14 Sep 2017
07 Mar 2020
14 Sep 2017
07 Dec 2017
07 Dec 2017
07 Dec 2017
07 Dec 2017
17 Dec 2017
04 Jan 2018
18 Jan 2018
15 Feb 2018
29 Mar 2018
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Trademark
Vista Hills
Woodville
Panglao Oasis
Amare Homes
Nusa Dua
Pine View
Santoso Villas
Blue Palm Estate
Bluegrass County
Pueblo Solana
Summerbreeze
Savannah Fields
Park Spring
Aspire by Filinvest
Filinvest Aspire
Meridian Place
Alta Spatial
Kembali Coast
The Tropics

Date Of
Registration
07 Jul 2016
07 Jul 2016
14 Jul 2016
04 Aug 2016
04 Aug 2016
04 Aug 2016
04 Aug 2016
11 Aug 2016
11 Aug 2016
11 Aug 2016
11 Aug 2016
01 Sep 2016
02 Nov 2017
07 Dec 2017
07 Dec 2017
08 Sep 2016
30 Sep 2016
30 Sep 2016
30 Sep 2016

Trademark
Nature Grove
Belize Aspire
Southwind
Centro Spatial
Laeuna de Taal
Amalfi
Futura East
Futura Tierra
Manna East by Filinvest
Futura Vinta
Belize Oasis
Futura Centro
venti-lite
Filinvest Gaia New Clark City
Columna
Studio N
Studio N (Tradename)
Futura One Fora Dagupan
Perth Oasis City Di Mare

Date Of
Registration
19 Apr 2018
19 Apr 2018
12 Jul 2018
02 Sep 2018
14 Feb 2019
14 Feb 2019
02 Sep 2018
02 Sep 2018
04 Oct 2018
02 Jun 2019
02 Jun 2019
16 May 2019
08 Feb 2020
08 Feb 2020
20 Nov 2020
11 Sep 2020
11 Sep 2020
10 Jan 2021
10 Jan 2021

The Company has pending applications with the IPO for the following trademarks:

Brentville International Community
Filinvest Cyberzone

The Company has likewise filed an application with the World Intellectual Property Office (WIPO)
for the international registration of the “Filinvest” trademark under the Madrid Protocol. Accordingly,
“Filinvest” is now registered in the following countries:

COUNTRY
Malaysia
United States of America
Qatar
Kuwait
United Arab Emirates
Thailand
Singapore
Japan
Taiwan
Cambodia
Hong Kong
China
Korea

DATE REGISTERED
04 Mar 2015
08 Mar 2016
15 May 2016
04 Sept 2016
22 Mar 2017
22 May 2017
24 Aug 2017
22 June 2018
01 July 2018
19 July 2018
24 Aug 2018
21 Sept 2018 (Class 37);
14 October 2018 (Class 42);
28 October 2018 (Class 42);
19 Nov 2018
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Statements of Certificate of Protection of the “Filinvest” trademark have also been issued by the
following countries:
COUNTRY
United Kingdom
Australia
Denmark
Norway
Switzerland
Austria
Benelux
Sweden

DATE
14 Apr 2015
01 July 2015
14 Sept 2015
16 Sept 2015
11 Dec 2015
16 Aug 2018
20 Aug 2018
14 Nov 2018

1.12. Government and Environmental Regulations
The real estate business in the Philippines is subject to significant Government regulations over,
among other things, land acquisition, development planning and design, construction and mortgage
financing and refinancing.
After the project plan for subdivision is prepared, FLI applies for a development permit with the local
government. If the land is designated agricultural land, FLI applies with the Department of Agrarian
Reform (DAR) for a Certificate of Conversion or Exemption, as may be proper. A substantial
majority of FLI’s existing landbank is subject to the DAR conversion process.
Approval of development plans is conditioned on, among other things, completion of the acquisition
of the project site and the developer’s financial, technical and administrative capabilities. Approvals
must be obtained at both the national and local levels. Evidently, the Parent Company’s results of
operations are expected to continue to be affected by the nature and extent of the regulation of its
business, including the relative time and cost involved in procuring approvals for each new project,
which can vary for each project.
The Parent Company is also subject to the application of the Maceda Law, which gives purchasers of
real property on an installment basis certain rights regarding cancellations of sales and obtaining
refunds from developers.
FLI believes that it has complied with all applicable Philippine environmental laws and regulations.
Compliance with such laws, in FLI’s opinion, is not expected to have a material effect on FLI’s
capital expenditures, earning or competitive position.

1.13. Employees and Labor
As of December 31, 2020, FLI Group had a total of 1,268 full-time employees. This includes 57
executives, 235 managers, 257 supervisors and 719 rank and file employees. Management believes
that FLI’s current relationship with its employees is generally good and neither FLI nor any of its
subsidiaries have experienced a work stoppage or any labor related disturbance as a result of labor
disagreements. None of FLI’s employees or any of its subsidiaries belongs to a union. FLI currently
does not have an employee stock option plan.
FLI anticipates that there will be no significant change in the number of its employees in 2021.
FLI provides managers, supervisors and general staff the opportunity to participate in both in-house
and external training and development programs which are designed to help increase efficiency and to
prepare employees for future assignments. FLI has also provided a mechanism through which
managers and staff are given feedback on their job performance, which FLI believes will help to
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ensure continuous development of its employees. FLI also offers employees benefits and salary
packages that it believes are in line with industry standards in the Philippines and which are designed
to help it compete in the marketplace for quality employees.

1.14. Major Risk Factors
There are major risk factors that may affect the Parent Company or its operations. Property values in
the Philippines are influenced by the general supply and demand of real estate as well as political and
economic developments in the country. In the event new supply exceeds demand as a result of
economic uncertainty or slower growth, political instability, or increased interest rates, the financial
condition and results of operations of FLI will be materially affected.
Demand for, and prevailing prices of, developed land and house and lot units are directly related to
the strength of the Philippine economy (including overall growth levels and interest rates), the overall
levels of business activity in the Philippines and the amount of remittances received from overseas
Filipino workers (“OFWs”). Demand for the Parent Company’s housing and land developments is
also affected by social trends and changing spending patterns in the Philippines, which in turn are
influenced by economic, political and security conditions in the Philippines. The residential housing
industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changes in general economic conditions in the Philippines such
as levels of employment, consumer confidence and income, availability of financing for property
acquisitions, construction and mortgages, interest rate levels, inflation and demand for housing.
The demand for the Parent Company’s projects from OFWs and expatriate Filipinos may decrease as
a result of the following possibilities, i.e. reduction in the number of OFWs, the amount of their
remittances and the purchasing power of expatriate Filipinos. Factors such as economic performance
of the countries and regions where OFWs are deployed, changes in Government regulations such as
taxation on OFWs’ income, and, imposition of restrictions by the Government/other countries on the
deployment of OFWs may also affect the demand for housing requirements.
There are risks that some projects may not attract sufficient demand from prospective buyers thereby
affecting anticipated sales. Stringent government requirements for approvals and permits of new
projects may take substantial amount of time and resources. In addition, the time and the costs
involved in completing the development and construction of residential projects can be adversely
affected by many factors, including unstable prices and supply of materials and equipment and labor,
adverse weather conditions, peso depreciation, natural disasters, labor disputes with contractors and
subcontractors, accidents, changes in laws or in Government priorities and other unforeseen problems
or circumstances. Further, the failure by the Parent Company to substantially complete construction of
a project to its planned specifications or schedule may result in contractual liabilities to purchasers
and lower returns.
The Parent Company’s cost of sales is affected by volatility in the price of construction materials such
as lumber, steel and cement. While the Parent Company, as a matter of policy, attempts to fix the cost
of materials component in its construction contracts, in cases where demand for steel, lumber and
cement are high or when there are shortages in supply, the contractors the Parent Company hires for
construction or development work may be compelled to raise their contract prices. As a result, rising
cost of any construction materials will impact the Parent Company’s construction costs, and the price
for its products. Any increase in prices resulting from higher construction costs could adversely affect
demand for the Parent Company’s products and the relative affordability of such products as
compared to competitors’ products. This could reduce the Parent Company’s real estate sales.
The Parent Company is also exposed to risks associated with the ownership and operation of its
investment properties. Financial performance of the Parent Company’s leasing segment, could be
affected by a number of factors, including:
1. the national and international economic climate;
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2. changes in the demand for call center and other BPO operations as well as gaming operations
in the Philippines and around the world;
3. trends in the Philippine retail industry, insofar as retail malls are concerned;
4. changes in laws and governmental regulations in relation to real estate, including those
governing usage, zoning, environment, taxes and government charges;
5. the inability to collect rent due to bankruptcy of tenants or otherwise;
6. competition for tenants;
7. changes in market rental rates;
8. the need to periodically renovate, repair and re-let space and the costs thereof;
9. the quality and strategy of management; and,
10. FLI’s ability to provide adequate maintenance and insurance.
On known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have favorable
or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations of FLI, the
Covid-19 global pandemic which started to occur in the Philippines in January of 2020. In a move to
contain the COVID-19 pandemic in the Philippines, on March 13, 2020, the Office of the President of
the Philippines issued a Memorandum directive to impose stringent social distancing measures in the
National Capital Region (NCR) effective March 15, 2020. On March 16, 2020, Presidential
Proclamation No. 929 was issued, declaring a State of Calamity throughout the Philippines for a
period of six (6) months and imposed an ECQ throughout the island of Luzon until April 12, 2020,
which was subsequently extended to April 30, 2020 and further extended to May 15, 2020. The ECQ
shifted to modified enhanced community quarantine (MECQ) until May 31, 2020 and to general
community quarantine (GCQ) for NCR and certain provinces until the first part of the third quarter.
Subsequently, MECQ was once again imposed on select areas including Metro Manila and a few
other provinces in the National Capital Region from August 4 to 18, 2020 then back again to GCQ
until December 31, 2020. On January 1, 2021, the Office of the President issued a Memorandum
from the Executive Secretary placing the NCR and other highly urbanized cities and independence
component cities under GCQ and MGCQ until January 31, 2021, which was further extended until
February 28, 2021 and March 31, 2021 for certain parts of the country, including the NCR.
The company expects that these developments are unfavorable to the company’s overall financial
performance as follows:
1. Decline in presales for both the domestic and the OFW market
2. Decline in revenues from our retail operations as a result of decline in foot traffic and
temporary suspension of mall operations except for outlets offering basic services like
supermarkets, banks and healthcare centers, as mandated by the government.
3. Delay in the completion of housing and office and retail buildings
4. Pre-leasing and occupancy of new buildings will be lower than expected
5. Some tenants might reduce or in worst case, pre-terminate space to adopt a work-from-home
scheme or other flexible working arrangements.
6. Possible cancellation of lease negotiations for either new space or expansion due to internal
business decision of the client.
Item 2. PROPERTIES
2.1. Land Bank
Since its incorporation, the Parent Company has invested in properties situated in what the Parent
Company believes are prime locations across the Philippines for existing and future housing and land
development projects. It is important for the Parent Company to have access to a steady supply of
land for future projects. In addition to directly acquiring land for future projects, the Parent Company
has also adopted a strategy of entering into joint venture arrangements with landowners for the
development of raw land into future project sites for housing and land development projects. This
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allows FLI to reduce its capital expenditures for land and substantially reduces the financial holding
costs resulting from owning land for development.
Under the joint venture agreements, the joint venture partner contributes the land free from any lien,
encumbrance, tenants or informal settlers and the Parent Company undertakes the development and
marketing of the products. The joint venture partner is allocated either the developed lots or the
proceeds from the sales of the units based on pre-agreed distribution ratio.
Potential land acquisitions and participation in joint venture projects are evaluated against a number
of criteria, including the attractiveness of the acquisition price relative to the market, the suitability or
the technical feasibility of the planned development. The Parent Company identifies land acquisitions
and joint venture opportunities through active search and referrals.
As of December 31, 2020, the Parent Company had a land bank of approximately 1,851 hectares of
raw land for the development of its various projects, including approximately 201 hectares of land
under joint venture agreements, which the Parent Company’s management believes is sufficient to
sustain several years of development and sales.
Details of the Parent Company’s raw land inventory as of December 31, 2020 are set out in the table
below:
FLI Land Bank as of December 31, 2020
In Hectares
Location
Luzon
Metro Manila
Rizal
Bulacan
Bataan
Pampanga
Camarines Sur
Pangasinan
Cavite
Laguna
Batangas
Visayas
Cebu
Negro Occidental
Mindanao
Davao
South Cotabato
Total

Company Owned

Under Joint
Venture

Total

% to Total

35.7
690.9
252.1
12.3
1.9
3.5
299.5
226.7
45.6
1,568.1

9.2
24.9
58.8
0.7
42.1
135.7

35.7
700.1
252.1
12.3
24.9
1.9
3.5
358.3
227.4
87.7
1,703.8

1.9%
37.8%
13.6%
0.7%
1.3%
0.1%
0.2%
19.4%
12.3%
4.7%
92.0%

1.5
4.7
6.2

35.7
35.7

37.2
4.7
41.9

2.0%
0.3%
2.3%

5.5
70.3
75.8
1,650.1

29.6
29.6
201.0

35.1
70.3
105.4
1,851.1

1.9%
3.8%
5.7%
100.0%

In addition to above, FLI has the ff land under a joint development or long term leasing agreement,
available to FLI for development
Location
Filinvest Mimosa Plus
New Clark City
Total

Area
in has.
201.6
288.0
489.6

Remarks
Being developed with FDC
Being developed with BCDA
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2.2. Current Development Projects

The following are the most recently launched projects and projects with new phases and
buildings:
PROJECT

LOCATION

HORIZONTAL

PROJECT

LOCATION

MRB

Amarilyo Crest
Pineview
Sandia
Tierra Vista
The Grove
Savannah Place
Futura Homes Palm Estates
Futura Homes Mactan
Futura Homes Iloilo
Futura Homes Koronadal
Anila Park Residences
Aria at Serra Monte
The Prominence
Futura Homes Davao
New Fields at Manna
Meridian Place
Valle Dulce
Ventura Real
Claremont Expansion
Southwinds
Futura Zamboanga
Enclave
New Leaf
Mira Valley

Rizal
Cavite
Batangas
Bulacan
Rizal
Cavite
Bacolod
Cebu
Iloilo
South Cotabato
Rizal
Rizal
Quezon City
Davao
Rizal
Cavite
Laguna
Rizal
Pampanga
Laguna
Zamboanga
Muntinlupa
Cavite
Rizal

Hampton Orchard
Futura Mira
Futura Plains
Tropics 4

Pampanga
Calamba
Rizal
Cainta

One Oasis Cebu
One Oasis Cagayan de Oro
Panglao Oasis
One Spatial
San Remo
Centro Spatial
One Spatial Iloilo
Marina Spatial
8 Spatial
Maui Oasis
Alta Spatial
Bali Oasis
Maldives Oasis
Sorrento Oasis
Veranda
Futura East
Centro Spatial
Belize
Futura Vinta
HRB
Activa
Levels
Studio City
Studio N (Block 50)

Cebu
Cagayan de Oro
Taguig
Pasig
Cebu
Davao
Iloilo
Dumaguete
Davao
Manila
Valenzuela City
Pasig
Davao
Pasig
Davao
Cainta
Manila
Muntinlupa
Zamboanga
Quezon City
Alabang
Alabang
Alabang

On-going developments of the abovementioned projects are expected to require additional funds but
FLI believes that it will have sufficient financial resources for these anticipated requirements, both
from debt financing and generation from operations.

2.3. Investment Properties
FLI has the following operating strategic investment properties: Festival Supermall, Fora Mall, Main
Square Molino, Il Corso, PBCom Tower, Northgate Cyberzone, EDSA Transcom Building, Cebu
Cyberzone, Pasay Cyberzone (Bay Area) and Clark Mimosa Cyberzone.
FLI has currently several projects under development that will be rental assets when completed.
Please refer to Section 1.5.2 for a detailed discussion of these properties.
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2.4. Property and Equipment
FLI’s corporate headquarters is located along EDSA, Mandaluyong City. It also owns a property in
SMPC being used as sales training headquarters. FLI is also renting spaces for its sales offices in
Quezon City, Rizal, Pampanga, Tarlac, Bulacan, Puerto Princesa City, Davao City, Butuan, Tagum,
Cagayan de Oro, and Zamboanga City. The terms of the leases are usually for one year, and
thereafter, the terms of the lease shall be on short term basis or upon the option of both parties, a new
contract is drawn. The Parent Company does not intend to acquire properties for the next 12 months
except as needed in the ordinary course of business.
Part of the PPE of the company are the tractor and equipment being used for construction works under
supervision by DPI, and the plant for DCS as owned and operated by its subsidiary PDDC.,
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Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
FLI and its subsidiaries and affiliates are subject to various civil and criminal lawsuits and legal
actions arising in the ordinary course of business. Typical cases in the real estate development
segment include adverse claims against FLI’s title over parcels of land and claims brought by buyers
seeking the return of deposits or cancellations of sales. From time to time, FLI also disputes taxes that
have been assessed against it by the BIR. In the opinion of FLI’s management, none of the lawsuits or
legal actions to which it or any of its subsidiaries is currently subject will materially affect the daily
operations of its business nor will they have a material adverse effect on FLI’s consolidated financial
position and results of operations. Noteworthy are the following cases involving the Company, among
others:
a) FLI vs. Abdul Backy Ngilay, et al., G.R. No. 174715 Supreme Court
This is a civil action for the declaration of nullity of deeds of conditional and absolute sale of certain
real properties located in Tambler, General Santos City, covered by free patents and executed between
FLI and the plaintiff’s patriarch, Hadiji Gulam Ngilay. The Regional Trial Court (“RTC”) of Las
Piñas City (Br. 253) decided the case in favor of FLI and upheld the sale of the properties. On appeal,
the Court of Appeals (“CA”) rendered a decision partly favorable to FLI but nullified the sale of some
properties involved. FLI filed a petition for review on certiorari to question that portion of the
decision declaring as void the deeds of sale of properties covered by patents issued in 1991. The
Supreme Court (“SC”) affirmed the decision of the CA but declared with finality that FLI’s purchase
of sales patents issued in 1991 was void and ordered the Ngilays to return Pl4,000,000.00 to FLI. The
RTC issued a Writ of Execution dated 16 February 2015. To satisfy the monetary judgment in favor
of FLI, four parcels of land owned by the Ngilays and covered by Transfer Certificates of Title
(“TCT”) Nos. P-6886, 147-201005034, 147-2014000465, and 147-2014000468, were levied on
execution and sold at public auction to FLI as highest bidder. The Sheriff’s Certificate of Sale over
the properties was registered with the Registry of Deeds of General Santos City. FLI filed a motion
for the surrender of the certificates of titles of the Ngilays so that FLI’s affidavit
of consolidation of ownership can be annotated on the titles and new certificates of title will be issued
in FLI’s name. This motion was partially granted; 3 titles, namely Transfer Certificates of Title
(“TCT”) Nos. 147-2014005034, 147-2014000465, and 147- 2014000468, are surrendered to the
Register of Deeds of General Santos City. But the sale by the Sheriff of the property covered by TCT
No. P-6886 was declared invalid, because the sale of the property covered by said title was not one of
the sales previously declared by the SC as invalid. The Sheriff was ordered to look for another
property of Ngilay for execution and to issue an amended certificate of sale for the 3 Ngilay
properties in favor of FLI. We are awaiting the Court’s issuance of an order approving the amended
certificate of sale along with resolution of the Court on the Moner Ngilay’s Motion to Exclude his
property from execution, with FLI’s opposition already filed.
b) Republic of the Philippines vs. Rolando Pascual, et al.,G.R. No. 222949 Supreme Court
The National Government through the Office of the Solicitor General filed suit against Rolando
Pascual, Rogelio Pascual, and FLI for cancellation of title and reversion in favor of the Government
of properties subject of a joint venture agreement between the said individuals and FLI. The
Government claims that the subject properties covering about 73.33 hectares are not alienable and
disposable being forest land. The case was dismissed by the RTC Branch 36 of General Santos City
on 16 November 2007 for lack of merit. On appeal, the Court of Appeals reversed the Decision of the
RTC and ordered the case to be remanded for a full-blown trial on the merits. FLI filed a Motion for
Partial Reconsideration, which was denied by the CA. On 4 April 2016, FLI filed its Petition for
Review with the SC, but the latter also affirmed the Decision of the CA remanding the case for
reversion filed by the Republic of the Philippines to the RTC of General Santos City for further
proceedings. In an Order dated 18 September 2018, the hearing was reset to 19 March 2019, the RTC
set the case for Judicial Dispute Resolution on 20 August 2019. The Judicial Dispute Resolution was
terminated. Pre-Trial is set on 14 April 2020 was cancelled due to the quarantine/lockdown as a result
of the corona virus pandemic and was reset to 18 March 2021 at 8:45 am.
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c) Antonio E. Cenon and Filinvest Land, Inc. vs. San Mateo Landfill, Mayor Rafael Diaz,Brgy.
Pintong Bukawe, Director Julian Amador and the Secretary, Department of Environment and Natural
Resources SC-G.R. No. 251303 Supreme Court
On 9 February 2009, FLI and its First Vice President, Engr. Antonio E. Xenon (“Plaintiffs”) filed an
action for injunction and damages against the respondents to stop and enjoin the construction of a 19hectare landfill in a barangay in close proximity to Timberland Heights in San Mateo, Rizal. Plaintiffs
sought preliminary and permanent injunctive relief and damages and the complete and permanent
closure of the dump site. After presenting evidence, plaintiffs rested their case. Defendant San Mateo
Sanitary Landfill and defendant Mayor separately filed a Demurrer to Evidence. In an Order dated 22
August 2016, the Court granted both Demurrers to Evidence and dismissed the case for insufficiency
of evidence. Plaintiffs appealed to the CA. In the Decision dated May 31, 2019, the CA denied the
plaintiffs’ appeal. Plaintiffs filed a Motion for Reconsideration. The Motion for Reconsideration was
denied in a Resolution of the CA dated January 6, 2020. A Petition for Review on Certiorari was filed
by plaintiffs with the SC on March 6, 2020. On November 10, 2020, plaintiffs received a copy of the
July 13, 2020 Resolution of the SC which denied the Petition. Plaintiffs filed a Motion for
Reconsideration of the said Resolution which is pending with the SC.
d) Manila Paper Mills International, Inc. vs. Filinvest Land, Inc., et al., Civil Case No. DC-721-17
Regional Trial Court Branch 90, Dasmariñas City, Cavite
In its Complaint dated 14 July 2017, Manila Paper Mills International, Inc. (“MPMII”) claims it owns
three parcels of land in Dasmariñas City, Cavite covered by TCT Nos. T-636128, T-636130 and T636131 with the following respective areas: 79,999 square meters, 40,000 square meters, and 104,340
square meters, or a total area of 224,339 square meters, These areas allegedly overlap with FLI’s lots
which now form part of FLI’s project, The Glens located in San Pedro Laguna. According to MPMII,
plotting for The Glens conducted by a Licensed Geodetic Engineer through Google Maps revealed
that portions of the project encroached on said MPMII properties for a total of 208,256 square meters.
The Complaint prays for the cancellation of FLI’s certificates of title that overlap with MPM1I’s as
well as the payment of damages. MPMII also prayed for the issuance of a temporary restraining order
or preliminary injunction to enjoin FLI from possessing, altering, transferring ownership, or disposing
of the subject properties. MPMII subsequently amended its complaint to address issues raised by FLI
in its first Motion to Dismiss. The main subject of the amendment was the change in the plaintiff from
MPMII to “Trustees and Shareholders of MPMII.” In response to the amended complaint, FLI filed
its second Motion to Dismiss, where FLI argued, among others, that: (a) the court has no jurisdiction
over the amended complaint’s prayer for injunctive relief; (b) the amended complaint should be
dismissed because the original complaint lacks cause of action (because MPM1I’s corporate
personality has ceased in 2004) and may not therefore be subject to amendment; (c) the correct filing
fees were not paid and in view of its impropriety, the amendment circumvents the need for separate
filing and payment of new docket fees.
During the proceedings, the court allowed MPMII to present evidence on its prayer for injunction
even before the resolution of FLI’s motions to dismiss which raised serious grounds. The Presiding
Judge proceeded with the hearing of the latter’s evidence without the presence and participation of
FLI’s counsel. Thus, FLI filed a Motion to Recuse which the Presiding Judge granted. In the
meantime, the proceedings are suspended by the assignment of the case to another judge. The case
was then assigned to an Acting Presiding Judge and a hearing was set on 23 January 2019 for the
cross-examination of MPMII’s witnesses. FLI filed an Omnibus Motion to nullify the proceedings
where MPMII presented the above-said evidence/witnesses, to resolve pending motions and to
suspend further proceedings. In an Order dated May 15, 2019, the court denied the Omnibus Motion.
FLI filed a Motion for Reconsideration dated July 10, 2019, which is now pending before the court.
On November 3, 2020, the Court issued its Order addressing multiple pending pleadings, including
the Motion for Reconsideration dated July 10, 2019 and Motion to Admit Amended Complaint dated
August 2, 2017. The Court resolves to deny the Motion for Reconsideration and at the same time
admits the Amended Complaint filed by the Plaintiff. The hearing for preliminary injunction is set on
March 5, 2020.
.
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Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
There was no matter which was submitted to a vote of security holders in 2020.

Part II – OPERATIONAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 5. MARKET FOR ISSUER’S COMMON EQUITY & RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS
The shares of the Company were listed on the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) in 1993 under the
symbol “FLI”. The following table shows, for the periods indicated, the high, low and period end
closing prices of the shares as reported in the PSE.
Period
4th Quarter
3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

High
1.19
1.03
1.10
1.56

Low
0.91
0.82
0.89
0.77

End
1.12
0.91
0.99
0.91

2019

4th Quarter
3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

1.66
2.05
1.99
1.66

1.45
1.56
1.50
1.42

1.50
1.57
1.88
1.52

2018

4th Quarter
3rd Quarter
2nd Quarter
1st Quarter

1.51
1.55
1.79
1.94

1.40
1.40
1.40
1.62

1.41
1.43
1.40
1.65

2020

On 22 March 2021, FLI’s shares closed at the price of Php1.12 per share. The number of shareholders
of record as of said date was 5,645. Common shares outstanding as of 22 March 2021 is
24,249,759,506.
The top 20 Stockholders of FLI’s common shares as of 22 March 2021 are as follows:
Name
1

Filinvest Development Corporation

2
3
4
5

No. of Shares

% to Total

15,681,457,022

64.67%

PCD Nominee Corporation (Filipino)

4,460,284,165

18.39%

PCD Nominee Corporation (Non-Filipino)

3,787,795,590

15.62%

Philippines International Life Insurance Co., Inc.

60,000,000

0.25%

F. Yap Securities, Inc.

32,000,000

0.13%

6

Michael Edward T. Gotianun

11,235,913

0.05%

7

Lucio W. Yan &/or Clara Y. Yan

10,687,500

0.04%

8

Joseph M. Yap &/or Josephine G. Yap

7,694,843

0.03%

9

Joseph M. Yap

6,444,115

0.03%

10

Executive Optical, Inc.

5,040,647

0.02%

11

Jonathan Dee Co

5,000,000

0.02%

13

R Magdalena Bosch

4,877,928

0.02%

12

Veronica P. Fernandez

4,064,940

0.02%

14

Enrique P. Fernandez

4,064,940

0.02%

15

Luis Rodrigo P. Fernandez

4,064,940

0.02%

16

Luis L. Fernandez

4,064,940

0.02%

17

Team Gladiola, Inc.

3,828,000

0.02%

18

Emily Benedicto

3,468,750

0.01%

19

Carlo Bernardo P. Fernandez

3,251,952

0.01%

20

Marco Vicente P. Fernandez

3,251,952

0.01%
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No securities were sold within the past three years which were not registered under the Revised
Securities Act and/or the Securities Regulation Code (“Code”).
The holder of 8,000,000,000 of preferred shares is FDC.
Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities
No securities were sold by FLI in the past three (3) years which were not registered under the Code.
Declaration of Dividends to Common Shareholders
On June 11, 2020 the BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash dividend of Php0.0648 per
share or total of Php1.57 billion for all common shareholders of record as of July 10, 2020. The
Group has remaining unpaid cash dividend amounting to Php49.0 million as of December 31, 2020.
On June 11, 2020 the BOD approved the declaration and payment of cash dividend of Php0.0006 per
share or a total of Php5.10 million for all preferred shareholders of record as of July 10, 2020. The
Group also paid dividends amounting Php42.4 million for dividends in arrears for preferred
shareholders.
In 2019, FLI declared cash dividends to all stockholders of record as of 22 May 2019 in the amount of
Php0.0619 per share, broken down as follows: a) Regular Cash Dividend of Php0.0486 per share;
(b) Special Cash Dividend of Php0.0132 per share. Payment date was set on 17 June 2019.
In 2018, FLI declared cash dividends to all stockholders of record as of 20 April 2018 in the amount
of Php0.0618 per share, broken down as follows: a) Regular Cash Dividend of Php0.0469 per share;
(b) Special Cash Dividend of Php0.0149 per share. Payment date was set on 14 June 2018.
In 2017, FLI declared cash dividends to all stockholders of record as of 21 May 2017 in the amount of
Php0.0613 per share, broken down as follows: a) Regular Cash Dividend of Php0.0430 per share;
(b) Special Cash Dividend of Php0.0183 per share. Payment date was set on 14 June 2017.
The declaration of dividends is contingent upon FLI’s earnings, cash flow, financial condition, capital
investment requirements and other factors (including certain restrictions on dividend declaration
imposed by the terms of agreements to which FLI is a party).
Pursuant to the loan agreements entered into by the Company and certain financial institutions, the
Company needs the lenders’ prior consent in cases of cash dividend declaration.

Item 6. BOND ISSUANCES
On November 18, 2020, the Parent Company issued to the public unsecured fixed rate bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of P
=8.1 billion comprising of P
=6.3 billion, 3-year fixed rate bonds due in
2023 and P
=1.8 billion, 5.5-year fixed rate bonds due in 2026. The 3-year bonds carry a fixed rate of
3.34% per annum, while the 5.5-year bonds have a fixed rate of 4.18% per annum.
On July 7, 2017, CPI issued to the public unsecured fixed rate bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of P
=6.00 billion and term of five and a half (5.5) years due in 2023. The bonds carry a fixed
rate of 5.05% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears starting on October 7, 2017.
These bonds require the Group to maintain certain financial ratios which include maximum debt-toequity ratio of 2.0x; minimum current ratio of 2.0x; and minimum debt service coverage ratio (DSCR)
of 1.0x (except for CPI bonds which requires maximum debt-to-equity ratio of 2.33x and DSCR of
1.1x). As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Group is not in breach of any of these debt covenants.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS AND PLAN OF OPERATION
Plan of Operations for 2021
In terms of real property trading business segment, FLI’s business strategy has placed emphasis on the
development and sale of residential lots and housing units mainly to lower and middle-income
markets throughout the Philippines as its core. This business segment which includes landed housing,
medium-rise buildings (MRB) and high-rise condominium projects, residential farm estates,
entrepreneurial communities, and leisure developments in response to the demands of the Philippine
market.
In 2021, FLI intends to retain its dominant position as the leader in MRB projects by launching 5 new
projects nationwide and 11 additional buildings of existing projects. Aside from the MRBs, FLI has
pipelined 11 horizontal residential projects and 2 HRB projects.
As far as leasing business is concerned, the Parent Company continues the build-up of its leasing
projects for both retail and office- portfolio to generate recurring revenues. Included in its pipeline
expected to be completed in 2021, are 5 office spaces located in Makati City, Quezon City,
Dumaguete, and Clark Mimosa; and 3 retail spaces in Quezon City, Clark Mimosa, and Cebu City.
The Company is also expected to start the leasing operations of its first Co-living project, the “Crib”
in Clark Mimosa, and Innovation Park in Filinvest at New Clark City.
Results of Operations for 2020
Year ended December 31, 2020 compared to year ended December 31, 2019
For the year ended December 31, 2020, FLI’s net income registered a year on year decline of 39.30%
or P2,562.05 million from ₱6,519.80 million in 2019 to ₱3,957.75 million in 2020.
Revenues and other income
Total consolidated revenues went down by ₱7,798.52 million or 32.46%, from ₱24,021.86 million in
2019 to ₱16,223.34 million in 2020 due to lower revenues generated from both business segments of
real estate sales and rental and related services..
Real estate sales decreased by ₱7,176.00 million or by 42.18%, from ₱17,013.12 million in 2019 to
₱9,837.12 million in 2020. Real estate sales booked during the current period broken down by product
type are as follows: Middle Income 75% (inclusive of MRB and HRB); Affordable and low
affordable 14%; High-End 10%; Socialized and others 1%. The lower real estate sales can be
attributed to lower construction percentage of completion primarily due to temporary suspension of
construction activities and decreased collections reaching the required threshold for revenue
recognition, as a result of extension of payment due dates, respectively in compliance to “Bayanihan
Act” in response to Covid-19 pandemic.
Rental and related services decreased by ₱622.52 million or by 8.88%, from ₱7,008.74 million in
2019 to ₱6,386.22 million in 2020 due to lower revenues from mall and other commercial centers
which de cli ned by 55% as a result of their closure and limited operations during quarantine
period imposed to control the spread of COVID-19 pandemic. This is partially offset by 8%
increase in office leasing revenue which continued to be 100% operational during the
quarantine period.
Interest income decreased by ₱167.56 million or by 29.31%, from ₱571.70 million in 2019 to ₱404.14
million in 2020. The decrease was due to lower interest income derived from contract receivables as
more buyers opt to avail of bank financing schemes instead of in-house payment schemes.
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Other income decreased by ₱337.51 million or by 49.76% from ₱678.22 million in 2019 to ₱340.71
million in 2020. The decrease was due to lower income generated from service fees, processing fees,
and management, leasing and other related fees.
Costs and Expenses
Cost of real estate sales decreased by ₱4,267.04 million or by 43.30%, from ₱9,853.87 million in
2019 to ₱5,586.83 million in 2020 due to lower real estate revenues booked during the period .
Total operating expenses decreased to ₱3,321.88 million in 2020 from ₱3,923.30 million in 2019.
General and administrative expenses decreased by ₱231.12 million or by 9.34% to ₱2,243.60 million
in 2020 from ₱2,474.72 million in 2019. The decrease was mainly due to the lower spending during
the year as a consequence of Covid-19 pandemic i.e. limited economic activities due to quarantine
restrictions. Selling and marketing expenses decreased by ₱370.30 million or by 25.56%, from
₱1,448.57 million in 2019 to ₱1,078.27 million in 2020 due to lower broker’s commission, service
fees and direct costs of sales offices as a result of limited selling activities brought about by
quarantine measures.
Interest and other finance charges
Interest and other finance charges increased by ₱696.50 million or by 27.94%, from ₱2,492.97 million
in 2019 to ₱3,189.46 million in 2020 due to the increase in loan and bonds payables as of December
31, 2020
Provision for Income Tax
Total provision for income tax decreased by ₱1,334.58 million or by 76.05% from ₱1,754.97 million
in 2019 to ₱420.39 million in 2020. The provision for current income tax decreased by ₱ 677.22
million or by 53.17 %, from ₱ 1,273.75 million in 2019 to ₱596.53 million in 2020 due to lower
taxable income as a result of decreased revenues. Provision for deferred income tax was transformed
to a tax benefit of ₱176.14 million or movement of ₱657.35 million or by 136.60%, from ₱481.21
million in 2019 . This is a result of temporary differences between financial and taxable income.
Financial Condition
As of December 31, 2020, FLI’s total consolidated assets increased to ₱181.00 billion from the
₱173.70 billion balance as of December 31, 2019, an increase by ₱7.31 billion or by 4.21%. The
following are the material changes in account balances:

40.22% Increase in Cash and cash equivalents
Primarily due to lower net cash used in investing activities as a result of suspension of construction
activities and higher net cash provided by financing activities for the P8.1 billion bond issuance last
November 2020 despite decline in net cash provided by operating activities on account of extension of
payment due dates.
10.10% Increase in Contract assets and contract receivables
Primarily due to delayed collections of accounts as a result of Bayanihan Act and delayed takeout
from banks and HDMF because of disruption in office operations due to observance of office closures
and density and other safety protocols to avoid spread of covid19.
5.89% Increase in Other receivables
Mainly due to higher receivables from mall and office tenants.
4.01% Increase in Real estate inventories
Due to lower cost of real estate sales as a result of of lower sales revenues recognized during the
period, and additional spending for project development costs
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5.67% Increase in Other current assets
Primarily due to higher prepayments and cost to obtain contract. The increase in cost to obtain
contract was mitigated by decreased input taxes, , advances to contractors / suppliers and short-term
deposits.
14.80% Increase in Investment in Associates
On December 21, 2020, FDC subscribed to 110,000,000 common shares of Dreambuilders Pro, Inc.
(DPI) with par value of Php1.00 per share amounting ₱110.0 million and equivalent to 55% of DPI’s
outstanding shares. This resulted in the dilution of FLI’s interest in DPI to 45% and deconsolidation
by the Group. As a result of the dilution, the investment in DPI amounting to ₱90 million is accounted
as investment in associate under the equity method under FLI’s books. This also includes the share of
FLI in the associates’ net income. During the year 2020, no dividends were recorded from the
investments.
4.22% Increase in Investment property
Mainly due to the additional construction costs of new buildings for office and commercial lease
amounting to ₱4.55 billion. These are primarily located in Northgate Cyberzone in Alabang, Filinvest
Mimosa, Makati City, Quezon City and Ortigas City.
7.39 Increase in Other noncurrent assets
Primarily due to additional construction costs of Filinvest Cebu Cyberzone (known as “BTO rights”)
covered by the BTO agreement with the Government of Cebu.
15.06% Increase in Contract liability
Principally due to the increased contracts with buyers whose purchased units had lower percentageof-completion due to suspension of construction activities during quarantine periods.
11.16% Increase in Due to related parties
Mostly due to increase in unpaid shared expenses among related parties which includes share in
salaries charged by the Parent Company (FDC). The remaining unpaid charges are expected to be
paid or liquidated within the following year.
79.67% Decrease in Income tax payable
Primarily due to the lower taxable income for the year.
7.25% Increase in Loans payable
Mainly due to the ₱10.68 billion newly availed loans offset by ₱8.22 billion repayments of existing
loans.
13.55% Increase in Bonds payable
Largely due to additional issuance amounted to P8.1Bn in November 2020, netted by ₱4.3 billion
matured bond on the same month of November 2020.
4.82% Increase in Lease liabilities
Largely due to additional parcel of land in Alabang, leased from FAI and sublet by FLI to a third
party.
13.21 % Increase in Retirement liabilities
The increase was due to actuarial valuation adjustment on the present value of defined benefit
obligation.
Performance Indicators
Earnings per Share - Basic¹
Earnings per Share - Diluted²
Debt to Equity Ratio⁴
Debt Ratio⁵
EBITDA to Total Interest Paid
Price Earnings Ratio³

2020
0.15
0.15
0.94
0.59
2.34
7.47

2019
0.26
0.26
0.88
0.58
3.71
5.77
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¹ Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net income for the period attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
² Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number
of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
³ Closing price of share used is the latest closing stock rate per PSE Edge as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 of =
P 1.12 per
share and =
P 1.50 per share, respectively.
⁴ Calculated as Long-term debt over total equity where long-term debt is equal to the sum of loans payable and bonds
payable.
⁵ Calculated as total liabilities over total assets

Other Disclosures
Aside from the possible material increase in interest rates of the outstanding long-term debts with
floating rates, there are no known trends, events or uncertainties or any material commitments that
may result to any cash flow or liquidity problems of FLI within the next 12 months. The Parent
Company is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing
arrangements requiring it to make payments, or any significant amount in its accounts payable that
have not been paid within the stated terms.
On known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have favorable
or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations of FLI, the
Covid-19 global pandemic.
COVID-19 Pandemic
In a move to contain the COVID-19 pandemic in the Philippines, on March 13, 2020, the Office of the
President of the Philippines issued a Memorandum directive to impose stringent social distancing
measures in the National Capital Region (NCR) effective March 15, 2020. On March 16, 2020,
Presidential Proclamation No. 929 was issued, declaring a State of Calamity throughout the
Philippines for a period of six (6) months and imposed an ECQ throughout the island of Luzon until
April 12, 2020, which was subsequently extended to April 30, 2020 and further extended to May 15,
2020. The ECQ shifted to modified enhanced community quarantine (MECQ) until May 31, 2020 and
to general community quarantine (GCQ) for NCR and certain provinces until the first part of the third
quarter. Subsequently, MECQ was once again imposed on select areas including Metro Manila and a
few other provinces in the National Capital Region from August 4 to 18, 2020 then back again to
GCQ until December 31, 2020. On January 1, 2021, the Office of the President issued a
Memorandum from the Executive Secretary placing the NCR and other highly urbanized cities and
independence component cities under GCQ and MGCQ until January 31, 2021, which was further
extended until February 28, 2021 and March 31, 2021 for certain parts of the country, including the
NCR.
The Group continues to abide by and comply with all rules and regulations issued by the government
in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic. In line with applicable rules and regulations, the said risks are
mitigated by business continuity strategies set in place by the Group. Measures currently undertaken
by the Group to mitigate the risks of COVID-19 pandemic on its operations include work-from-home
arrangements, proper and frequent sanitation of office premises, cancellation of large group meetings
in person, an internal ban on foreign business travel, and the practice of social distancing through
remote communication, among others.
The quarantine restrictions and recent social distancing guidelines limit the operations of malls and
construction completion. Despite the challenges, the Group prioritized easing the burden of its
customers by providing payment grace periods or rental relief. Past efforts in process improvement
and digitalization allowed the company to operate efficiently and effectively to continue to serve
customers. Operations have adjusted to the pandemic from digital marketing and online selling
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processes to the continued communication with the buyers and homeowners through the online
service desk. As of date, estimate of the impact cannot be made.
The Group is taking a two-pronged strategy of (i) expanding the investment property portfolio and (ii)
prudent residential development focusing on the end-user, affordable and middle-income markets.
The company is concentrating on the completion of its key projects, particularly office buildings
which continue to be in demand and selected residential developments across the country.
Except for income generated from retail leasing, there are no seasonal aspects that have a material
effect on FLI’s financial conditions or results of operations.
The operating activities of FLI are carried uniformly over the calendar year; there are no significant
elements of income or loss that did not arise from its continuing operations.
There are no known events that will trigger the settlement of a direct or contingent financial
obligation that is material to the Parent Company.
There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships to the Parent Company with unconsolidated entities or other
persons created during the reporting period, except those discussed.
The Group does not have any contingent liability or borrowings wherein financial assets were pledged
to secure payment nor does it have borrowings wherein properties were mortgaged to secure a loan.
Results of Operations for 2019
Year ended December 31, 2019 compared to year ended December 31, 2018
For the year ended December 31, 2019, FLI’s operating regular net income registered a year on year
growth of 7.31% or P443.93 million from ₱6,075.87 million in 2018 to ₱6,519.80 million in 2019.
Revenues and other income
Total consolidated revenues went up by ₱3,468.12 million or 15.62%, from ₱22,205.19 million in
2018 to ₱25,673.31 million in 2019 due to higher rental and related services, and real estate sales.
Rental and related services increased by ₱1,400.48 million or by 24.97%, from ₱5,608.26 million in
2018 to ₱7,008.74 million in 2019. Filinvest Axis Tower 2, located in Northgate Cyberzone Alabang,
was completed in 2019 adding 39,341 sq.m. of GLA to the office portfolio. FLI now operates 31
buildings totaling 523,902 sq.m. For retail, FLI has 243,215 sq.m. GLA in the retail portfolio in 2019
from 242,127 sq.m. in 2018.
Real estate sales increased by ₱2,608.92 million or by 18.11%, from ₱14,404.20 million in 2018 to
₱17,013.12 million in 2019. Real estate sales booked during the current period broken down by
product type are as follows: Middle Income 55% (inclusive of MRB and HRB); Affordable 32%;
High-End 9%; Farm Estate 2%; Socialized and others 2%. The higher real estate sales can be
attributed to higher percentage of completion for MRB and HRB, and higher completion of
downpayments from 2018 sales.
Interest income decreased by ₱405.59 million or by 41.50%, from ₱977.29 million in 2018 to ₱571.70
million in 2019. The decrease was due to lower interest income derived from cash and cash
equivalents and contract receivables as more buyers opt to avail of bank financing schemes instead of
in-house payment schemes.
Other income decreased by ₱0.20 million or by 0.03% from ₱678.42 million in 2018 to ₱678.22
million in 2019. The decrease was due to lower income generated from service fees, processing fees,
and management, leasing and other related fees.
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Costs and Expenses
Cost of real estate sales increased by ₱1,514.66 million or by 18.16%, from ₱8,339.21 million in 2018
to ₱9,853.87 million in 2019. The higher cost was in line with the higher real estate sales booked
during the year. Cost of rental services had a slight decrease of ₱2.10 million or 0.19%, from
₱1,130.51 million in 2018 to ₱1,128.41 million in 2019 due to the adoption of PFRS 16, Leases that
resulted to the capitalization of right of use assets and recognition of related amortization expense
with lower amount as compared to the supposed rent expense before the adoption.
Total operating expenses increased to ₱3,923.30 million in 2019 from ₱3,764.65 million in 2018.
General and administrative expenses increased by ₱152.66 million or by 6.57% to ₱2,474.72 million
in 2019 from ₱2,322.06 million in 2018. The increase was mainly due to the higher depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, repairs and maintenance, insurance and other expenses. Selling and
marketing expenses increased by ₱5.98 million or by 0.41%, from ₱1,442.59 million in 2018 to
₱1,448.57 million in 2019 due to higher broker’s commission, service fees and direct costs of sales
offices.
Interest and other finance charges
Interest and other finance charges increased by ₱1,300.53 million or by 109.06%, from ₱1,192.44
million in 2018 to ₱2,492.97 million in 2019 due to the increase in loan payables as of December 31,
2019, lower capitalization of borrowing costs to real estate inventories and recognition of interest
expenses related to the accretion of lease liability resulting from the adoption of PFRS 16, Leases.
Provision for Income Tax
Total provision for income tax increased by ₱52.46 million or by 3.08% from ₱1,702.51 million in
2018 to ₱1,754.97 million in 2019. The provision for current income tax increased by ₱293.39 million
or by 28.50%, from ₱1,029.49 million in 2018 to ₱1,322.88 million in 2019 due to higher taxable
income as a result of increased revenues.
Provision for deferred income tax decreased by ₱240.93 million or by 35.80%, from ₱673.02 million
in 2018 to ₱432.09 million in 2019 due to temporary differences between financial and taxable
income.
Financial Condition
As of December 31, 2019, FLI’s total consolidated assets increased to ₱173.70 billion from the
₱158.86 billion balance as of December 31, 2018, an increase by ₱14.84 billion or by 9.34%. The
following are the material changes in account balances:
25.64% Decrease in Cash and cash equivalents
Although FLI’s operations yielded higher operating net cash inflows directly attributable to higher net
revenue, the total cash and cash equivalents declined as of December 31, 2019. The decline was due
to higher net cash outflows in investing activities related to the investment properties under
construction.
34.30% Increase in Contract assets and receivables
The increase is in line with the higher revenue for the year and higher mix of cash sales.
35.20% Increase in Other receivables
Increase is mainly due to higher receivables amounting ₱0.52 billion from the leasing segment
particularly CPI. Also, there was an overall increase in occupancy of FSI Mall Expansion, Fora Mall
and Main Square for the year.
7.13% Decrease in Real estate inventories
The decrease is mainly due to the reclassification of some portion of land and land development costs
related to the land located in Mandaluyong City and Cebu to investment property, pursuant to its
current plan for the project which is intended to be for leasing.
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13.27% Increase in Other current assets
The increase is mainly due to the increase in input taxes, creditable withholding taxes and cost to
obtain contract in 2019. The increase in cost to obtain contract was due to the higher commission
payments to brokers over what is due, as valued based on PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, adopted in 2018.
2.83% Increase in Investment in Associates
On December 26, 2019, CPI and FCI, wholly owned subsidiaries of FLI, entered into a Deed of
Assignment to sell its ownership in Pro-Excel to FAI. The sale resulted in a loss of control in ProExcel and deconsolidation by the Group. The disposal resulted to the accounting for FLI’s investment
of ₱18.50 million in Pro-excel from an investment in subsidiary to an associate.
As of December 31, 2018, investment in CTI amounting to ₱51.30 million was reported under “Other
noncurrent assets” due to pending SEC approval and issuance of amended articles of incorporation. In
2019, the 30% interest in CTI of FLI was classified as an investment in associate.
The investment in associate balance for FMI was also increased by ₱48.35 million upon adoption of
PFRS 16, Leases. The above increases were partly netted off by the lower equity in net earnings and
dividend declared for the year amounting to ₱401.53 million and ₱404.00 million, respectively, as
compared to 2018’s equity in net earnings and dividend declared amounting to ₱537.02 million and
₱678 million, respectively.
22.60% Increase in Investment property
The increase was mainly due to the additional construction costs of new buildings for office and
commercial lease amounting to ₱8.16 billion. These are primarily located in Northgate Cyberzone in
Alabang, Filinvest Mimosa, Makati City, Quezon City and Ortigas City.
14.20% Decrease in Property, plant and equipment
Apart from the annual depreciation of this asset, decrease is also attributable to the reclassification of
TSNC’s assets amounting to ₱0.78 billion to investment property after TSNC’s change in business
purpose from an exclusive recreational sports club to a profit commercial facility that accordingly
changes the use of the asset from an owner-occupied property to a property for lease.
Right-of-use assets and Lease liabilities
Effective January 1, 2019, the Group adopted PFRS 16 Leases, under the modified retrospective
approach which resulted in significant changes in the Group’s accounting policy for leases. This
resulted in the recognition of right of use assets amounting ₱5.40 billion and lease liability amounting
to ₱5.68 billion for the Group, as of January 1, 2019, and the recognition of depreciation expense of
₱0.14 billion and interest expense of ₱0.49 billion for the Group, for the year ended December 31,
2019.
39.01% Decrease in Deferred income tax assets
The decrease is mainly attributed to the decrease in NOLCO by some of FLI subsidiaries by ₱41.78
million.
5.59% Increase in Other noncurrent assets
The increase was mainly due to the ₱0.18 billion, net of depreciation, additional construction costs of
Filinvest Cebu Cyberzone (known as “BTO rights”) covered by the BTO agreement with the
Government of Cebu.
7.06% Increase in Accounts payable and accrued expenses
The increase is mainly due to ₱0.71 billion increase in payables to contractors and suppliers for the
construction activities.
45.41% Decrease in Contract liability
The decrease is mainly due to the higher contracts with buyers that qualified for revenue recognition
for the year consistent with the higher real estate sales.
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44.40% Decrease in Due to related parties
The decrease was due to payments of liabilities to affiliates for the Group’s share in expenses incurred
in the regular course of business. The remaining unpaid charges are expected to be paid or liquidated
within the following year.
30.95% Increase in Income tax payable
The increase was due to the higher taxable income for the year.
42.41% Increase in Loans payable
The increase in mainly due to the ₱15.4 billion newly availed loans offset by ₱4.84 billion
repayments.
19.95% Decrease in Bonds payable
Decrease in Bonds payable is mainly due to payment of ₱7.0 billion bond that matured in June 2019.
14.36 % Decrease in Retirement liabilities
The decrease was due to the ₱0.18 billion experience adjustment on the present value of defined
benefit obligation.
8.33% Increase in Deferred income tax liabilities
The increase is mainly attributed to the increased excess of real estate revenue based on financial
accounting policy over real estate revenue based on tax rules.
Performance Indicators
Earnings per Share - Basic¹
Earnings per Share - Diluted²
Debt to Equity Ratio
Debt Ratio
EBITDA to Total Interest Paid
Price Earnings Ratio³

2019
0.26
0.26
0.72
0.58
3.71
5.77

2018
0.24
0.24
0.89
0.58
3.12
5.88

¹ Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net income for the period attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
² Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number
of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
³ Closing price of share used is the latest closing stock rate per PSE Edge as at December 31, 2019 and 2018 of =
P 1.50 per
share and =
P 1.41 per share, respectively.

Other Disclosures
Aside from the possible material increase in interest rates of the outstanding long-term debts with
floating rates, there are no known trends, events or uncertainties or any material commitments that
may result to any cash flow or liquidity problems of FLI within the next 12 months. The Parent
Company is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing
arrangements requiring it to make payments, or any significant amount in its accounts payable that
have not been paid within the stated terms.
On known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have favorable
or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations of FLI, the
Covid-19 global pandemic which started to occur in the Philippines in January of 2020 and
accelerated by March has caused disruptions in the Company’s operations. On March 15, the
Philippine government implemented a “Community Quarantine” in Metro Manila. On March 17,
2020, the government expanded the scope with an “Enhanced Community Quarantine” in the entire
Luzon which effectively restricted movement and mandated the temporary closure of non-essential
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shops and businesses. The company expects that these developments are unfavorable to the
company’s overall financial performance as follows:
a. Decline in presales for both the domestic and the OFW market
b. Decline in revenues from our retail operations as a result of decline in foot traffic and temporary
suspension of mall operations except for outlets offering basic services like supermarkets, banks and
healthcare centers, as mandated by the government.
c. Delay in the completion of housing and office and retail buildings
d. Pre-leasing and occupancy of new buildings will be lower than expected
e. Some tenants might reduce or in worst case, pre-terminate space to adopt a work-from-home
scheme or other flexible working arrangements.
f. Possible cancellation of lease negotiations for either new space or expansion due to internal
business decision of the client.
Another event which occurred in the first quarter of 2020 is the Taal volcano eruption which affected
a few selected projects in the area. However, we don’t expect this to have a major impact on FLI’s
financial condition.
Except for income generated from retail leasing, there are no seasonal aspects that have a material
effect on FLI’s financial conditions or results of operations.
The operating activities of FLI are carried uniformly over the calendar year; there are no significant
elements of income or loss that did not arise from its continuing operations.
There are no known events that will trigger the settlement of a direct or contingent financial
obligation that is material to the Parent Company.
There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships to the Parent Company with unconsolidated entities or other
persons created during the reporting period, except those discussed.
The Group does not have any contingent liability or borrowings wherein financial assets were pledged
to secure payment nor does it have borrowings wherein properties were mortgaged to secure a loan.
Results of Operations for 2018
Year ended December 31, 2018 compared to year ended December 31, 2017
For the year ended December 31, 2018, FLI’s operating regular net income registered a year on year
growth of 4.14% or P241.69 million from ₱5,834.18 million in 2017 to ₱6,075.87 million in 2018.
Revenues and other income
Total consolidated revenues went up by ₱1,935.53 million or 9.55% from ₱20,269.65 million in 2017
to ₱22,205.19 million in 2018. Increase in revenue is attributable to increase in rental and related
services of 27.04% or ₱1,193.59 million, from ₱4,414.67 million in 2017 to ₱5,608.26 million in
2018. Filinvest Axis Tower 1, located in Northgate Cyberzone Alabang, Filinvest Cyberzone Cebu
Tower 2, located in Salinas, Cebu, Filinvest Cyberzone Mimosa Building 1 and 2 Workplus Building;
located in Mimosa Clark, and Filinvest Cyberzone Bay City Buildings A and D, located in Bay City,
Pasay City, have been completed bringing the total adding 136,564 sq.m. of GLA to theoffice
portfolio. FLI now operates 30 buildings totaling 484,564 sq.m. of GLA. For retail, FLI now has
242,127 sq.m. GLA to the retail portfolio.
Real estate sales increased by ₱655.77 million or by 4.77% from ₱13,748.42 million in 2017 to
₱14,404.20 million in 2018. Real estate sales booked during the current period broken down by
product type are as follows: Middle Income 70% (inclusive of MRB and HRB); Affordable 18%;
High-End 7%; Farm Estate 1%; Socialized and others 4%.
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Interest income increased by ₱41.99 million or by 4.49% from ₱935.30 million in 2017 to ₱977.29
million in 2018. The increase was due to higher interest income derived from cash and cash
equivalents and contracts receivable.
Other income decreased by ₱142.63 million or by 17.37% from ₱821.05 million in 2017 to ₱678.42
million in 2018. The decrease was due to lower income generated from forfeited reservations and
collections.
Costs and Expenses
Cost of real estate sales increased by ₱287.30 million or by 3.57% from ₱8,051.90 million in 2017 to
₱8,339.21 million in 2018. The increase was mainly due to increase in the amount of real estate sales
booked during the current period. Cost of rental services on the other hand, increased by ₱131.45
million or 13.16% from ₱999.06 million in 2017 to ₱1,130.51 million in 2018 basically due to
depreciation of newly completed investment properties.
Total operating expenses increased to ₱3,764.65 million in 2018 from ₱2,860.83 million in 2017.
General and administrative expenses increased by ₱442.93 million or by 23.57% to ₱2,322.06 million
in 2018 from ₱1,879.14 million in 2017. The increase was due to operating expenses related to
opening of new malls and BPO buildings for lease. Likewise, business permits and real property taxes
increased as a result of higher revenues and completion of more buildings during the year. Also
contributed to the increase were the higher salaries, wages and other benefits due to the full operation
of DPI and recognition of service fees for the service rendered by Engie O&M to PDDC. Selling and
marketing expenses increased by ₱460.90 million or by 46.95% from ₱981.69 million in 2017 to
₱1,442,59 million in 2018 mainly due to higher broker’s commission released during the year and
managed advertising costs.
Provision for Income Tax
Total provision for income tax increased by 16.53% from ₱1,460.98 million in 2017 to ₱1,702.51
million in 2018. Provision for current income tax increased to ₱1,029.49 million in 2018 from
₱705.04 million in 2017 or an increase of ₱324.46 million or by 46.02% due to higher taxable income
as a result of increased revenues
Provision for deferred income tax decreased by ₱82.92 million or by 10.97% from ₱755,94 million in
2017 to ₱673.02 million in 2018 due to temporary differences between financial and taxable income.

Financial Condition
As of December 31, 2018, FLI’s total consolidated assets stood at ₱158.86 billion, higher by 9.47%
or by ₱13.74 billion than the ₱145.12 billion total consolidated assets (as restated) as of December
31, 2017. The following are the material changes in account balances:
15.27% Decrease in Cash and cash equivalents
Net outflows of cash mainly came from acquisition of Gintong Parisukat Realty & Dev’t, Inc.
(GPRDI) amounting to ₱1.90 billion and ₱1.30 billion as initial down payment for the acquisition of
Cleon properties. Although the FLI’s operations yielded a consolidated total of ₱11.27 billion during
the year and new loan availments were made amounting to ₱5.50 billion, these were used mostly to
fund new investments and construction projects amounting to ₱13.00 billion and dividend paid
amounting to ₱1.50 billion.
37.05% Decrease in Contracts receivable
Contracts receivable decreased due to strong collections during the period. Majority of collections
came from middle-income projects.
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24.75% Increase in Other receivables
Increase is mainly due to higher receivables amounting ₱0.18 billion from CPI with the newly
awarded contract of lease to new tenants for Filinvest 3, Vector 3, Axis T1, Cebu T1 & T2. On the
other hand, FCI recorded an increase of ₱0.23 billion for new tenants of Filinvest Cyberzone Bay
City Tower A & D opened in 2018. An increase of occupancy rate of FSI Malls and Expansion was
also noted amounting to ₱0.09 billion from tenants and ₱0.05 billion receivable from newly operated
rental/ commercial spaces of FCMI and FLTI.
29.74% Increase in Real estate inventories
Inventories increased due to raw land acquisitions including acquisition of land in Mandaluyong City
amounting to ₱4.74 billion and ₱1.90 billion located in Paranaque City. Moreover, real estate
inventories accelerated spending on saleable real estate project costs.
15.53% Decrease in Other current assets
The decrease is mainly due to the adoption of PFRS 15, a new accounting standard effective in the
current fiscal year resulting to transition adjustment to commission expense from prepaid
commission amounting to ₱0.41 billion.
3.36% Decrease in Investment in Associates
The decrease in investment is due to receipt of dividends amounting to ₱0.68 billion reduced by the
share in net income from FAI and FMI amounting to ₱0.54 billion.
12.43% Increase in Investment property
The increase was mainly due to the additional construction costs of new buildings intended for office
and commercial buildings for lease with a consolidated total of ₱6.10 billion before depreciation
recorded for the year amounting to ₱0.63 billion. These are primarily located in Northgate
Cyberzone in Alabang, Filinvest Cyberzone in Pasay Bay Area, Filinvest Mimosa, Fora Mall in
Tagaytay, Main Square in Cavite, and Il Corso in Cebu.
12.46% Increase in Property, plant and equipment
The increase was primarily due to the ₱0.18 billion additional improvement made for DCS plant
(District Cooling System) which supplies the chilled water for the Northgate Cyberzone buildings as
well as the ₱0.34 billion for the acquisition of new field machineries and construction equipment for
Dreambuilders Pro, Inc.
76.71% Increase in Deferred tax assets
The increase was primarily due to additional advance rentals made amounting to ₱0.03 billion for new
office leases opened in Alabang and Clark during the year.
0.26% Decrease in Other noncurrent assets
The increase is mainly attributed to the construction costs of the Filinvest Cebu Cyberzone, classified
under non-current other assets pursuant to BTO agreement with the Government of Cebu amounting
to ₱0.06 billion, net of depreciation.
2.42% Increase in Accounts payable and accrued expenses
The increase is mainly due to ₱0.20 billion increase in payables to contractors and suppliers for the
construction activities.
220.66% Increase in Other Non-current liabilities
The increase in this account was mainly due to the accrual for the purchase of land in Mandaluyong
City amounting to ₱3.5 billion, additional reserve accounts due to ₱2.0 billion net increase in
additional budget set-up for the year.
7.04% Increase in Loans payable
The increase in mainly due to the ₱5.5 billion newly availed loans offset by ₱3.87 billion repayments.
0.17% Increase in Bonds payable
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The increase was due to bond issuance of ₱6.0 billion during the year by CPI, a 100% subsidiary of
FLI.
9.05% Decrease in Due to related parties
The decrease was due to payments of the liability to affiliates for the Group’s share in expenses
incurred in the regular course of business. The remaining unpaid charges are expected to be paid or
liquidated within the following year.
15.54 Increase in Retirement liabilities
The increase was due to the accrual of current service cost and interest cost on the retirement fund for
the year.
13.46% Increase in Deferred Income Tax Liabilities
The increase was mainly due to the additional capitalized borrowing cost on long-term loans
amounting to ₱0.46 billion and other temporary differences between financial and taxable income.
Performance Indicators
Earnings per Share - Basic¹
Earnings per Share - Diluted²
Debt to Equity Ratio
Debt Ratio
EBITDA to Total Interest Paid
Price Earnings Ratio³

2018
0.24
0.24
0.89
0.58
3.12
5.88

2017
0.20
0.20
0.91
0.56
3.07
8.02

¹ Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net income for the period attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.
² Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net income attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period plus the weighted average number
of ordinary shares that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.
³ Closing price of share used is the latest closing stock rate per PSE Edge as at December 31, 2018 and 2017 of =
P 1.41 per
share and =
P 1.88 per share, respectively.

Other Disclosures
Aside from the possible material increase in interest rates of the outstanding long-term debts with
floating rates, there are no known trends, events or uncertainties or any material commitments that
may result to any cash flow or liquidity problems of FLI within the next 12 months. The Parent
Company is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing
arrangements requiring it to make payments, or any significant amount in its accounts payable that
have not been paid within the stated terms.
There are no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have
favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations of
FLI.
Except for income generated from retail leasing, there are no seasonal aspects that have a material
effect on FLI’s financial conditions or results of operations.
The operating activities of FLI are carried uniformly over the calendar year; there are no significant
elements of income or loss that did not arise from its continuing operations.
There are no known events that will trigger the settlement of a direct or contingent financial
obligation that is material to the Parent Company.
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There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships to the Parent Company with unconsolidated entities or other
persons created during the reporting period, except those discussed.
The Group does not have any contingent liability or borrowings wherein financial assets were pledged
to secure payment nor does it have borrowings wherein properties were mortgaged to secure a loan.
Other Disclosures
Aside from the possible material increase in interest rates of the outstanding long-term debts with
floating rates, there are no known trends, events or uncertainties or any material commitments that
may result to any cash flow or liquidity problems of FLI within the next 12 months. The Parent
Company is not in default or breach of any note, loan, lease or other indebtedness or financing
arrangements requiring it to make payments, or any significant amount in its accounts payable that
have not been paid within the stated terms.
There are no known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have
favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing operations of
FLI.
Except for income generated from retail leasing, there are no seasonal aspects that have a material
effect on FLI’s financial conditions or results of operations.
The operating activities of FLI are carried uniformly over the calendar year; there are no significant
elements of income or loss that did not arise from its continuing operations.
There are no known events that will trigger the settlement of a direct or contingent financial
obligation that is material to the Parent Company.
There are no off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations (including contingent
obligations), and other relationships to the Parent Company with unconsolidated entities or other
persons created during the reporting period, except those discussed.
The Group does not have any contingent liability or borrowings wherein financial assets were pledged
to secure payment nor does it have borrowings wherein properties were mortgaged to secure a loan.
Major Risk Factors
There are major risk factors that may affect the Parent Company or its operations. Property values in
the Philippines are influenced by the general supply and demand of real estate as well as political and
economic developments in the country. In the event new supply exceeds demand as a result of
economic uncertainty or slower growth, political instability, or increased interest rates, the financial
condition and results of operations of FLI will be materially affected.
Demand for, and prevailing prices of, developed land and house and lot units are directly related to
the strength of the Philippine economy (including overall growth levels and interest rates), the overall
levels of business activity in the Philippines and the amount of remittances received from overseas
Filipino workers (“OFWs”). Demand for the Parent Company’s housing and land developments is
also affected by social trends and changing spending patterns in the Philippines, which in turn are
influenced by economic, political and security conditions in the Philippines. The residential housing
industry is cyclical and is sensitive to changes in general economic conditions in the Philippines such
as levels of employment, consumer confidence and income, availability of financing for property
acquisitions, construction and mortgages, interest rate levels, inflation and demand for housing.
The demand for the Parent Company’s projects from OFWs and expatriate Filipinos may decrease as
a result of the following possibilities, i.e. reduction in the number of OFWs, the amount of their
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remittances and the purchasing power of expatriate Filipinos. Factors such as economic performance
of the countries and regions where OFWs are deployed, changes in Government regulations such as
taxation on OFWs’ income, and, imposition of restrictions by the Government/other countries on the
deployment of OFWs may also affect the demand for housing requirements.
There are risks that some projects may not attract sufficient demand from prospective buyers thereby
affecting anticipated sales. Stringent government requirements for approvals and permits of new
projects may take substantial amount of time and resources. In addition, the time and the costs
involved in completing the development and construction of residential projects can be adversely
affected by many factors, including unstable prices and supply of materials and equipment and labor,
adverse weather conditions, peso depreciation, natural disasters, labor disputes with contractors and
subcontractors, accidents, changes in laws or in Government priorities and other unforeseen problems
or circumstances. Further, the failure by the Parent Company to substantially complete construction of
a project to its planned specifications or schedule may result in contractual liabilities to purchasers
and lower returns.
The Parent Company’s cost of sales is affected by volatility in the price of construction materials such
as lumber, steel and cement. While the Parent Company, as a matter of policy, attempts to fix the cost
of materials component in its construction contracts, in cases where demand for steel, lumber and
cement are high or when there are shortages in supply, the contractors the Parent Company hires for
construction or development work may be compelled to raise their contract prices. As a result, rising
cost of any construction materials will impact the Parent Company’s construction costs, and the price
for its products. Any increase in prices resulting from higher construction costs could adversely affect
demand for the Parent Company’s products and the relative affordability of such products as
compared to competitors’ products. This could reduce the Parent Company’s real estate sales.
The Parent Company is also exposed to risks associated with the ownership and operation of its
investment properties. Financial performance of the Parent Company’s leasing segment, could be
affected by a number of factors, including:
11. the national and international economic climate;
12. changes in the demand for call center and other BPO operations as well as gaming operations
in the Philippines and around the world;
13. trends in the Philippine retail industry, insofar as retail malls are concerned;
14. changes in laws and governmental regulations in relation to real estate, including those
governing usage, zoning, environment, taxes and government charges;
15. the inability to collect rent due to bankruptcy of tenants or otherwise;
16. competition for tenants;
17. changes in market rental rates;
18. the need to periodically renovate, repair and re-let space and the costs thereof;
19. the quality and strategy of management; and,
20. FLI’s ability to provide adequate maintenance and insurance.
(c) On known trends, events or uncertainties that have had or are reasonably expected to have
favorable or unfavorable impact on net sales or revenues or income from continuing
operations of FLI, the Covid-19 global pandemic which started to occur in the Philippines in
January of 2020 and accelerated by March has caused disruptions in the Company’s
operations. On March 15, the Philippine government implemented a “Community
Quarantine” in Metro Manila. On March 16, 2020, the government expanded the scope with
an “Enhanced Community Quarantine” in the entire Luzon which effectively restricted
movement and mandated the temporary closure of non-essential shops and businesses. The
company expects that these developments are unfavorable to the company’s overall financial
performance as follows:
7. Decline in presales for both the domestic and the OFW market
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8. Decline in revenues from our retail operations as a result of decline in foot traffic and
temporary suspension of mall operations except for outlets offering basic services like
supermarkets, banks and healthcare centers, as mandated by the government.
9. Delay in the completion of housing and office and retail buildings
10. Pre-leasing and occupancy of new buildings will be lower than expected
11. Some tenants might reduce or in worst case, pre-terminate space to adopt a work-from-home
scheme or other flexible working arrangements.
Possible cancellation of lease negotiations for either new space or expansion due to internal business
decision of the client.
Item 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANT ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
SyCip, Gorres, Velayo & Co (SGV) has been the duly appointed independent auditors for the years
covered by this report.
SGV has been recommended for election as external auditor for the year 2020. FLI, in compliance
with SRC Rule 68(3)(b)(iv) relative to the seven-year rotation requirement of its external auditors, has
designated Ms. Wanessa Salvador as its engagement partner starting CY 2020. Thus, Ms. Salvador is
qualified to act as such until year 2024. The representatives of SGV are expected to be present at the
annual meeting where they will have the opportunity to make a statement if they desire to do so.
They are expected to be available to respond to appropriate questions at the meeting.
There has been no disagreement with FLI’s independent accountants on any matter of accounting
principles or practices, financial statement disclosure, or auditing scope or procedure.
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PART III – CONTROL AND COMPENSATION INFORMATION
Item 9. DIRECTORS AND PRINCIPAL OFFICERS
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Chairman of the Board

Mr. Gotianun, 67, Filipino, was first elected as a Director of FLI on 17 June
1994. He also serves as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of FDC and EW,
both publicly-listed companies. He is also the President of Davao Sugar Central
Co., Inc. and Cotabato Sugar Central Co., Inc., and the Chairperson of the Board
of Directors of FDC Utilities, Inc. (“FDCUI”) and its subsidiary power
companies. He served as Director and Senior Vice President of Family Bank &
Trust Co. until 1984. He obtained his Master’s Degree in Business
Administration from Northwestern University in 1976.

Lourdes Josephine
Gotianun-Yap
Director, President and
Chief Executive
Officer

Mrs. Yap, 65, Filipino, was first elected as a Director of FLI on 24 November
1989. Mrs. Yap, who was elected as the President and CEO of FLI on 31
October 2012, is also a Director and the President and CEO of FDC, a publiclylisted company, and a Director in FDCUI, Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (“FAI”),
Cyberzone Properties, Inc. (“CPI”) and EW, a publicly-listed company. She
obtained her Master’s Degree in Business Administration from the University of
Chicago in 1977.

Mercedes T. Gotianun
Chairperson Emerita

Mrs. Gotianun, 92, Filipino, served as a Director of FLI from 1989 to 2019 and
its Chief Executive Officer from 1997 to 2007. She also served as a Director of
FDC from 1980 to 2019. She is also a Director EW, a publicly-listed company,
and a Director in Filinvest Alabang, Inc. (“FAI”), Pacific Sugar Holdings
Corporation (“PSHC”), FDC Utilities, Inc. (“FDCUI”) and its subsidiary power
companies. She obtained her college degree from the University of the
Philippines.

Michael Edward T.
Gotianun
Director

Mr. Gotianun, 63, Filipino, was first elected as a Director of FLI on 08 May
2015. He is also a Director of FDC, a publicly-listed company, FAI and Festival
Supermall, Inc. He served as the general manager of Filinvest Technical
Industries from 1987 to 1990 and as loans officer at Family Bank from 1979 to
1984. He obtained his Bachelor’s Degree in Business Management from the
University of San Francisco in 1979.

Efren C. Gutierrez
Director

Mr. Gutierrez, 85, Filipino, was a Director of FLI from 1994 to 2001, and was
reelected to FLI’s Board in 2006. He was first elected as a Director of FLI on 17
June 1994. He served as the President of FAI from 1999 to 2005. He is currently
the Chairperson of the Board of The Palms Country Club, Inc. (“TPCCI”) He is
not a Director of any other publicly-listed company. He obtained his Bachelor of
Laws degree from the University of the Philippines.

Francis Nathaniel C.
Gotianun
Director

Mr. Gotianun, 36, Filipino, was first elected as a director of FLI on 22 April
2016. He is the Senior Vice President of Filinvest Hospitality Corporation, a
subsidiary of FDC, the primary role of which is to evaluate, plan, develop and
optimize potential and current hospitality investments of the Filinvest Company.
He serves as a director of Filinvest Mimosa, Inc. and as the President and CEO
of TPCCI. He is not a Director of any other publicly-listed company. He
obtained his Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from the University of Virginia in
2005 and his Master’s in Business Administration degree in IESE Business
School – University of Navarra in 2010.

Nelson M. Bona
Director

Mr. Bona, 70, Filipino, was first elected as a director of FLI on 11 June 2020.
He is also director of FDC and EW. He is also the Executive Vice President and
CFO of Filinvest Development Corporation. He was formerly the CFO of FLI,
Executive Vice President of EW and Managing Director of Millenia Broadband
Communications and Filinvest Capital Inc.

Francis Nathaniel C.
Gotianun
Director

Mr. Gotianun, 37, Filipino, was first elected as a director of FLI on 22 April
2016. He is the Senior Vice-President of Filinvest Hospitality Corporation, a
subsidiary of FDC, the primary role of which is to evaluate, plan, develop and
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optimize potential and current hospitality investments of the Filinvest Group. He
serves as a director of Filinvest Mimosa, Inc. and as the President and CEO of
TPCCI. He is not a Director of any other publicly-listed company. He obtained
his Bachelor’s Degree in Commerce from the University of Virginia in 2005 and
his Master’s in Business Administration degree in IESE Business School –
University of Navarra in 2010.
Val Antonio B. Suarez
Lead Independent Director

Mr. Suarez, 62, Filipino, was first elected as an independent director of FLI on
08 May 2015. He is also an independent director of FDC and Lepanto
Consolidated Mining Company, both publicly-listed companies. He is also an
independent director of CPI. He is the Managing Partner of the Suarez & Reyes
Law Offices and was the former President and Chief Executive Officer of The
Philippine Stock Exchange. Mr. Suarez is a member of the Integrated Bar of the
Philippines (Makati Chapter) and New York Bar. He obtained his Bachelor of
Laws degree from the Ateneo de Manila University School of Law and a Master
of Laws degree from Georgetown University Law Center.

Ernesto S. De Castro
Independent Director

Mr. De Castro, 74, Filipino, was first elected as an independent director of FLI
on 22 April 2019. He is the President of ESCA, Incorporated since July 1993 and
a former member consultant of the Dispute Adjudication Agreement of the
Millenium Challenge Account. He is not a Director of any other publicly-listed
company. He graduated from the University of the Philippines Diliman in 1967
with a bachelor’s degree in Civil Engineering and obtained his Masters of
Engineering in the same university in 1968. He obtained Doctor of Philosophy in
Civil Engineering (Major in Structures) in Lehigh University in 1975.

Gemilo J. San Pedro
Independent Director

Mr. San Pedro, 66, Filipino, was first elected as an independent director of FLI
on 17 July 2019. He has 38 years of experience in public accounting and
business advisory services. Prior to his retirement on June 30, 2015, he served
various leadership roles at SyCip Gorres Velayo & Co. (SGV & Co.). He was a
partner in SGV & Co. from 1991 to 2015 and Professional Practice Director and
Quality and Risk Management Leader from 2004 to 2015. He is not a Director of
any other publicly-listed company. He finished his Bachelor of Science in
Commerce-Major in Accounting degree at Rizal Memorial Colleges, Davao
City, in 1976. He obtained his Master of Business Administration, concentration
in Finance and International Business, at the Graduate School of Business, New
York University, (now Stern Graduate School) USA, in 1983.

Ana Venus A. Mejia
First Senior Vice President,
Treasurer, Chief Finance
Officer and Compliance
Officer

Ms. Mejia, 55, Filipino, has been with the Filinvest Company for 25 years and
has served the Company in various capacities. She concurrently serves as
CFO/Treasurer of FAI, FSI, FAC, CPI. She is a Certified Public Accountant and
a magna cum laude graduate of Pamantasan ng Lungsod ng Maynila. She
obtained her Master’s Degree from the Kellogg School of Management of
Northwestern University and the School of Business and Management at the
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology.

Sharon P. PagalingRefuerzo
Corporate Secretary and
Corporate Information
Officer

Atty. Pagaling-Refuerzo, 41, Filipino is concurrently Senior Assistant Vice
President of the Corporate Advisory Services of the Legal Department of FLI.
She is also the Corporate Secretary of FDC, CPI, TPCCI and Timberland Sports
and Nature Club, Inc., as well as Corporate Secretary of various companies of
the Company. Admitted to the Philippine Bar in 2006, she holds an A.B.
Philosophy degree, cum laude, from the University of the Philippines and a law
degree from San Beda College.

Tristaneil Las Marias
Executive Vice President
and Chief Strategy Officer

Mr. Las Marias, 46, Filipino, is the Executive Vice President and Chief Strategy
Officer of FLI. He started in 1997 as Head of Regional Projects and went on to
hold a higher position as Senior Vice President and Cluster Head for Visayas and
Mindanao projects as well as Southwest and Central Luzon. He obtained his
Bachelor of Arts, Major in Management Economics degree from Ateneo de
Manila University.
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Vince Lawrence Abejo
First Senior Vice President
and Chief Sales and
Marketing Officer

Mr. Abejo, 48, Filipino, is the Chief Sales and Marketing Officer of FLI. He has
twenty-two (22) years combined experience in sales and marketing, strategy and
corporate affairs and general management. He has held various key marketing
positions in the real estate industry as well as across different industries –
FMCG, telecoms, tobacco and healthcare and geographies (Philippines,
Switzerland, Malaysia and Vietnam). He graduated from the University of the
Philippines (Diliman), with a degree in BS Administration in 1994 and
completed an Advanced Management Program from Harvard Business School in
2012.

Joselito Fontejon Santos
Senior Vice President and
Head of Retail and Mixed
Use Business

Mr. Santos, 56, Filipino, is the Head of High Rise Buildings (HRB), Niche
Market, Mixed Use and Retail Business. Prior to joining Filinvest, he worked
with several property developers such as Ortigas & Co., Ayala Land, Rockwell,
Moldex, and a subsidiary of a Malaysian conglomerate. He graduated from De
La Salle University with a degree in Bachelor of Science in Mechanical
Engineering in 1984 and a Master’s degree in Business Management from the
Asian Institute of Management in 1990.

Francis V. Ceballos
Senior Vice President and
Head of the
Industrial/Logistics
Business

Mr. Ceballos, 55, Filipino, joined FLI last 2010 and is currently the Senior Vice
President and Business Group Head focusing on Northeast Luzon areas. He
graduated from Ateneo de Manila University with a degree in Management
Engineering and obtained his MBA from the Asian Institute of Management.

Winnifred H. Lim
Senior Vice President and
Chief Technical Planning
Officer

Engr. Lim, 56, Filipino, is the Senior Vice President and Chief Technical
Planning Officer of FLI. He started as the company’s Engineering Head last
2000 and currently leads Engineering, Architecture, Planning and Design,
Survey, and Special Projects. He obtained his Master’s Degree in Structural
Engineering at the University of the Philippines Diliman.

Edgardo C. Raymundo
Chief Audit Executive

Mr. Raymundo, 58, is the Chief Audit Executive of FLI. A certified public
accountant (CPA), Mr. Raymundo was previously a Senior Auditor of PepsiCola Distributors. Prior to that, he was a Senior Auditor of SGV and Co. He
obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Accountancy from the Polytechnic University
of the Philippines.

Harriet Joan C. Ducepec
Chief Risk Officer

Ms. Ducepec, 55, Filipino, is First Vice President and Chief Risk Officer of FLI.
She has been with the Filinvest Group for 24 years, joining in October 1996 as
Assistant Vice President and Head of Corporate Planning and Market Research.
She is currently First Vice President and Chief of Staff and Head of the
Executive Management Staff under the Office of the President and CEO. She has
over 30 years of experience in corporate planning in both real estate and banking
industries. Prior to joining Filinvest, she worked with ASB Realty, United
Coconut Planters Bank, Union Bank of the Philippines, and International
Corporate Bank. She obtained her Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics, cum
laude, from the University of the Philippines Diliman and completed the
Strategic Business Economics Program from the University of Asia and the
Pacific.

Melissa C. Ortiz
Investor Relations Officer

Ms. Ortiz, 50, Filipino, is the Investor Relations Officer of FLI. She was
previously head of investor relations for ABS-CBN Corporation, head of
corporate and financial planning for Nutriasia, Inc., and head of financial
planning and investor relations for MERALCO. She is a Certified Public
Accountant. She obtained her Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration
from the University of the Philippines and obtained her Master’s Degree in
Business Administration and Master of Science degree in Computational
Finance from De La Salle University.
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The members of the Nomination Committee of FLI are Efren C. Gutierrez (Chair), Lourdes Josephine
Gotianun Yap, Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director), Gemilo S. San Pedro (Independent
Director) and Rizalangela L. Reyes. Ms. Reyes sits in the committee in an ex-officio capacity as the
head of FLI’s Human Resources Department.
The Audit and Risk Management Oversight Committee of FLI is composed of Gemilo S. San Pedro
(Chair/Independent Director), Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director), Jonathan T. Gotianun
and Efren C. Gutierrez.
The directors of FLI are elected at the annual stockholders’ meeting to hold office for one (1) year and
until their respective successors have been duly appointed or elected and qualified. Officers and
committee members are appointed or elected by the Board of Directors typically at its first meeting
following the annual stockholders’ meeting, each to hold office until his successor shall have been
duly elected or appointed and qualified.
There is no person who is not an executive officer of the Parent Company who is expected to make a
significant contribution to the business. The Parent Company, however, engages the regular services
of consultants. At December 31, 2019, the Parent Company had 7 consultants in the area of business
development, marketing, planning and design and construction management.
Except as discussed in section 1.10, there are no transactions or any proposed transactions during the
last two years, to which the Parent Company was or is to be a party, in which any director or officer,
any nominee for election as a director, any security holder or any member of the immediate family or
any of the persons mentioned in the foregoing had or is to have a direct or indirect material interest.
Involvement in Certain Legal Proceedings of Directors and Executive Officers
Except for the following cases, none of the members of FLI’s Board nor its executive officers are
involved in any major criminal, bankruptcy or insolvency investigations or proceedings for the past
five years and up to December 31, 2020, nor have they been found by judgment or decree to have
violated securities or commodities laws and enjoined from engaging in any business, securities,
commodities or banking activities: (a) criminal cases filed in 2007 before the DOJ in I.S. Nos. 2007001 and 2007-011 and which were dismissed by the DOJ on 26 March 2009 and 07 April 2009,
respectively; (b) criminal complaints in the Prosecutor’s Office (filed against certain FLI officers)
arising from alleged unlawful collection and application of subdivision dues and other charges being
collected by a homeowners’ association which was dismissed on 23 January 2012, and (c) the
complaint for estafa filed by Manila Paper Mills International, Inc. (“MPMII”) with the Office of the
City Prosecutor of Dasmariñas, Cavite against certain directors and an officer of FLI, which was
dismissed, although MPMII filed a Petition for Review before the Secretary of Justice
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Item 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The aggregate compensation paid or incurred during the last two fiscal years and the estimate for this
year are as follows:
(a)
Name and Principal Position

Lourdes Josephine Gotianun
Yap
(President and Chief Executive
Officer)
Tristaneil D. Las Marinas
(Executive Vice President, Chief
Strategy Officer)
Ana Venus A. Mejia
(First Senior Vice President,
Property Business Chief
Finance Officer, Treasurer and
Compliance Officer)
Francis V. Ceballos
(Senior Vice President)
Vince Lawrence L. Abejo
(First Senior Vice President,
Chief Sales and Marketing
Officer)
CEO and top four (4) highest
compensated officers

(b)
Year

(c)
Salary
(Php)

(d)
Bonus
(Php)

(e)
Other
Annual
Compensation

2021 26.87Mn
Estimated
2020
26.09Mn

2.05Mn

-

28.92Mn

1.99Mn

-

28.08Mn

23.31Mn

8.38Mn

-

31.69Mn

2021 21.80Mn
Estimated
2020
21.17Mn
2019
17.23Mn

1.78Mn

-

23.58Mn

1.73Mn
4.39Mn

-

22.90Mn
21.62Mn

2019
All officers and directors as a group
unnamed

TOTAL

Non-executive director and independent directors receive a per diem of Php50,000.00 for every
stockholders’, Board and Board Committee meeting attended. For the year 2020, the total per diem
for each of the non-executive director and independent directors is as follows:
Name of Director

Amount (in Php)

Jonathan T. Gotianun*
Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-Yap*
Michael Edward T. Gotianun*
Nelson M. Bona*
Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun*
Efren C. Gutierrez

800,000

Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director)

900,000

Ernesto S. De Castro

(Independent Director)

550,000

Gemilo J. San Pedro

(Independent Director)

900,000

Total

------

3,150,000

* These directors do not receive per diem in their capacity as directors of the Company.
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Other than as discussed in the Information Statement, there are no other existing arrangements for the
payment of compensation or remuneration to the directors in their capacity as such, but the Company
may, without any obligation, grant additional compensation if certain performance driven goals are
met, subject to such approvals as may be required by law.
There are no outstanding warrants or options held by the Company’s CEO, the above-named
executive officers, and all officers and directors as a group which are subject to the approval by the
stockholders at the annual stockholders’ meeting.
There is no action to be taken at the annual meeting of the stockholders on 23 April 2021 with respect
to any bonus, profit sharing or other compensation plan, contract or arrangement, and pension or
retirement plan, in which any director, nominee for election as a director, or executive officer of FLI
will participate. Neither is there any proposed grant or extension to any such persons of any option,
warrant or right to purchase any securities of FLI.

Item 11. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

11.1. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners as of December 31, 2020:
Title of Class of
Securities
Preferred

Common

Name/ Address of Record
Owner and Relationship with
FLI
Filinvest Development
Corporation1
The Beaufort, 5th Avenue corner
23rd Street, Bonifacio Global
City, Taguig City, Metro Manila
Filinvest Development
Corporation
The Beaufort, 5th Avenue corner
23rd Street, Bonifacio Global
City, Taguig City, Metro Manila

Name of Beneficial
Owner/Relationshi
p with Record
Owner
Same as the Record
Owner

Citizenship

No. of Shares
Held

% of
Ownership

Filipino

8,000,000,000

100%

Same as the Record
Owner

Filipino

15,681,457,022

64.67%

Common

PCD Nominee Corporation
(Filipino)
G/F, Philippine Stock Exchange
Tower, Ayala Avenue, Makati
City

(No single
shareholder owns at
least 5% of total
shares)

Filipino

4,460,284,165

18.39%

Common

PCD Nominee Corporation
(Non-Filipino)
G/F, Philippine Stock Exchange
Tower, Ayala Avenue, Makati
City

Invesco Hong Kong
Limited (more than
5%)

NonFilipino

3,787,795,590

15.62%

Total number of shares of all record and beneficial owners as a group is 8,000,000,000 preferred shares
representing 100% of the total outstanding preferred shares, and 24,249,759,506 common shares
representing 100% of the total outstanding common shares.
Ms. Josephine G. Yap is usually appointed by Filinvest Development Corporation (“FDC”) as its
representative with authority to vote FDC’s shares in stockholders’ meetings of FLI.
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11.2. Security Ownership of Management as of December 31, 2020

Title of Class
of Securities

Name

Nature of
Ownership

Amount
1
0
7,694,934
24,577,345
61
225,376
11,235,928
0
13,083
0
32,518
0
1
0
1
0
1
0
1
0
4,064,940
0
0
200,000

Common

Mercedes T. Gotianun

Common

Lourdes Josephine Gotianun Yap

Common

Jonathan T. Gotianun

Common

Michael Edward T. Gotianun

Common

Efren C. Gutierrez

Common

Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun

Common

Nelson M. Bona

Common

Val Antonio B. Suarez

Common

Ernesto S. De Castro

Common

Gemilo J. San Pedro

Common

Luis L. Fernandez

Common

Ana Venus A. Mejia

N.A.

Tristaneil D. Las Marias

0

N.A.

Vince Lawrence Abejo

0

N.A.

Francis V. Ceballos

0

N.A.

Joselito Fontejon Santos

0

Common

Winnifred H. Lim

N.A.

Reynaldo Juanito S. Nieva II

0

N.A.

Alexis Avalone Ojeda

0

0
1,026,563

D=Direct;
I=Indirect
D
I
D*
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I
D
I

Citizenship

Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino
Filipino

Percentage of
Ownership
0.0000%
0.0000%
0.0317%
0.1014%
0.0000%
0.0009%
0.0463%
0.0000%
0.0001%
0.0000%
0.0001%
0.0000%

Filipino

0.0000%

Filipino

0.0000%

Filipino

0.0000%

Filipino

0.0000%

Filipino

0.0168%
0.0000%

Filipino

0.0008%

Filipino

N.A.

Filipino

N.A.

Filipino

N.A.

Filipino

N.A.

Filipino

0.0000%
0.0042%

Filipino

N.A.

Filipino

N.A.

* Includes shares of stock in Filinvest Land, Inc. under the name Joseph &/or Josephine Yap

Total ownership of all directors and officers as a group as of 22 March 2021 is 0.20% of the total
issued and outstanding common shares of stock.
No person holds more than 5% of the common stock under a voting trust or similar agreement. There
has been no change in control of FLI since the beginning of last year. There were no matters
submitted to a vote of the security holders during the fourth quarter of the calendar year covered by
this report.
11.3. Voting Trust Holders of 5% or more
There are no persons holding 5% or more of a class of shares under any voting trust or similar
agreement.
11.4. Changes in Control
There are no arrangements that may result in change in control of the Parent Company.
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Item 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries, in their normal course of business, have certain related party
transactions with affiliates principally consisting of advances and intercompany charges.
Please refer to the Detailed Discussion on the Parent Company’s Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures,
Affiliate and Related Party Transactions in Section 1.3, 1.4, 1.5 and 1.10, respectively.

PART lV – COMPLIANCE WITH LEADING PRACTICES ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Item 13. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Compliance with Best Practices on Corporate Governance
For the year 2020, FLI substantially complied with the Philippine Stock Exchange (PSE) and the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) regulatory requirements. It is also in compliance with its
Revised Manual for Corporate Governance. In particular, your Company wishes to highlight the
following: (a) the election of three (3) independent directors to the Board; (b) the appointment of
members of the Executive Committee, the Audit and Risk Management Oversight Committee, the
Nominations Committee, the Compensation Committee, the Technical Committee and the RelatedParty Transaction and Corporate Governance Committee; (c) the conduct of regular quarterly board
meetings and special meetings, the faithful attendance of the directors at these meetings and their
proper discharge of duties and responsibilities as such directors; (d) the adoption of the Related Party
Transaction Policy; (e) the submission to the SEC of reports and disclosures required under the
Securities Regulation Code; (f) FLI’s adherence to national and local laws pertaining to its operations;
and (g) the observance of applicable accounting standards by FLI.
In order to keep abreast of best practices in Corporate Governance, the members of the Board and top
management have attended seminars on corporate governance initiated by duly accredited institutions.
FLI constantly reviews its Corporate Governance practices and welcomes proposals, especially from
institutions and entities such as the SEC, PSE and the Institute of Corporate Directors.
Board of Directors
Leading the practice of good Corporate Governance is the Board of Directors. Your Board of
Directors is firmly committed to the adoption of and compliance with the best practices in Corporate
Governance as well as the observance of all relevant laws, regulations and ethical business practices.
Nominations and Voting for the Board of Directors
The members of the Board are elected during the annual stockholders’ meeting. The stockholders of
FLI may nominate individuals to be members of the Board of Directors.
The Nomination Committee receives nominations for independent directors as may be submitted by
the stockholders. After the deadline for the submission thereof, the Nomination Committee meets to
consider the qualifications as well as grounds for disqualification, if any, of the nominees based on the
criteria set forth in FLI’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance and the Securities Regulation
Code. All nominations shall be signed by the nominating stockholders together with the acceptance
and conformity by the would-be nominees. The Nomination Committee shall then prepare a Final List
of Candidates enumerating the nominees who passed the screening. The name of the person or group
of persons who recommends nominees as independent directors shall be disclosed along with his or
their relationship with such nominees.
Only nominees whose names appear on the Final List of Candidates shall be eligible for election as
independent directors. No other nomination shall be entertained after the Final List of Candidates
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shall have been prepared. No further nomination shall be entertained or allowed on the floor during
the annual meeting.
The conduct of the election of independent directors shall be in accordance with FLI’s Manual on
Corporate Governance. In 2008, FLI filed with the SEC its application for the amendment of the bylaws to include the procedure that will govern the nomination and election of independent directors.
This procedure is consistent with FLI’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance and Rule 38 of the
Securities Regulation Code. The approval by the Commission on said application was issued on
April 8, 2009. The power of the Board to amend the By-Laws has been delegated by the stockholders
representing two-thirds (2/3) of FLI’s outstanding capital stock in an annual meeting of said
stockholders on May 27, 1994.
It shall be the responsibility of the Chairman of the annual meeting to inform all stockholders in
attendance of the mandatory requirement of electing independent directors. He shall ensure that
independent directors are elected during the annual meeting. Specific slots for independent directors
shall not be filled up by unqualified nominees. In case of failure of election for independent directors,
the Chairman of the meeting shall call a separate election during the same meeting to fill up the
vacancy.
A stockholder may vote such number of shares for as many persons as there are directors to be
elected. He may cumulate said shares and give one candidate as many votes as the number of
directors to be elected multiplied by the number of his shares, or he may distribute them on the same
principle among as many candidates as he shall see fit; Provided, that the total number of votes cast
by him shall not exceed the number of shares owned by him as shown in the books of FLI multiplied
by the whole number of directors to be elected.
The directors of FLI are elected at the annual stockholders’ meeting, to hold office until their
respective successors have been duly appointed or elected and qualified. Vacancies in the Board
occurring mid-term are filled as provided in the Corporation Code and FLI’s Revised Manual on
Corporate Governance. Officers and committee members are appointed or elected by the Board of
Directors typically at its first meeting following the annual stockholders’ meeting, each to hold office
until his successor shall have been duly elected or appointed and qualified.
Independent Directors
Before the annual meeting, a stockholder of FLI may nominate individuals to be independent
directors, taking into account the following guidelines:
A. “Independent director” means a person who, apart from his fees and shareholdings, is
independent of management and free from any business or other relationship which could, or
could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with his exercise of independent judgement
in carrying out his responsibilities as director in any corporation that meets the requirements of
Section 17.2 of the Securities Regulation Code and includes, among others, any person who:
i.

Is not a director or officer or substantial stockholder of FLI or of its related companies or any
of its substantial shareholders (other than as an independent director of any of the foregoing);

ii. Is not a relative of any director, officer or substantial stockholder of FLI, any of its related
companies or any of its substantial shareholders. For this purpose, “relative” includes spouse,
parent, child, brother, sister, and the spouse of such child, brother or sister;
iii. Is not acting as a nominee or representative of a substantial shareholder of FLI, any of its
related companies or any of its substantial shareholders;
iv. Has not been employed in an executive capacity by FLI, any of its related companies or any
of its substantial shareholders within the last two (2) years;

55

v. Is not related as a professional adviser of FLI, any of its related companies or any of its
substantial shareholders within the last two (2) years, either personally or through his firm;
vi. Has not engaged and does not engage in any transaction with FLI or any of its related
companies or any of its substantial shareholders, whether by himself or with other persons or
through a firm of which he is a partner or a company of which he is a director or substantial
shareholder, other than transactions which are conducted at arms-length and are immaterial
or insignificant.
B. When used in relation to FLI, subject to the requirements above:
i.

“Related company” means another company which is: (a) its holding company, (b) its
subsidiary, or (c) a subsidiary of its holding company; and

ii. “Substantial shareholder” means any person who is directly or indirectly the beneficial owner
of more than ten percent (10%) of any class of its equity security.
C. An independent director of FLI shall have the following qualifications:
i.

He shall have at least one (1) share of stock of FLI;

ii. He shall be at least a college graduate or he shall have been engaged in or exposed to the
business of FLI for at least five (5) years;
iii. He shall possess integrity/probity; and
iv. He shall be assiduous.
D. No person enumerated under Part II, Item A, Par. 8 of the Revised Manual of Corporate
Governance shall qualify as an independent director. He shall likewise be disqualified during his
tenure under the following instances or causes:
i.

He becomes an officer or employee of FLI, or becomes any of the persons enumerated
under items (A) hereof:

ii.

His beneficial security ownership exceeds 10% of the outstanding capital stock of FLI;

iii. He fails, without any justifiable cause, to attend at least 50% of the total number of board
meetings during his incumbency unless such absences are due to grave illness or death of an
immediate family member;
iv.

If he becomes disqualified under any of the grounds stated in FLI’s Revised Manual on
Corporate Governance.

E. Pursuant to SEC Memorandum Circular No. 09, Series of 2011, as amended by SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 04, Series of 2017, the following additional guidelines, amending the
rules on the term limit of independent directors, shall be observed in the qualification of
individuals to serve as independent directors:
i.

There shall be no limit in the number of covered companies that a person may be elected as
independent director, except in business conglomerates where an ID can be elected to only
five (5) companies of the conglomerate, i.e., parent company, subsidiary or affiliate;

ii.

An independent director shall serve for a maximum cumulative term of nine (9) years;

iii. After which, the independent director shall be perpetually barred from re-election as such in
the same company, but may continue to qualify as non-independent director;
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iv.

In the instance that a company wants to retain an independent director who has served for
nine (9) years, the Board should provide meritorious justification/s and seek shareholders’
approval during the annual shareholders’ meeting; and

v.

The reckoning of the cumulative nine-year term is from 2012.

Members of the Board of Directors, Attendance and Committee Memberships
The following table lists down the members of the Board of Directors and their attendance in Board
Meetings during 2020 which was which was reported during the Annual Stockholders’ Meeting held
on June 11, 2020.

Chairman

Jonathan T. Gotianun

June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held during
the year
8

Member

L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap

June 11, 2020

8

8

100%

Member

Nelson M. Bona*

June 11, 2020

4

4

100%

Member

Michael Edward T. Gotianun

June 11, 2020

8

8

100%

Member

Efren C. Gutierrez

June 11, 2020

8

8

100%

Member

Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun

June 11, 2020

8

7

88%

Independent

Val Antonio B. Suarez

June 11, 2020

8

8

100%

Independent

Ernesto S. De Castro

June 11, 2020

8

8

100%

Independent

Gemilo J. San Pedro

June 11, 2020

8

8

100%

Board

Name

Date of Election

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

8

100%

*Mr. Nelson M. Bona was first elected as member of the Board of Directors on June 11, 2020

Committee Membership
COMMITTEE

CHAIR AND MEMBERS
Chair: Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-Yap
Members:
Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr.
Executive Committee
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Michael Edward T. Gotianun
Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun
Chair: Gemilo J. San Pedro (Independent Director)
Members:
Audit and Risk Management Oversight
Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director)
Committee
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Efren C. Gutierrez (non-executive director)
Chair: Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director)
Members:
Compensation Committee
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Lourdes Josephine Gotianun-Yap
Gemilo J. San Pedro (Independent Director)
Chair: Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director)
Members:
Corporate Governance Committee
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Gemilo J. San Pedro (Independent Director)
Ernesto S. De Castro (Independent Director)
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COMMITTEE
Technical Committee

Related-Party Transaction Committee

CHAIR AND MEMBERS
Chair: Ernesto S. De Castro (Independent Director)
Members:
Michael Edward T. Gotianun
Winnifred H. Lim
Chair: Val Antonio B. Suarez (Independent Director)
Members:
Gemilo J. San Pedro (Independent Director)
Efren C. Gutierrez (non-executive director)

Duties and Responsibilities of the Different Board Committees
Executive Committee

Office

Name

Date of
Appointment

Chairman
Member (ED)
Member (ED)
Member (ED)
Member (ED)

L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap
Andrew T. Gotianun, Jr.
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Michael Edward T. Gotianun
Francis Nathaniel C. Gotianun

June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

5
5
5
5
5

5
3
5
5
5

100%
60%
100%
100%
100%

Length of
Service in the
Committee
(*)
1 year
1 year
1 year
1 year
1 year

* Committee members are appointed annually.

The functions, duties and responsibilities of the Board of Directors may be delegated, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, to an Executive Committee to be established by the Board of Directors. The
Executive Committee shall consist of five (5) members, at least three (3) of whom shall be members
of the Board of Directors. All members of the Executive Committee shall be appointed by and under
the control of the Board of Directors.
The Executive Committee may act on such specific matters within the competence of the Board of
Directors as may be delegated to it by a majority vote of the Board of Directors, except with respect
to: (i) approval of any action for which shareholders’ approval is also required; (ii) the filing of
vacancies in the Board of Directors; (iii) the amendment or repeal of these By-Laws or the adoption of
new by-laws; (iv) the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the Board of Directors which by its
express terms is not so amendable or repealable; and (v) the distribution of cash dividends to
shareholders.
The act of the Executive Committee on any matter within its competence shall be valid if (i) it is
approved by the majority vote of all its members in attendance at a meeting duly called where a
quorum is present and acting throughout, or (ii) it bears the written approval or conformity of all its
incumbent members without necessity for a formal meeting.
The Executive Committee shall hold its regular meeting at least once a month or as often as it may
determine, in the principal office of the Corporation or at such other place as may be designated in the
notice. Any member of the Executive Committee may, likewise, call a meeting of the Executive
Committee at any time. Notice of any meeting of the Executive Committee shall be given at least
seven (7) business days prior to the meeting or such shorter notice period as may be mutually agreed.
The notice shall be accompanied by (i) a proposed agenda or statement of purpose and (ii) where
possible, copies of all documents, agreements and information to be considered at such meeting.
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Audit & Risk Management Oversight Committee
Office
Chairman (ID)
Member (ID)
Member (ED)
Member (NED)

Name
Gemilo J. San Pedro
Val Antonio B. Suarez
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Efren C. Gutierrez

Date of
Appointment
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held
3
3
3
3

No. of
Meetings
Attended
3
3
3
3

%
100%
100%
100%
100%

* Committee members are appointed annually.

The Audit & Risk Management Oversight Committee is composed of at least three (3) Directormembers, preferably with accounting and financial background, at least one of whom must be an
independent director and another should have related audit experience.
The Chairman of this Committee should be an independent director. He is responsible for inculcating
in the minds of the Board members the importance of management responsibilities in maintaining a
sound system of internal control and the Board’s oversight responsibility.
The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
a) Internal Audit
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

Recommend the approval of the Internal Audit Charter (“IA Charter”), which formally defines the
role of Internal
Audit and the audit plan as well as oversees the implementation of the IA Charter;
Provide oversight financial management functions specifically in the areas of managing credit,
market, liquidity, operational, legal and other risks of the Corporation, and crisis management;
Provide oversight of the Corporation’s internal and external auditors;
Review and approve audit scope and frequency, and the annual internal audit plan;
Discuss with the external auditor before the audit commences the nature and scope of the audit,
and ensure coordination where more than one (1) audit firm is involved;
Set up an internal audit department and consider the appointment of an internal auditor as well as
an independent external auditor, the audit fee and any question of resignation or dismissal;
Monitor and evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the Corporation’s internal control system;
Receive and review reports of internal and external auditors and regulatory agencies, where
applicable, and ensure that management is taking appropriate corrective actions, in a timely
manner, in addressing control and compliance functions with regulatory agencies;
Review the quarterly, half-year and annual financial statements before submission to the Board
with particular focus on the following matters:
• Any change/s in accounting policies and practices
• Major judgmental areas
• Significant adjustments resulting from the audit
• Going concern assumptions
• Compliance with accounting standards
• Compliance with tax, legal and regulatory requirements
Coordinate, monitor, and facilitate compliance with existing laws, rules and regulations;
Evaluate and determine non-audit work by external auditor and keep under review the non-audit
fees paid to the external auditor both in relation to their significance to the auditor and in relation
to the Corporation’s total expenditure on consultancy. The non-audit work should be disclosed in
the Annual Report; and
Establish and identify the reporting line of the CAE so that the reporting level allows the internal
audit activity to fulfill its responsibilities. The CAE shall report directly to the audit Committee
functionally. The Audit committee shall ensure that the internal auditors shall have free and full
access to the Corporation’s records, properties and personnel relevant to the internal audit
activity, and that the internal audit activity should be free from interference in determining the
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scope of internal auditing examinations, performing work, and communicating results, and shall
provide a venue for the Audit Committee to review and approve the annual internal audit plan.
b) Risk Management
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Develop and oversee the Corporation’s risk management program;
Oversee the system of limits to discretionary authority that the Board delegates to the
Management, ensure that the system remains effective, that the limits are observed and that
immediate corrective actions are taken whenever limits are breached;
Advise the Board on its risk appetite levels and risk tolerance limits;
Assess the probability of each identified risk becoming a reality and estimates its possible
significant financial impact and likelihood of occurrence;
Provides oversight over Management’s activities in managing credit, market, liquidity,
operational, legal and other risk exposures of the corporation. This function includes regularly
receiving information on risk exposures and risk management activities from Management; and
Report to the Board on a regular basis, or as deemed necessary, the Corporation’s material risk
exposures, the actions taken to reduce the risks, and recommends further action or plans, as
necessary;
Performs other duties and responsibilities as the Committee may deem appropriate within the
scope of its primary functions or as may be assigned by the Board; and

Other duties and responsibilities are provided in the Audit and Risk Management Committee Charter.
Compensation Committee
Office
Chairman (ID)
Member (ED)
Member (ED)
Member (ID)

Name
Val Antonio B. Suarez
Jonathan T. Gotianun
L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap
Gemilo J. San Pedro

Date of
Appointment
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held
1
1
1
1

No. of
Meetings
Attended
1
1
1
1

%
100%
100%
100%
100%

* Committee members are appointed annually.

The Compensation Committee is composed of at least three (3) Director-members, two (2) of whom
must be independent directors.
Duties and Responsibilities:
• Establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive remuneration
and for fixing the remuneration packages of corporate officers and directors, and provide oversight
over remuneration of senior management and other key personnel, ensuring that compensation is
consistent with the Corporation’s culture, strategy and control environment.
• Designate amount of remuneration, which shall be in a sufficient level to attract and retain
directors and officers who are needed to run the Corporation successfully.
• Establish a formal and transparent procedure for developing a policy on executive remuneration
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors, if any, and officers.
• Develop a form on Full Business Interest Disclosure as part of the pre-employment requirements
for all incoming officers, which, among others, compel all officers to declare under the penalty of
perjury all their existing business interests or shareholdings that may directly or indirectly conflict
in their performance of duties once hired.
•

Disallow any director to decide his or her own remuneration.
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•

Provide in the Corporation’s annual reports and information and proxy statements a clear, concise
and understandable disclosure of the compensation of its executive officers for the previous fiscal
year and ensuing year.

• Review the existing Human Resources Development or Personnel Handbook, to strengthen
provisions on conflict of interest, salaries and benefits policies, promotion and career advancement
directives and compliance of personnel concerned with all statutory requirements that must be
periodically met in their respective posts.
Corporate Governance Committee
Office
Chairman (ID)
Member
Member (NED)
Member (ID)
Member (ID)

Name
Val Antonio B. Suarez
Jonathan T. Gotianun
Efren C. Gutierrez
Gemilo J. San Pedro
Ernesto S. De Castro

Date of
Appointment
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
April 22, 2019
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held
2
1
1
2
1

No. of
Meetings
Attended
2
1
1
2
1

%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

* Committee members are appointed annually.
**Prior to the organizational meeting of the Board held on 11 June 2020, the Corporate Governance Committee is combined with the Related-Party
Transaction Committee, and the committee is referred to as the Related-Party Transaction and Corporate Governance Committee.
***Mr. Efren C. Gutierrez was no longer appointed as member of the committee at the organizational meeting held on 11 June 2020. The attendance indicated
in this report refers to the meeting of the combined Related-P arty Transaction and Corporate Governance Committee.
****The attendance indicated in this r eport refers to the meeting of the combined Related-P arty Transaction and Corporate Governance Committee.
*****Mr. Ernesto S. De Castro was first appointed as member of the committee on 1 1 June 2020.

Corporate Governance Committee
The Corporate Governance Committee shall assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and
compliance responsibilities. The Committee shall be composed of the Chairman of the Board and at
least three (3) members of the Board, all of whom shall be independent directors. The Chairman of
the Committee shall be an independent director.
The Corporate Governance Committee shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
a. Ensure the effectiveness and due observance of corporate governance principles and guidelines of
the Board, its committees’ and executive management;
b. Oversee the periodic performance evaluation of the Board and its committees as well as executive
management, and conducts an annual self-evaluation of its performance;
c. Ensures that the results of the Board evaluation are shared, discussed, and that concrete action
plans are developed and implemented to address the identified areas for improvement;
d. Adopts corporate governance policies and ensures that these are reviewed and updated regularly,
and consistently implemented in form and substance;
e. Make recommendations to the Board regarding the continuing education of directors, assignment
to Board Committees and succession plan for the Board members and senior officers;
f.

Determine the nomination and election process for the Corporation’s directors and other positions
requiring appointment by the Board, define the general profile of board members that the
Corporation may need and ensure that appropriate knowledge, competencies and expertise will
complement the existing skills of the Board;

g. Establishes a formal and transparent procedure to develop a policy for determining the
remuneration of directors and officers that is consistent with the Corporation’s culture and
strategy as well as the business environment in which it operates;
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h. Review the effectiveness of the system for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and
the results of management’s investigation and follow-up (including disciplinary action) of any
instances of noncompliance;
i.

Review with the Compliance Officer, at least on annual basis, any legal or regulatory matter that
could have a significant impact on the Corporation’s financial statements, compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, and inquiries received from regulators or governmental agencies;
and

j.

Obtain an annual report from the Compliance Officer regarding the adequacy of the Corporation’s
compliance program.

Related Party Transaction Committee
Office
Chairman (ID)
Member (NED)
Member (ID)

Name
Val Antonio B. Suarez
Efren C. Gutierrez
Gemilo J. San Pedro

Date of
Appointment
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020
June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held
2
2
2

No. of
Meetings
Attended
2
2
2

%
100%
100%
100%

* Prior to the organizational meeting of the Board held on 11 June 2020, the Related-Party Transaction Committee is combined with the
Corporate Governance Committee, and the committee is referred to as the Related-Party Transaction and Corporate Governance
Committee.

The Related Party Transaction Committee is composed of at least three (3) non-executive directors,
two (2) of whom must be independent, including the Chairman of the Committee.
The Related Party Transaction Committee has the following duties and responsibilities:
•

Conduct continuous evaluation and monitoring of existing relations among counterparties to
ensure that all related parties are identified, related party transactions (“RPTs”) are monitored,
and subsequent changes in relationships with counterparties (from non-related to related and vice
versa) are captured. Related parties, RPTs and changes in relationships should be reflected in the
relevant reports to the Board and the SEC;

•

Evaluate all material RPTs to ensure that these are transacted on an arm’s length basis and that no
corporate or business resources of the company are misappropriated or misapplied, and to
determine any potential reputational risk issues that may arise as a result of or in connection with
the transactions.
In evaluating RPTs, the Committee may take into account the following:
o The related party's relationship to the Corporation and interest in the transaction;
o The material facts of the proposed RPT, including the proposed aggregate value of such
transaction;
o The benefits to the Corporation of the proposed RPT;
o The availability of other sources of comparable products or services; and
o An assessment of whether the proposed RPT is on terms and conditions that are
comparable to the terms generally available to an unrelated party under similar
circumstances. The company should have an effective price discovery system in place and
exercise due diligence in determining a fair price for RPTs.

•

Ensure that appropriate disclosure is made to the regulating and supervising authorities relating to
the Corporation's RPT exposures and policies on conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of
interest;

•

Report to the Board, on a regular basis, the status and aggregate exposures to each related party,
as well as the total amount of exposures to all related parties;
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•

Ensure that transactions with related parties, including write-off of exposures, are subject to a
periodic independent review or audit process; and in case of merger or consolidation

•

Oversee the implementation of the system for identifying, monitoring, measuring, controlling, and
reporting RPTs, including a periodic review of RPT policies and procedures.

The Corporate Governance Committee shall also serve as the Nomination Committee. It shall review
and evaluate the qualifications of all persons nominated to the board as well as those nominated to
other positions requiring appointment by the Board and assess the effectiveness of the Board’s
process and procedures in the election or replacement of directors available to an unrelated party
under similar circumstances. The company should have an effective price discovery system in place
and exercise due diligence in determining a fair price for RPTs.
Nomination Committee

Office
Chairman (NED)
Member (ED)
Member (ID)
Member (ID)

Name
Efren C. Gutierrez
L. Josephine Gotianun-Yap
Val Antonio B. Suarez
Gemilo J. San Pedro

Date of
Appointment
April 22, 2019**
April 22, 2019**
April 22, 2019**
April 22, 2019**

No. of
Meetings
Held
1
1
1
1

No. of
Meetings
Attended
1
1
1
1

%
100%
100%
100%
100%

* Committee members are appointed annually.
**Effective 11 June 2020, the functions of the Nomination Committee are already merged with the Corporate Governance Committee.

The Corporate Governance Committee, acting as the Nomination Committee may consider the
following guidelines in the determination of the number of directorships for the Board members:
•
•
•
•

The nature of the business of the Corporations in which he is a director;
Age of the director;
Number of directorships/active memberships and officerships in other corporations or
organizations; and
Possible conflict of interest.

The Chief Executive Officer and other executive directors shall submit themselves to a low indicative
limit on membership in other corporate Boards. The same low limit shall apply to independent, nonexecutive directors who serve as full-time executives in other corporations. In any case, the capacity
of directors to serve with diligence shall not be compromised.
The Corporate Governance Committee, acting as the Nomination Committee may pre-screen and
shortlist all candidates nominated to become a member of the Board of Directors, taking into account
the qualifications and the grounds for disqualifications as set forth in FLI’s Revised Manual of
Corporate Governance and the Securities Regulation Code.
The Corporate Governance Committee, acting as the Nomination Committee promulgates the
guidelines or criteria to govern the conduct of the nomination for members of the Board of Directors.
The same shall be properly disclosed in the Company’s information or proxy statement or such other
reports required to be submitted to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC).
The nomination of independent directors is be conducted by the Committee before the stockholders’
meeting. All recommendations should be signed by the nominating stockholders together with the
acceptance and conformity by the would-be nominees.
The Committee pre-screens the qualifications and prepares a final list of all candidates and put in
place screening policies and parameters to enable it to effectively review the qualifications of the
nominees for independent directors as set forth in the Company’s Revised Manual on Corporate
Governance.
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After the nomination, the Committee prepares a Final List of Candidates which contains all the
information about all the nominees for independent directors, and is made available to the SEC and all
stockholders through the filing and distribution of the Information Statement, or in such reports the
Company is required to submit to the SEC. The name of the person or group of persons who
recommended the nomination of the independent director shall be identified in such report, including
any relationship with the nominee.
Technical Committee
Office

Name

Date of
Appointment

Chairman (ID)

Ernesto S. De Castro

June 11, 2020

Member (ED)

Michael Edward T.
Gotianun
Val Antonio B. Suarez

June 11, 2020

Member (ID)

June 11, 2020

No. of
Meetings
Held
No
meeting held
No
meeting held
No
meeting held

No. of
Meetings
Attended

%

* Committee members are appointed annually.

Shareholders’ Rights
The Corporation recognizes that the most cogent proof of good corporate governance is that which is
visible to the eyes of its investors. Therefore, the following provisions are issued for the guidance of
all internal and external parties concerned, as a governance covenant between the Corporation and all
its investors:
The Board shall be committed to respect the following rights of the stockholders:
A. Voting Right
1. Shareholders shall have the right to elect, remove and replace directors and vote on certain
corporate acts in accordance with the Corporation Code.
2. Cumulative voting is mandatory in the election of directors.
3. A director shall not be removed without cause if it will deny minority shareholders
representation in the Board.
B. Power of Inspection
All shareholders shall be allowed to inspect corporate books and records including minutes of
Board meetings and stock registries in accordance with the Corporation Code, during business
hours and upon prior written notice to the Corporation and for good reason.
All Shareholders shall be furnished with annual reports, including financial statements, without
cost or restrictions.
C. Right to Information
1. The Shareholders shall be provided, upon request, with periodic reports which disclose
personal and professional information about the directors and officers and certain other
matters such as their holdings of the Corporation’s shares, dealings with the Corporation,
relationships among directors and key officers, and the aggregate compensation of directors
and officers.

64

2.

The minority shareholders shall be granted the right to propose the holding of a meeting, and
the right to propose items in the agenda of the meeting, provided the items are for legitimate
business purposes.

3.

The minority shareholders shall have access to any and all information relating to matters for
which the management is accountable for and to those relating to matters for which the
management shall include such information and, if not included, then the minority
shareholders shall be allowed to propose to include such matters in the agenda of
stockholders’ meeting, being within the definition of “legitimate purposes”.

D. Right to Dividends
1. Shareholders shall have the right to receive dividends, subject to the discretion of the Board.
2.

The Commission may direct the Corporation to declare dividends when its retained earnings
shall be in excess of 100% of its paid-in capital stock, except: i) when justified by definite
corporate expansion projects or programs approved by the Board; or ii) when the Corporation
is prohibited under any loan agreement with any financial institution or creditor, whether
local or foreign, from declaring dividends without its consent, and such consent has not been
secured; or iii) when it can be clearly shown that such retention is necessary under special
circumstances obtaining in the Corporation, such as when there is a need for special reserve
for probable contingencies.

E. Appraisal Right
The Shareholders shall have appraisal right or the right to dissent and demand payment of the fair
value of their shares in the manner provided for under the Corporation Code of the Philippines,
under any of the following circumstances:
•

In case any amendment to the articles of incorporation has the effect of changing or restricting
the rights of any stockholders or class of shares, or of authorizing preferences in any respect
superior to those of outstanding shares of any class, or of extending or shortening the term of
corporate existence;

•

In case of sale, lease, exchange, transfer, mortgage, pledge or other disposition of all or
substantially all of the corporate property and assets as provided in the Corporation Code; and

•

In case of merger or consolidation.

F. Right to Attend and Participate in Shareholders’ Meetings
The Board should be transparent and fair in the conduct of the annual and special shareholders’
meetings of the corporation.
•

•

The shareholders should be encouraged to personally attend such meetings. If they cannot
attend, they should be apprised ahead of time of their right to appoint a proxy. Subject to the
requirements of the By-Laws, the exercise of that right shall not be unduly restricted and any
doubt about the validity of a proxy should be resolved in the shareholder’s favor.
The result of the votes taken during the most recent annual or special stockholders’ meetings
shall be made publicly available within the next working day. The minutes of such meetings
shall likewise be posted on the Corporation’s website within five (5) business days from the
date of the meeting.

It shall be the duty of the directors to promote shareholder rights, remove impediments to the exercise
of shareholders’ rights and allow possibilities to seek redress for violation of their rights. They shall
encourage the exercise of shareholders’ voting rights and the solution of collective action problems
through appropriate mechanisms. They shall be instrumental in removing excessive costs and other
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administrative or practical impediments to shareholders participating in meetings and/or voting in
person or in absentia, as allowed under the Revised Corporation Code. The directors shall pave the
way for the electronic filing and distribution of shareholder information necessary to make informed
decisions, subject to legal constraints.
In order to keep itself abreast with the leading practices on corporate governance, FLI encourages the
members of top level management and the Board to attend and participate at seminars on corporate
governance initiated by accredited institutions.
FLI welcomes proposals, especially from institutions and entities such as the SEC, PSE and the
Institute of Corporate Directors, to improve corporate governance.
There is no known material deviation from FLI’s Revised Manual on Corporate Governance.
Per SEC Memorandum Circular No. 15, Series of 2017, the Integrated Annual Corporate Governance
Report for 2019 shall be submitted to the SEC on or before May 30, 2020 and is no longer required to
be attached to the Annual Report. The deadline was extended until July 30 in light of the enhanced
community quarantine in Metro Manila.

PART V – EXHIBITS AND SCHEDULES
Item 14. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON SEC Form 17-C
a) Exhibits
Exhibits as indicated in the Index to Exhibits are either not applicable to the Parent Company or
require no answer.
b) Reports on SEC Form 17-C
The following reports on SEC Form 17-C were filed during the last six months of 2020:
Report Date
November 18, 2020
November 13, 2020
November 06, 2020
November 05, 2020
October 29, 2020
October 29, 2020
August 28, 2020

August 05, 2020
August 05, 2020
July 16, 2020

Items Reported
Filinvest Land raises P8.1 billion in successful bond issuance
Press Release on 9-month results
Notice of Analysts’/Investors’ Briefing
Issuance of Order of Registration and Certificate of Permit to Offer
Securities for Sale
PhilRatings’ credit rating for Cyberzone Properties, Inc.
Clarification of News Report
Filing of FLI's registration statement for shelf registration in connection with
the offer and sale to the public of Peso-denominated Fixed-Rate Bonds up to
an aggregate principal amount of PhP30,000,000,000.00 in one or more
tranches.
Press Release on 1st Half Results
Notice of Analysts’/Investors’ Briefing
Planned application for shelf registration of planned issuance of fixed-rate
peso denominated retail bonds
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INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES
Form 17 A, Item 7
Consolidated Financial Statements
Statement of Management’s Responsibility for Financial Statements
Report of Independent Public Accountant
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Supplementary Schedules
Report of Independent Auditors on Supplementary Schedules
Report of Independent Auditors on Components of Financial Soundness Indicators
Schedule A – Financial Assets
Schedule B – Amounts Receivable from Directors, Officers, Employees, Related Parties, and
Principal Stockholders (other than related parties)
Schedule C - Amounts Receivables (Payables) from related parties which are eliminated during the
consolidation of the financial statements
Schedule D – Intangible Asset – Other Asset
Schedule E – Long term Debt
Schedule F- Indebtedness to Related Parties
Schedule G – Guarantees of Securities of Other Issuers
Schedule H – Capital Stock
Schedule I - Retained Earnings Available for Dividend Distribution
Schedule J – Map showing the Relationships Between and among the companies in the Group, its
ultimate parent Company and Co-subsidiaries
Components of Financial Soundness Indicators
Group Structure
Schedule of Bond Issuances – Securities Offered to the Public
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Chairman’s Message
Welcome to our second report on the progress of important sustainability topics in 2020. It has
been over a year since the first enhanced community quarantine was announced across the
country, and we have come a long way since the darkest months of the pandemic. Our
dedication to acting responsibly during a challenging year never wavered. Our core values of
integrity, customer service, professionalism, teamwork, innovation, and cost-effectiveness
remained the guiding light for our decisions and actions.
Here at Filinvest, we have successfully navigated the complexities of living and working during
this time. More than ever, we believe it's even more crucial to align our business ethics with
sustainable business practices. Our Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) initiatives are very
much aligned with our company mission.
From our Board of Directors to every employee, our sense of responsibility to give back and
care for our community is the very foundation of our corporate culture. Whether providing
housing for the community as they dusted off Taal Volcano's disastrous eruption, or providing
relief goods in the wake of Typhoon Ulysses, or our involvement in COVID-19 containment
efforts throughout the year - Filinvest Land remains dedicated to our commitment to building
the Filipino Dream.
Every year we take steps towards further integration of environmental, social, and governance
(ESG) principles in our operations and our risk management approach. In 2020, we leveraged
technology to ensure the health and safety of our workforce while also creating leaner and
more transparent operations. We have kept the business running and even thriving – thanks to
the power of teamwork, technology, and most especially, our proactive mindset.
The Filinvest group is in the midst of preparing our 2030 Sustainability Road Map. It is anchored
on three of the core values of the Filinvest Group.
•
•
•

We focus on providing superior value to our customers through cost efficiencies without
sacrificing safety, quality and the environment.
We have integrity at the core of our moral fiber. We believe that financial discipline,
corporate governance and environmental protection are all grounded in integrity.
We develop the best in our people. We work to build up an entrepreneurial and
intrapreneurial team guided by the timeless philosophies of our founder, Andrew
Gotianun. We are all guided to be good corporate citizens for our team, our neighbors,
our community, our country and the world.

We look forward to continuing to provide high-value living and working spaces for our
customers and to serving the communities in which we operate. Additionally, we are

committed to further enhancing our operations through better resource management, more
transparent reporting, and improved governance.
On behalf of everyone at Filinvest Land, I would like to give my heartfelt gratitude to our clients
and shareholders for their unwavering support. I am also incredibly grateful to our staff for
their dedication and all the stakeholders who have accompanied us on our journey so far.
I appreciate your taking the time to read our report and look forward to hearing your feedback
on our progress towards meeting our commitments on sustainability.

Jonathan T. Gotianun
Chairman

About this Section
Filinvest Land (“FLI” or the “Company”) is pleased to share our progress on sustainability in
2020 in this chapter, which provides an opportunity to reflect on the successes and challenges
of the previous year, as well as our future plans. Now in our second year of reporting on ESG
topics, this chapter details our non-financial performance across the economic, environmental,
and social aspects of our business for the reporting period from 1 January through 31
December 2020. Historical data is also included for comparison where applicable.
This chapter aims to satisfy the "comply or explain" provisions in accordance with the
Sustainability Reporting Guidelines for Publicly Listed Companies (the “SEC ESG Guidelines”)
issued by the Philippine Security and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and outlined in SEC
Memorandum Circular No. 4, series of 2019. It was prepared in consideration of the Global
Reporting Initiative (GRI) Standards Reporting Guidelines and its principles of reporting.

Scope
This chapter showcases the performance and initiatives of FLI’s developments in 19 provinces
and 53 towns across the Philippines, including our retail and office portfolio. For a complete list
of our operations, visit the List of Operations in the Appendix of this chapter.

Materiality
In 2019, we undertook an initial assessment of our current organizational processes,
procedures, and policies to better understand our current practices and how they relate to ESG
issues. While a formal materiality assessment was not conducted in 2020, the content of this
Chapter is informed by the principle of materiality and focuses on the economic,
environmental, and social impacts of our operations and activities in the Philippines, as well as
our approaches to the material topics listed below. We currently prioritize our efforts on social
and economic topics.
As in our 2019 report, we have disclosed our annual progress on the following (see below) key
performance metrics based on the reporting requirements of the SEC. We intend to conduct a
materiality assessment in 2021 which will enable us to focus our energies and resources on a
sustainability agenda that is strategic to our business, manages our impacts and minimizes risks,
and contributes to sustainable development.

Material ESG Topics and their perceived boundaries for Filinvest Land
Impact Location
(within or outside the
Material ESG Topics
Company)
External Stakeholders
Within
Outside
Affected
Governance
Investors, Communities,
Economic Performance
x
x
Government
Procurement Practices
x
x
Suppliers and Vendors
Anti-Corruption
x
Employees, Government
Environmental
Resource Management
x
-Communities,
x
X
Environmental Impact Management
Government
Environmental Compliance
x
x
Government
Social
Employee Management
x
Employees, Government
Supply Chain Management
x
x
Suppliers and Vendors
Relationship with Community
x
x
Communities
Customer Management
x
Customers

We Heal As One
Supporting customers and engaging stakeholders in trying times
Here at Filinvest, we have successfully navigated the complexities of living and working
during a challenging year. We have kept the business running and even thriving – thanks to
the power of teamwork, technology, and most especially, our proactive mindset.
No doubt, 2020 was a very challenging year for all of us. We experienced the Taal volcano
eruption in January, typhoons Rolly and Ulysses in November, and of course the COVID-19
pandemic throughout the year. Due to the unprecedented events of 2020, we reassessed our
initial plans for employee engagement and reallocated our budget for health and safety
efforts of our employees and our surrounding communities.
The Filinvest group allocated P100 million for Covid-19 assistance. In-kind donations were
also given in the form of data management, system app development for contact tracing,
testing kits, ventilator equipment, isolation and quarantine facilities, as well as temporary
accommodation for RITM workers. Overall, our response to these challenges focused on
protecting our team, providing for our customers and local communities, and supporting
government relief efforts.
Our People
• Taal volcano eruption response:
• Quickly identified employees in our offices and properties in Southern Luzon
who would be affected, some of whom were temporarily seeking shelter in
evacuation areas.
• Provided relief goods and cash assistance to our affected employees who were
displaced and lost homes.
• Conducted a donation drive for our affected employees and our third-party
agency personnel in Laeuna de Taal.
• COVID-19 response:
• Reorganized our office layout to comply with reduced workplace density and
created work-from-home arrangements for eligible staff.
• Designed dual shift schedules for on-site personnel.
• Provided rapid COVID-19 testing for essential and high-risk employees.
• Prioritized the procurement of N95 masks for all employees reporting for work.
• Provided food to project frontline staff and skeletal office teams during ECQ.
• Organized a free point-to-point shuttle service for on-site personnel

Our Customers and business partners
• Extended payment periods and waiving penalties and interest (for agreed payment
schedules) for residential buyers in our low and middle-income projects and small office
tenants.

•
•

•

Rent holiday offered to mall tenants during mandated lockdowns.
Expanded services on our online resources hub for buyers and homeowners, vendors,
sellers and brokers.Worked closely with office building tenants to ensure the safety of
their employees.
Established building protocols and put safety measures in place such as temperature
checks, sanitation facilities, and strict entry and exit protocols for workers.
In our shopping malls,; we implemented safety protocols including contact tracing
processes (with online registration), offered sanitation facilities, and ran temperature
checks. We also ensured that restaurants adhered to IATF capacity protocols.

Our Communities
• Taal Volcano eruption response:
• Employees were encouraged to join our relief operations #FilinvestforTaal
outreach programs, wherein we provided cleaning materials and water in three
major areas in Batangas.
• Distributed relief goods (packed meals and cleaning supplies) to affected
communities.
• Launched a task force of project technical and property management heads and
utility workers to assist clean-up efforts in Laeuna de Taal and the Lake Club which were covered by mud and ashfall after the eruption. Over 230 man-days
were volunteered by our team over 23 working days to help in this critical effort.
• Employees also volunteered to prepare and distribute packed meals for
hundreds of people living in hard-to-reach evacuation areas.
• COVID-19 response:
• Support provided for the Municipality of San Mateo where our Timberland
project is located included:
• Donated P820,000 worth of coveralls and face shields.
• Donated approximately P1.2 M worth of Rapid Antibody Test Kits and
lancets in support of the San Mateo Covid-19 testing drive in
collaboration with Project ARK.
• Typhoon Ulysses relief and clean-up response:
• Donated P165,000 worth of food packs for typhoon victims and evacuees
• Loaned out our water truck and relevant heavy equipment to aid clean-up
efforts in San Mateo and affected Quezon City subdivisions - like Serra Monte
Villas and Northview Villas.
• Sent 250 food packs in support of the Marikina City relief drive.

Sustainability at FLI
For over 50 years, we have been ‘building the Filipino dream’. The challenges we faced in 2020
brought to light how sustainability, resiliency, and health are vital to our communal and
economic success. We have learned the value of being an agile organization and we are
committed to consistently instilling sustainable and environmentally-considerate practices
within our company culture, across our supply chain, and for our customers.

We endeavor to continue creating healthy, sustainable, and environmentally-considerate
communities - ones with strengthened measures for safety, disaster resilience, and emergency
preparedness - for years to come. A key factor to achieving this will be to consistently improve
our approach to ESG-related issues, especially when it comes to addressing our impacts on the
environment and the communities around us.
As we progress on our sustainability journey, we are refining our data collection processes to
accurately measure and therefore manage our environmental and social impacts better,
particularly in the areas of customer management, resource use efficiency, employee
development, and community engagement.

Sustainability Governance
The importance of ensuring that our vision, mission, and core business are aligned to the new
global economic direction has become a priority for FLI. Standing on a solid foundation of
integrity, strong governance, and accountability to our stakeholders – we recognize the value of
operating our business in a sustainable manner. As such, we strive to embed sustainability into
our corporate culture and to ensure that everyone on the FLI team conducts business
responsibly and ethically. Our Code of Conduct is observed across the company.
Our Board of Directors is responsible for setting the Company’s overall approach to ESG
matters, evaluating ESG-related risks, and implementing sustainability initiatives. It is supported
by our senior management team and the Audit and Risk Management Oversight Committee
(which is composed of an Independent Director, a Director, and the Chairman) who implement
risk management and internal control systems.
Throughout 2020, the board guided strategies to help preserve the company’s long-term
viability. These strategies focused on fiscal prudence, sustainable development through the
conservation of the natural environment, prioritization of employees’ safety/wellness, and
adherence to good governance practices.
We are working to strengthen our sustainability governance structures and mechanisms and to
integrate ESG-related structures across our business decision-making processes at all levels. In
coming years, motivated by the SEC’s sustainability reporting requirements, we aim to start
assessing ESG-related risks and opportunities concerning our operations, governance, and
climate-related impacts.

Anti-corruption
As core values, we are committed to always doing the right thing with integrity and to maintain
the highest of business standards and moral ethics. Key to achieving this is our zero-tolerance
approach to corruption and bribery – which are significant ESG risks that can undermine trust in
a company and have direct impacts on its performance. We take corruption very seriously and

are committed to ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations (such as the AntiGraft and Corrupt Practices Act (Republic Act No. 3019)) on anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and
money laundering, among others.
Our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code of Conduct”) provides a framework for all
of the FLI’s operations and sets out standards of behavior for all employees, including day-today business conduct and customer service interactions. It is essentially a code of honor that
every employee of the Filinvest group is expected to live by. It embodies norms of conduct
within our operations and defines behavior consistent with the group’s standards for
excellence, honesty, and integrity.
While this Code also outlines the processes and guidelines for the fair, uniform, impartial, openminded, and prudent handling of infractions, it is hoped that these processes will not be
resorted to if each and every employee live up to the vision, mission and values of the
company. When there are changes to the Code, the Human Resources department will issue
new guidelines or update our policies, then circulate the files to each department.
Implementation of the Code of Conduct’s guidance on anti-bribery and anti-corruption is
supported by our Whistle-Blowing Policy.
Our anti-corruption efforts are also supported by several strictly enforced policies, including our
Conflict of Interest Policy, Insider Trading Policy, and Related Party Transactions Policy. We also
adhere to standards of conduct that prevent or regulate the offer or receipt of gifts or other
advantages that may induce dishonest, improper, or illegal conduct, or which may create an
actual or potential conflict of interest. In 2020, to avoid any misunderstandings or any
impressions of even a potential conflict of interest or favoritism (as outlined in our Code of
Ethical Business Practices), we instituted a No Gift Policy for all our dealers, suppliers, and
service providers – mandating they refrain from giving any gifts in whatever form to any of our
employees.
In 2020, no incidents of fraud or misconduct that have a significant effect on the Company’s
financial statements and overall operations were reported by employees, shareholders, or
other stakeholders, and no Directors or employees were removed or disciplined for corruption.
In coming years, we will enhance our employee development and training to include specific
anti-corruption topics.
For more information on these policies and our Corporate Governance practices, please refer to
our Annnual Corporate Governance Report.

Our People
Employee Wellbeing is our Priority
Becoming a trusted placemaker and creating environs that inspire and enhance a happy life
starts with a great team. Our 1,262-strong team of talented, dedicated, and creative employees
is what helps us to succeed.
At FLI, we believe that when people work in an environment that prioritizes their safety and
offers rewarding career paths, productivity increases, creativity flourishes, and wellbeing
improves. As such, we are constantly cultivating an environment where our ‘Dream Builders’
can be healthy, engaged, and productive.
In coming years, motivated by the SEC’s sustainability reporting requirements, we seek to
foster a working environment that supports everyone on our team, nurtures their talent, and
provides opportunities to grow. We recognize a need to further assess ESG-related risks and
opportunities as related to our team management and will survey opportunities to improve
learning and development, employee engagement, workplace culture and work-life balance,
operational transparency, and hiring practices where feasible.

An Amazing Team During Challenging Times
Without the tireless dedication of our team, fulfilling our day-to-day operations in 2020 would
not have been possible. At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we quickly created a business
continuity plan with ad hoc groups and committees to help us prepare for the worst:
• The Work from Home / Work Shift Schedule Group ensured that our critical business
functions were sustained even during lockdown. They established and adjusted
schedules to adapt to the quarantine restrictions – while making sure that FLI complies
with the national guidelines. They took care of productivity tools of every employee –
whether working from home, part of the skeletal workforce, or at alternative offices, in
collaboration with the IT Support Group.
• The IT Support Group enabled access and connectivity to nearly 300 staff during the
height of the lockdown. They provided logistics support and prompt assistance to vital
employees who needed their PC equipment delivered to their homes. For those with
unstable connections, the team supplied WIFI sticks. They were on-call 24/7 with
skeleton crews in key offices manning the hardware and ready to troubleshoot any
system, server, or user issue.
• Primed with foresight on financial movements, the Cash Flow Group deftly calibrated
plans and the budget to be responsive to the economic impact of the pandemic.
• Members of the Payables Group, faced with limited personnel mobility and huge
logistical challenges, continued to go to the office to enable continuous and seamless
vendor payments. Even during the strictest of lockdowns in mid-March, they made sure
that our contractors and vendors still got paid, following the management’s Food inStomach mandate.

When restrictions eased and we slowly started to allow more Dream Builders to work in our
offices, more committees became active, such as:
• The Social Distancing Group ensured that FLI complies with national social distancing
policies by implementing revised floor plans of our offices, adjusting workstations, as
well as rewiring the power supply and the Voice/Data networks. Even today, they
continue to oversee the traffic flow in our offices so we can enjoy a truly safe workplace.
• Another team that arranged a healthy workplace for us is the Sanitation Group. Since
sanitation has become more crucial to our well-being now more than ever, this team
ensures that everyone follows the safety guidelines in our offices using science-backed
and government-compliant policies on general sanitation. They posted reminders and
cues in key areas, set up sanitation stations, distributed sanitation kits to employees, led
weekly deep cleaning in our offices, and made sure that we are compliant with the
indoor air quality standards of DOLE.
• The Med Help Group helped minimize the risk of our offices becoming a transmission
hotspot. Their solid plans and timely responses ensured that our business remained
operational during the early outbreak. They oversaw the safety and welfare of all
employees by facilitating testing, coordinating with medical service providers, creating
surveys to assess every Dream Builders’ health and living conditions, and monitoring
contact tracing. They conducted rapid testing for all employees on their first day of
returning to the office.
• The Commute Support Group has made our daily commutes safer and more
convenient. They launched and operated Filinvest’s first app-enhanced employee
shuttle service and helped us navigate through various roadblocks in the early days of
the lockdown. For 20 weeks, they facilitated around 2,300 vehicle trips, which logged in
more than 7,500 passenger rides.
• The B2B Construction Group was responsible for developing the Filinvest COVID-19
Protocol or Manual for the Back-to-Business in Construction. The group ensures that our
project sites conform to shifting policies of various government agencies and local
government units. They have also crafted exhaustive checklists, guidelines, and
dashboards to help our construction activities flow smoothly in the new normal.
• Keeping us up-to-date on everything, the Internal and External Communications Group
has spearheaded the gathering of real-time details on COVID-19, the creation of
infographics, videos, and announcements, and the timely dissemination of information
to FLI employees nationwide. While keeping us informed, they also rolled out
communication campaigns to touch base with our customers, homeowners, and other
external stakeholders, as well as to drumbeat our CSR projects in the time of the
pandemic.

In the Workplace
At FLI, our team of ‘Dream Builders’ has created a culture of willingness to take initiative, openmindedness, ability to work as a team, and passion for continuous learning and improvement.

This passion and vision is what has kept us in business for over 50 years and is the same passion
that drives us today.

Our Diverse Workforce
Diversity in the property development sector is a challenge all around the world. At FLI, we
believe in hiring and supporting people from diverse backgrounds so that we can incorporate
more perspectives, approach problems differently, and develop the most innovative
communities for our customers.
Despite international underrepresentation of women in our industry, we have a demonstrably
high proportion of women among our staff - comprising 59% of our workforce, which
showcases our commitment to gender diversity and fair hiring practices.
Non-executive employees by gender
Female
Male

1,205

100.00%

734
471

60.91%
39.09%

Hiring and Benefits
We have set company-wide requirements and expectations through our Employee Handbook
and various Human Resources policies to ensure that all aspects of employment, including fair
hiring practices, compensation and dismissal, working hours, rest periods, anti-discrimination,
and employee welfare, meet or exceed local legal requirements.
When it comes to hiring practices, it is our preference to promote from within before
expanding our search outside the company. This lends itself to fostering a workplace culture in
which strong bonds are formed between individuals with a keen awareness of our business and
customer needs. As such, most new vacancies are filled initially by promotions and transfers
from within the organization.
All full-time employees are eligible for our benefits package, which includes medical care, group
life and accident insurance, and retirement benefits. In addition, we provide the paid leave for
vacation, illness, maternity and paternity, change of civil status, birthday, bereavement and
calamity leave, a car financing program, and a housing assistance plan.
We also offer Health Maintenance Organization (HMO) coverage for all regular employees, a
loan fund for regular employees including an emergency loan to aid in the hospitalization of an
employee or their family members or for immediate repair of an employee’s home after a
natural disaster or fire, as well as an educational loan to cover tuition fees for employees or
their dependents.

Training and Development
We believe that cultivating a highly-skilled workforce and supporting employees’ long-term
career goals is an integral part of sustaining our social and economic success. We achieve this
by encouraging employees to continually upgrade their professional skillsets through a range of
training, practical workshops, and mentorship programs. Overseen by our Learning and
Development Team, in-house training is conducted regularly.
To develop the highest level of skill among employees and enhance personal and professional
growth, we periodically assess the training needs of each employee. We also recognize
employees with 10, 15, 20, 25, 30 years of service to celebrate the appreciation of their hard
work and dedication.
In 2020, we provided nearly 6,000 training hours to 1,846 participants. Notable training
included:
PROGRAM
New Employee
Orientation

DESCRIPTION
A 2-day orientation for new employees designed to introduce
to them the company, its vision, mission and core values, and
equip them with the fundamental knowledge needed to
perform their tasks.
Strategic Planning and
A three-hour course designed to help our employees
Thinking
understand the importance of thinking strategically in business
and apply the tools to come up with successful strategies to
meet their individual and group goals.
LEAD Program: What
A series of courses launching the official Leadership Program of
Makes a Filinvest Leader? Filinvest entitled Filinvest LEAD (Leadership Excellence
Accelerated Development) Program. The courses define what
we consider to be the Core Competencies of a Filinvest Leader
based on our company values and help us assess the
competency levels of potential leaders.
How to Cope with Change: A series of 2-hour training sessions designed to support
Making Sense of the
employees as they learn to cope with change and make sense
"New Normal"
of the new normal after the pandemic. Participants learn tips
and exercises to manage their mental health and emotions
during the pandemic.
SAVE Team Program
Technical training provided for staff in customer-facing
Training
positions about the different options and offerings we can
provide to clients in compliance with the Bayanihan Heal as
One Act.
Bits and Bytes - Customer Part of the Digital Transformation Program, this course is
Engagement in the Time
designed to share insights on the shifts in customers' priorities
of Pandemic
and mindsets during stressful times, such as a pandemic.

The Future of Work in the
New Normal
Change at Play: Engaging
Millennials in a Rapidly
Transforming World
A2E – COVID Response
Edition

A short course highlighting in-demand skills and teaching how
to develop these new skills and adapt to the future of work.
A soft-skills behavioral training on how to engage well with
millennials as they make up the majority of our customers.
A comprehensive Ability to Execute (A2E) training for all
Filinvest group top management, facilitated by McKinsey, on
leadership approaches during a pandemic.

Employees Trained by gender and employment category
Employee breakdown by contract type
Total employees
Executive
Manager
Supervisor
Rank and File

FLI-Resident
1037
49
198
209
581

FLI-Office

Average training hours provided to employees (by male/female)
2020
Total Average
Male
Female
Total Average
8.13
7.34
8.92
10.

31

3
7
6
15

FLI-Retail
200
5
30
42
123

2019
Male
10.95

SUM
1268
57
235
257
719

Female
11.04

Beyond training, all regular employees take part in an annual performance evaluation.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing
From the ground up, our developments prioritize the health and safety of everyone who uses
them, and that starts with the health and safety of our team. We value the health and
wellbeing of our team members and are committed to providing all employees with a safe,
secure, and healthy working environment.
The challenges experienced in 2020 put all our years of safety planning and preparedness to the
test. However, our thorough set of policies and programs to uphold the occupational health
and safety (OHS) of our employees – including our Safety Policy, Accident Prevention Program,
OHS Program, Security, Environment, Health and Safety Policy, Code of Safe Practices, and
injury and illness prevention programs enabled timely and standard-setting responses to the
COVID-19 pandemic as well as the many natural disasters that affected us throughout the year.
In 2020, we had zero reportable incidents and maintained an accident frequency rate of zero.
We also achieved 2,391,701 Safe Man-Hours worked without a serious work-related injury on

all large-scale projects. Our consistently low accident frequency rate is a testament to the hard
work and dedication of our teams and the high standards we deliver across all of our projects.

Employee Engagement
Every year we host an array of programs aimed at training and keeping employees engaged.
With a focus on further developing the leadership skills of supervisors and managers, we
provide coaching, behavioral interviewing, problem-solving, and decision-making seminars, and
workshops. We believe these activities not only contribute to employee overall wellbeing, but
they also create stronger connections between employees and increase employee satisfaction
and productivity.
Our hybrid work setup in 2020 challenged us to get more creative with our engagement
programs. Throughout the year we hosted an array of virtual activities:
• Our first virtual engagement activity held in October was a ‘Mask-O-Lantern’ party
where we hosted a face mask and face shield decorating contest, which was attended
by nine team members from various divisions and departments.
• 105 employees joined the first MS Teams Live Event we hosted to celebrate Halloween.
• Many prizes from various virtual activities were donated by winners to other employees
affected by the typhoons.
• Nearly 700 employees took part in a virtual holiday party where we delivered packed
food to employees and bestowed loyalty awards to exemplary team members, as
detailed in the Spotlight below.

Spotlight: Showing gratitude for each other
2020 taught us to be more appreciative of the things that we have. This was made the theme of
our year-end activity – An Afternoon of Thanksgiving and Appreciation. Attended by almost
700 employees from FDC and FLI, our biggest virtual activity of the year was held online where
we recapped the events of the year and heard stories of hope from our fellow Dream Builders
and Executives.
We heard testimonies from our employees who were displaced by the recent typhoons and
how they were able to cope with the help of the Company and their colleagues.
We heard stories of hope as our COVID-19 survivors shared how they battled sickness and
depression and their journeys to recovery.
To show our appreciation for one another, 87 service awards were distributed to those who
showed real dedication to FLI over the course of the year.
It was certainly different from our past year-end celebrations, but it was a simple yet
memorable one.

Our Customers
FLI is proud to offer differentiated and forward-thinking solutions to our customers, as we seek
to maximize the positive impact we can have in every community that we create. We achieve
this by conducting our business with integrity and keeping our standards high – all to better
serve and retain our customer base. To ensure service quality we are guided by a suite of
policies and procedures, which cover service quality improvement processes, customer
satisfaction surveys and complaints, and more.
Motivated by the SEC’s sustainability reporting requirements, in coming years, we aim to
improve our understanding of the impact our operations have on our customers. We will also
assess ESG related risks and opportunities as related to the relationships and impacts we have
with our customers.

Customer Satisfaction
Abiding by one of our core values of ‘Customer Service’, we seek to achieve quality excellence
by thoroughly understanding the needs of customers and consistently surpassing their
expectations. We believe that there is always room for improvement when it comes to
improving customer health and safety, promoting responsible marketing, and keeping the
information of our customers secure.
This commitment to provide excellent properties and services to our customers is achieved by
taking responsibility for everything we create, and strictly following regulatory requirements,
industry guidelines and internal procedures.
To better understand the needs of our customers and collect feedback regarding service and
product quality, a wide array of communication channels is in place, e.g. customer satisfaction
surveys. The surveys measure how our products and services meet or surpass customer
expectations. If a customer is not satisfied, our Handling of High-Level Complaints Manual
guides our Customer Care- Customer Fulfilment team on how to best find a resolution.
During the reporting period, the consolidated annual rating from Office Tenants Satisfaction
Survey results for 2020 at our Cyberzone Properties was 3.24 out of 4, which is within our
target. We also saw a reduction in substantiated complaints which were resolved promptly with
rectification procedures - only received 5, a decrease by 96% from 2019.

Protecting Privacy
FLI is committed to ensuring that all personal data that we possess, whether that of our
employees, vendors, or customers, is handled correctly throughout its entire lifecycle. We do
our utmost to respect and protect the privacy of individuals and keep personal information
secure by complying with applicable data protection, privacy and information security laws and

regulations, namely the Republic Act No. 10173 or the Data Privacy Act of 2012, its
Implementing Rules and Regulations and other issuances of the National Privacy Commission.
Our Privacy Policy, which is available on the company website, describes our approach to the
necessary collection, use, disclosure and safeguarding of personal information for businessrelated purposes. We respond to reasonable requests to review personal information collected
by us and to correct any inaccuracies, amend or delete any entry per customer privacy rights
under the Data Privacy Act of 2012. During the reporting period, there were no data breaches,
leaks, thefts, or losses of data.
In addition, being mindful of the risks posed by the rapidly evolving digital environment, our
proactive training programs reinforce our commitment to respect and embed privacy into our
business practices and culture. Regular communications and outreach are provided from senior
management, focused on practical examples of how employees can implement privacy and
security compliance in their daily work. We also educate and empower our customers to be
more risk-aware and to provide them with the requisite skills and know-how to avoid fraud,
scams, and cybercrimes when using our products and services.

Our Environmental Impact
As one of the largest property development firms in the Philippines, we recognize our
responsibility in minimizing the negative environmental impacts in the built environment
through both the services we provide to our clients and our own operations.
With a mission to respect and protect the environment, our environmental stewardship and
sustainable building practices have become cornerstones to our success. From enhancing air
quality and public safety to reducing emissions and water usage, we are committed to making
our developments the best possible spaces for everyone who uses them. We recognize that
since our acquisitions, divestments, and development activity within a given year can
significantly impact our environmental performance, we are committed to implementing
environmentally sustainable best practices for our operations and to assist our tenants in their
efforts to address their environmental concerns.
To address growing stakeholder demands for transparency as well as increasingly stringent
environmental reporting requirements, FLI is working to further develop and strengthen a
systematic approach to data collection to enable us to better identify, disclose and manage our
environmental impacts. We are also exploring innovative opportunities to address air quality,
energy efficiency, and waste diversion.

Environmental Compliance
We do our best to comply with all applicable local environmental laws and regulations. Should
any violations occur, the root cause is immediately assessed, reported, and addressed.
Applicable to all FLI projects, our Environmental Compliance Policy outlines our approach to
managing and preventing pollution while preserving natural resources in compliance with
relevant local and national environmental laws and regulations. Approved by our President and
CEO, the policy mandates compliance to local environmental laws and regulations (such as
DENR and the National Building Code of the Philippines), environmental impact planning, and
measures to mitigate the potentially negative aspects of a new building or community
development project - for both the pre-construction and construction/operations phases. The
Policy also mandates that with any new project, we establish the following :
• social development program to offer training and hiring of residents
• solid waste management program
• education and communications campaign that supports local institutions and schools
In 2020, no disputes arose for non-compliance with environmental laws and/or regulations. We
did however have to pay ₱211,093.75 as a monetary fine as DENR implemented higher
parameters for water quality monitoring testing in 2020 and our Cyberzone Bay City
development tested with higher results than the regulatory parameters allow (under the DENR
Administrative Order 2016-08 for Water Quality Guidelines and General Effluents Standards).

We recognize the need to improve our performance on this topic, particularly when it comes to
managing coliform and oil. We have since put in place a monitoring system for all buildings to
ensure that we comply with environmental standards at all times.

Sustainable Building Practices
We are committed to building sustainable environments that are carefully designed, wellmanaged, and that save energy and reduce waste. We are also constantly exploring innovative
design and construction technologies that keep us at the forefront of the industry.
Sustainable practices have been increasingly integrated into our developments for years. Just
one indicator of this is our consistent achievement in attaining LEED building certifications for a
number of our developments. In addition to the three buildings that already have attained LEED
certification - Axis Tower One, Axis Tower Two and Vector Three all located in Northgate
Cyberzone, in 2020, we are in the process of attaining:
Green Building Per-Certifications
DEVELOPMENT
Axis Tower Four
Axis Tower Three
Activa - Mixed-Use
IT Park - Building 1
IT Park - Building 2
One Filinvest

PRE- CERTIFICATION AWARDED
LEEDv3 for Core and Shell - In progress
LEEDv3 for Core and Shell - In progress
LEEDv3 Gold for Core and Shell – In progress
LEEDv3 Gold for Core and Shell – In progress
LEEDv3 for Core and Shell - In progress
LEEDv3 for Core and Shell - In progress

Spotlight: Filinvest City – built for sustainable lifestyles
While many developers are planning a single building or small neighborhood projects, a
select number of companies like Filinvest are already delivering future-forward
developments. Just walking around the nine districts of Filinvest City, one can discover what
we at FLI consider the future of placemaking. It is a neighborhood that was designed to not
only be resilient against whatever the future may bring but also a space where whole
communities can thrive.
Filinvest City was designed to promote sustainable living and balancing the needs of the
community with the environment. We spent years carefully crafting and building Filinvest
City because we recognize that people want their communities to feature more natural
green spaces for relaxation and exercise, walkable streets filled with small businesses and
restaurants, easily accessible and non-polluting public transportation, energy, and water
efficiency, and to be part of a community with health and wellness benefits.

This desire perfectly aligns with our corporate mission as well as the stringent design and
building standards of the LEED certification process. We are delighted to have attained the
LEEDv4 for Neighborhood Development (LEEDv4 ND) certification and for Filinvest City to
become the largest LEEDv4 ND certified development in the Philippines and among the
largest LEEDv4 ND developments in all of Southeast Asia.
The 244-hectare (603-acre) mixed-use development embodies the principles of smart
growth, new urbanization, and green buildings to its neighborhood design. Key sustainable
benefits and features throughout Filinvest City are hidden in plain sight. This includes:
• Open and recreational spaces
• Live-work-play environment for residents and workers
• A fleet of electric shuttle buses to serve the community
• Low-flow plumbing fixtures in all buildings and future buildings
• All building roofs use reflective materials to reduce heat island effect
• Design adjustments to improve access and usability for persons with disabilities
Filinvest City was also praised as the Best Mixed-Use Development at the Asia Pacific
Property Awards in recognition of our integration of the newest best practices for urban
planning and for our commitment to becoming a premier, sustainable and human-centered
business district.
The scope and size of Filinvest City have raised the bar for future developments in the
Philippines and throughout the Asia-Pacific Region – just as we planned all along.
Learn more about Filinvest City in the FDC/FAI report.

Environmental Stewardship
Our approach to measuring and monitoring how we manage resources starts with projects
adhering to our Environmental Compliance Policy and continues throughout the lifecycle of the
construction and operations phases. By adhering to this Policy, we have implemented concrete
measures and initiatives in energy conservation, waste reduction, pollution prevention, and
conducted periodic monitoring and reviews of relevant key performance indicators to protect
the environment wherever we operate.
In 2020, with the onset of COVID-19 and in response to several natural disasters, much of our
regular environmental impacts have decreased. We spent fewer days on worksites, used fewer
materials, and created less waste - and while several of our projects have been delayed, we
resumed regular construction when restrictions were lifted and the country slowly transitioned
to general quarantine.

Energy and GHG Emissions
Promoting energy efficiency and energy saving is critical to continuously reducing our carbon
footprint. We consistently seek ways to enhance the energy efficiency of our projects while
reducing our carbon emissions, wherever possible.
As mandated in our Environmental Compliance Policy, and to comply with the emissions
standards of DAO 14 (Revised Air Quality Standards of 1992), we do our utmost to ensure that
all emissions during the construction phase remain below the allowed parameters. All dust
emissions are controlled by periodically watering roads during the dry season and delivery and
transport trucks carrying filling materials are covered.
In 2020, our direct Scope 1 carbon emissions across FLI dropped by 59% to 1,489 tCO2e. This is
largely due to a decrease in operations and usage during COVID-19 lockdowns. Based on a likefor-like comparison to our 2019 portfolio, overall energy consumption across our portfolio fell
by 18.43%.

Energy consumption by fuel type
Renewable sources (Kwh)
Gasoline (L)
Diesel (L)
Electricity (Kwh)
Air emissions (in CO2e)
Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions

2020

2019

% YOY

92.00

0.00

134,994.56
453,299.98
133,332,336.90

165,495.15
590,570.51
192,551,750.00

2020
1,489.00
94,960.00

2019
3,689.56
115,800.29

-18.43%
-23.24%
-30.76%
%YOY
-59.64%
-18.00%

Water
We manage water and wastewater as responsibly as we can both during the construction of our
developments and for our established communities. We mainly use municipally supplied water
and our Environmental Compliance Policy and local water and effluents standards keep us
motivated to always seek out water-saving opportunities. All deepwater wells that we build are
subject to primary water treatment and any effluent discharges must meet the Effluents
Standards under DAO 35 (Revised Effluent Regulations of 1990) and DAO 34 (Revised Water
Quality Criteria). We also ensure that residential units and other amenities are not built along
active natural waterways and no construction or development is undertaken immediately next
to rivers or streams in efforts to avoid erosion and unintended siltation of water bodies. Any
temporary ditches or canals are lined with silt raps to minimize sedimentation/siltation of
nearby tributary rivers and are removed after construction is completed.

In 2020, we consumed 679,571.51 cubic meters of water and withdrew 2,220,117.99 cubic
meters. We recycled and reused 70,627 cubic meters of wastewater as well. Our total water
use decreased by 86% from 2019.
Water consumption (in cubic meters)
Water withdrawal (Cubic meters)
Water consumption (Cubic meters)
Water recycled and reused (Cubic meters)

2020
2,220,117.99
679,571.51
70,627.00

2019
5,132,064.12
5,132,064.12
--

% YOY
-56.74%
-86.76%
--

Materials
Sustainable buildings start with great design and all of our projects have been designed with
sustainable features, including healthy, environmentally-considerate materials.
In 2020, our projects required the use of 5,570,577.91 tonnes of rebar and 12,344,524.76
tonnes of cement. This overall 10,587% increase can be attributed to the broader set of data
that we are disclosing for 2020.
Material used (in kg)
Material used by weight or volume
Non-renewable - Cement
Non-renewable - Rebars
Percentage of recycled input materials used to manufacture the
organization’s primary products and services

2020
2019
%YOY
17,915,102.67 167,633.57 10587.06%
12,344,524.76 137,860.38 8854.37%
5,570,577.91 29,773.19 18610.05%
0.00%

0.00%

--

Waste
Most of the waste directly generated by our business comes from the construction of our
development projects. Our Environmental Compliance Policy outlines that all solid waste be
properly collected and disposed of in designated disposal sites in accordance with the project
site’s Solid Waste Management Plan.
Also, the proper handling, collection, and disposal of toxic and/or hazardous substances are
fulfilled in accordance with the provisions of RA 6969 (Toxic Substances and Hazardous and
Nuclear Waste Control Act of 1990) and proper permits are secured from DENR accordingly.
In 2020, across our portfolio, we generated 20,892.67 tonnes of waste, a decrease of 86%
compared to 2019. Despite an overall decrease in waste, compared to 2019 our rate of
reusable waste increased by 467%, recyclable waste increased by 51,875%, and composted
waste increased by 3,036%. This is all mainly due to an increased scope in data collected and
reported for 2020.
Solid waste generated (in Tonnes)
Total solid waste generated
Reusable

2020
158,536.38
5.86

2019
20,892.67
33.21

%YOY
-86.82%
466.72%

Recyclable
Composted
Residuals/landfilled

33.32
16.20
158,481.00

Hazardous waste (in kg)
Total weight of hazardous waste generated
Total weight of hazardous waste transported

2020
26,865.88
7,919.46

17,317.90
507.96
3,033.60

2019
2,000.00
2,000.00

51874.49%
3035.56%
-98.09%

%YOY
1243.29%
295.97%

Ecosystems and Biodiversity
Protecting and enhancing our natural capital has always been a key priority for us. As a major
developer across 19 provinces and 53 towns, we believe we have a responsibility to create
spaces that help native plant and animal species thrive.
Our Environmental Compliance Policy outlines our approach to preservation methods, such as
ensuring that all existing endemic wildlife species in a development area shall be protected by
FLI, including their habitats. It also includes a clause that an Environmental Guarantee Fund
shall be set up for every FLI project for rehabilitation and restoration activities of affected areas,
as well as stipulating compensation of damages and assistance to affected parties should
irreparable damages occur.
We have also made a rule for ourselves that for every tree cut for a development project, it be
replaced with another tree or similar greenery.

Spotlight: Prioritizing Indoor Air Quality
We understand the importance of taking tangible steps to improve air quality on our
developments and beyond – especially in light of the COVID-19 pandemic.
In 2020 we engaged a third-party contractor to conduct a study on the air quality of our
offices, to not only improve our compliance with OSH Standards from DOLE under Rule 1070
(Occupational Health & Environmental Control) but to help ensure that everyone who
comes through our doors can enjoy clean and healthy air.
Based on the findings of the study:
• The property utilities team conducts thorough deep cleaning of the office spaces and
common areas, including all office rooms, working stations, and parking spaces every
week
• Clean fresh air is supplied to enclosed workplaces at an average rate of not less than
20 to 40 cubic meters (700 to 1,400 cu. ft.) an hour per employee
• Air purification treatment, such as nano-anti-microbial coating, is undertaken in
strategic areas including the executive area, the lobby, and the canteen.

Our Suppliers
Helping the economy by creating jobs and supporting local suppliers
Through our purchasing and partnerships, we support numerous local enterprises and supply
chains which in turn support the local market. We recognize that the way we purchase
materials plays a huge part in our local economic impact as a business. As such, we are
committed to adhering to the ideal of transparency in our supply chain decisions, and our
sourcing and procurement efforts aim to shape a value chain that positively influences the
market and encourages sustainability.
We mainly achieve this by adhering to our Supplier Accreditation Program, which was
established in 2015 and is overseen by our Purchasing Department. The program outlines ways
we can maintain quality management by checking for various ISO, DENR, and OSHA
certifications or programs in place (such as ISO 9000/9002 and 14000 or equivalent
environment programs) and by requesting data on the sources of raw materials (percentage of
local/international) from suppliers. Regular reviews or assessments are also conducted to
ensure our supply chain partners comply with local laws and our requirements. We also have a
Sourcing and Supplier Accreditation Process in place which guides sourcing, accreditation,
evaluation and blacklisting of suppliers, service providers, contractors, and vendors. The
Sourcing and Accreditation Team is responsible for ensuring that the process is followed for
proper supplier vetting.
For our property development operations, we depend on inputs from multiple suppliers and
service providers, and we take it upon ourselves to facilitate ESG considerations throughout this
value chain. When vetting new suppliers, we consider a range of ESG-related topics such as the
supplier’s environmental performance and their mechanisms to ensure that bribery and
corruption do not occur in their company or in relation to ours.
In 2020, of our 1,338 suppliers, 94.39% were Philippines-based companies, with the rest coming
from other areas of Asia. Throughout 2020, because of COVID-19-related restrictions, we
experienced great difficulty in procuring a steady stream of supplies as many of our local
suppliers were forced to shut down operations entirely in response to local lockdown
mandates. In response to this, we were compelled to search for new suppliers from across Asia
to help fulfill our procurement needs. We brought on 31 new suppliers in 2020 from 11 from
Non-Asian countries. 20 are foreign-owned and 11 are multinational companies.
We also experienced issues with processing payments for several suppliers and vendors who
normally rely on in-person transactions. Though our e-settlement service - a payment system
operated through our sister company East West Bank (EWB) - has been available to vendors
since 2017, not all suppliers have made use of the service. However, given movement
restrictions for the pandemic, it became the best available system that allowed vendors to be

assured of their collections from us without face-to-face interaction. Via this system, payments
are directly credited to a vendor's EWB account. As a consideration to vendors during the
Enhanced Community Quarantune, we went the extra mile by processing manual direct credit
and/or deposit checks directly to vendors' bank accounts, even for those without an EWB
account. EWB also expanded their services by lowering the required opening amount and
maintaining balance. Given the ease of the operating system for EWB members, an additional
122 vendors and suppliers opted to open EWB accounts in 2020.

Our Communities
We believe that everyone should benefit from our developments, which is why we have been
committed to working closely with community groups since we first started building. This
longstanding commitment to giving back to the communities where we build as well as those
nearby is driven by our desire to make a positive impact on our communities and to contribute
to their long-term prosperity.
In 2020, our support focused on recovery efforts from the Taal volcano eruption and the Rolly
and Ulysses typhoons, as well as relief efforts for COVID-19. Throughout the year, we
contributed to several local charities and non-governmental organizations. We also worked
with our partners and numerous other stakeholders to support local causes and help provide
relief wherever we could.
We also encouraged our employees to participate in volunteer and community service
programs, while observing social distancing measure. In 2020, 355 employees participated in
several community engagement events across the Philippines, raised over P 351,000, and
dedicated 87 volunteer hours.
In coming years, we aim to improve our understanding of the impact our operations have on
local communities, particularly indigenous peoples and vulnerable members of our society. We
will map out both mitigating and enhancement measures based on our findings and will also
assess ESG-related risks and opportunities regarding the relationships and impacts we have on
the communities in which we operate.

Appendices
List of Operations
The following are the most recently launched projects and projects with new phases and
buildings:
Current Residential Development Projects
PROJECT
8 Spatial
Activa
Alta Spatial
Amarilyo Crest
Anila Park Residences
Aria at Serra Monte
Bali Oasis
Belize
Centro Spatial
Centro Spatial
Claremont Expansion
Enclave
Futura East
Futura Homes Davao
Futura Homes Iloilo
Futura Homes Koronadal
Futura Homes Mactan
Futura Homes Palm Estates
Futura Mira
Futura Plains
Futura Zamboanga
Hampton Orchard
Levels
Maldives Oasis
Marina Spatial
Maui Oasis
Meridian Place
Mira Valley
New Fields at Manna
New Leaf
One Oasis Cagayan de Oro
One Oasis Cebu
One Spatial
One Spatial Iloilo
Panglao Oasis
Pineview
San Remo
Sandia
Savannah Place

LOCATION
Davao
Quezon City
Valenzuela City
Rizal
Rizal
Rizal
Pasig
Muntinlupa
Davao
Manila
Pampanga
Muntinlupa
Cainta
Davao
Iloilo
South Cotabato
Cebu
Bacolod
Calamba
Rizal
Zamboanga
Pampanga
Alabang
Davao
Dumaguete
Manila
Cavite
Rizal
Rizal
Cavite
Cagayan de Oro
Cebu
Pasig
Iloilo
Taguig
Cavite
Cebu
Batangas
Cavite

Sorrento Oasis
Southwinds
Studio City
The Grove
The Prominence
Tierra Vista
Valle Dulce
Ventura Real
Veranda

Office Sites
BUILDING
Plaza A
Plaza B
Plaza C
Plaza D
Plaza E
IT School
Capital One
CVG (Convergys Bldg)
5132 Building
iHub1
1Hub2
Filinvest One
Filinvest Two
Filinvest Three
Vector One
Vector Two
Vector 3
Axis Tower One
Axis Tower Two
FLI Edsa
Cebu Tower 1
Cebu Tower 2
PB Comm
Pasay Cyberzone B
Pasay Cyberzone C
Pasay Cyberzone A
Pasay Cyberzone D
100 West
Clark Mimosa 1
Clark Mimosa 2

Pasig
Laguna
Alabang
Rizal
Quezon City
Bulacan
Laguna
Rizal
Davao

LOCATION
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
Northgate Cyberzone, Alabang
EDSA Wackwack
Cebu
Cebu
Makati
Pasay
Pasay
Pasay
Pasay
Makati
Clark, Pampanga
Clark, Pampanga

Complete List of Mid-Rise Buildings
Project Name
Metro Manila/ Luzon
Asiana Oasis
Bali Oasis

Location
Paranaque City
Pasig City

Bali Oasis 2
Capri Oasis
Fora
Fortune Hill
Futura East
Maui Oasis
One Oasis Ortigas
One Spatial
Panglao Oasis
Sorrento Oasis
The Signature
Verde Spatial
Alta Spatial
Centro Spatial
Belize Oasis
Visayas
Amalfi Oasis
Marina Spatial
One Oasis Cebu
One Spatial Iloilo
San Remo Oasis
Umi Garden
Mindanao
Centro Spatial
Eight Spatial
One Oasis Cagayan de Oro
One Oasis Davao
Veranda Resort Condos
Maldives Aspire

Pasig City
Pasig City
Tagaytay
San Juan City
Cainta, Rizal
Sta. Mesa, Manila
Pasig City
Pasig City
Taguig
Pasig City
Balintawak, Quezon City
Quezon City
Valenzuela City
Manila
Muntinlupa
City di Mare, Cebu
Dumaguete
Mabolo, Cebu City
Iloilo
City di Mare, Cebu
City di Mare, Cebu
Davao City
Maa, Davao
Cagayan de Oro
Davao City
Davao
Davao

Retail Sites
Festival Mall - Alabang
Fora Mall - Tagaytay
Il Corso Mall - Cebu
Main Square - Molino, Bacoor, Cavite
Brentville – Laguna
Townships and estate
Filinvest Mimosa plus
New Clark City
City di Mare
Havila
Timberland Heights
Ciudad de Calamba

Performance Metrics
A. Economic disclosures

2020

2019

Total (in PHP)
17,484,646,000
24,250,774,000

Total (in PHP)
25,673,310,000
24,318,614,000

Economic Performance
Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed
Direct economic value generated (Revenue)
Direct economic value distributed*
Procurement Practices
Proportion of Spending on Local Suppliers
Percentage of procurement budget used for significant
locations of operations that is spent on local suppliers
Anti-Corruption
Training on Anti-Corruption Policies and Procedures
Percentage of employees who have received written
communication about corporate anti-corruption policies
and procedures
Percentage of business partners who have received
written communication about corporate anti-corruption
policies and procedures
Percentage of directors and management who have
received anti-corruption training
Percentage of employees who have received anticorruption training
Incidents of Corruption
Number of incidents in which directors were removed or
disciplined for corruption
Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed
or disciplined for corruption
Number of incidents when contracts with business
partners were terminated due to corruption

%
94.39%

98.81%
%

0%

0%

0%

0%

100%

80%

0%

0%
Number

0
0
0

0
0
0

*Does not include principal debt payments.

B. Environment Disclosures

2020

2019

Resource Management
Unit
Amount
Amount
Energy consumption within the organization and Reduction of Energy Consumption
Energy consumption - by fuel type 134,994.56
Liters
165,495.15
Gasoline
Energy consumption - by fuel type Liters
453,299.98
590,570.51
Diesel
Energy consumption - by fuel type kwh
133,332,336.90
192,551,750
Electricity
33,345.59
Energy reduction - by fuel type - Gasoline
Liters
Energy reduction - by fuel type - Diesel
Liters
187,913.30
Energy reduction - by fuel type kwh
55,297,317.00
Electricity

Water consumption within the
organization
Water consumption within the
organization
Water withdrawal
Water discharged
Water recycled and reused
Materials Used by the Organization
Materials used by weight or volume rebar
Materials used by weight or volume cement
Percentage of recycled input materials
used to manufacture the organization’s
primary products and services
Ecosystems and Biodiversity
Operational sites owned, leased in, or
adjacent to, protected areas and areas of
high biodiversity value outside protected
areas
Habitats protected or restored
IUCN Red List species and national
conservation list species with habitats in
areas affected by operations
Environmental Impact Management
Air Emissions - Green House Gasses
(GHG)
Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions
Emissions of ozone-depleting substances
(ODS)
Air Pollutants
Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
Sulfur oxides (SOx)
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs)
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs)
Particulate matter (PM)
Solid Waste
Reusable
Recyclable
Composted
Residuals/Landfilled
TOTAL
Hazardous Waste

CBM

kg
Kg
%

1,540,546.48

5,132,064.12

2,220,117.99
679,571.51
70,627.00

5,132,064.12
-

5,570,577.91
12,344,524.76

137,860.38

0%

0%

-

-

-

-

-

-

Unit
Tonnes
CO2e
Tonnes
CO2e

29,773.19

Amount
1,489.00

3,689.56

94,960.00

115,800.29
-

g/Ncm
g/Ncm
g/Ncm
g/Ncm
g/Ncm
g/Ncm

12,532.15
247.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00

-

Tonnes

33.21
17,317.90
507.96
3,033.60
20,892.67

5.86
33.32
16.20
158,481
158,536.38

Total weight of hazardous waste
generated
Total weight of hazardous waste
transported

KG

26,865.88

2,000

7,919.46

2,000

TOTAL

4,000

Effluents
Total volume of water discharges
CBM
1,504,538.48
Percent of wastewater recycled
%
0.05
Environmental Compliance
Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations
Total amount of monetary fines for non₱211,093.75
compliance with environmental laws
and/or regulations

C. Social Disclosures
Employee Management

2020

4,517,545.44
1.16%

--

2019

Employee Hiring and Benefits
Total
Male
Female
Total
Male
748
1,262
514
Total number of employees
1,172
459
22%
Attrition rate
-Ratio of lowest paid employee
1.46
1.46
1.46
1.03
1.25
against minimum wage
Employee Training and Development
Total training hours provided to
5,838.85
2084.05
3,754.80
9,241
4,195.5
employees (by male/female)
Average training hours provided
8.13
7.34
8.92
10.99
10.95
to employees (by male/female)
Labor Management Relations
% of employees covered by
Collective Bargaining
0
0
Agreements
Number of consultations
conducted with employees
24
0
concerning employee-related
policies
Diversity and Equal Opportunity
% of workers in the workforce
35%
65%
--39.23%
by gender
Number of employees from
indigenous communities and/or
-0
0
--vulnerable sector
Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights Occupational Health and Safety
2,391,701.54
Safe Man-Hours
-0
No. of work-related injuries
-0
No. of work-related fatalities
-0
No. of work-related ill-health
--No. of safety drills
-Labor Laws and Human Rights

Female
713

1.03

5,045.5
11.04

60.77%
--

Policies that explicitly disallow
violations of labor laws and
human rights (e.g. harassment,
bullying) in the workplace
No. of legal actions or employee
grievances involving forced or
child labor
Relationship with Community
Significant Impacts on Local Communities
For operations affecting IPs,
total number of Free and Prior
Informed Consent (FPIC)
consultations and Certification
Preconditions (CPs) secured
Customer Management
Customer Satisfaction
Customer Satisfaction Score(s)
Health and Safety
Number of substantiated
complaints on product or
service health and safety
Number of complaints
addressed
Marketing and Labelling
Number of substantiated
complaints on marketing and
labelling
Number of complaints
addressed
Customer Privacy
Number of substantiated
complaints on customer privacy
Number of complaints
addressed
Number of customers, users
and account holders whose
information is used for
secondary purposes
Data Security
No. of data breaches, including
leaks, thefts and losses of data

1

Data not collected in 2020

4

1

0

0

2020

2019

--1

0

2020

2019

N/A

65%

207

0

207

0

5

165

5

165

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

SEC Content Index
Disclosures
Company details

Reporting location

Name of Organization
Location of Headquarters
Location of Operations
Report Boundary: Legal entities included in this
report
Business Model

Content Index
About this Section

A. Economic disclosures
Economic Performance
Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed
Management Approach
General
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Disclosures
Stakeholders Affected
Direct economic value generated
(Revenue)
KPIs
Direct economic value distributed
Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities
Governance
General
Strategy
Disclosures
Risk Management
Metrics and Targets
Procurement Practices
Proportion of Spending on Local Suppliers
Management Approach
General
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Disclosures
Stakeholders Affected
Percentage of procurement budget
used for significant locations of
KPI
operations that is spent on local
suppliers
Anti-Corruption
Training on Anti-Corruption Policies and Procedures
General
Disclosures
KPIs

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
Percentage of employees who have
received written communication

Filinvest Land, Inc.
Mandaluyong City,
Metro Manila
Philippines
Filinvest Land, Inc.
Property Development
January 1 – December
31, 2020

Reporting Period
Highest Ranking Person for this report

Remarks/ explanation

Sustainability
Governance
Reporting location

Remarks/ explanation

-About this Section
Performance Metrics
Performance Metrics

--

Our Suppliers
About this Section

Our Suppliers
Performance Metrics

Approach to CSR –
Anti-Corruption
About this Section
--

Omitted – Data not
available at time of
reporting.

about corporate anti-corruption
policies and procedures
Percentage of business partners
who have received written
communication about corporate
anti-corruption policies and
procedures
Percentage of directors and
management who have received
anti-corruption training
Percentage of employees who have
received anti-corruption training
Incidents of Corruption
General
Disclosures

Management Approach

Approach to CSR –
Anti-Corruption

The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
Stakeholders Affected
Number of incidents in which
directors were removed or
disciplined for corruption
Number of incidents in which
KPIs
employees were dismissed or
Performance Metrics
disciplined for corruption
Number of incidents when contracts
with business partners were
terminated due to corruption
B. Environment Disclosures
Reporting location
Remarks/ explanation
Resource Management
Energy consumption within the organization and Reduction of Energy Consumption
Our Environmental
Management Approach
Impact
General
The
Impact
and
Where
it
Occurs
Disclosures
About this Section
Stakeholders Affected
Our Environmental
Energy consumption - by fuel type
KPIs
Impact
Energy reduction - by fuel type
Performance Metrics
Water consumption within the organization
Our Environmental
Management Approach
Impact
General
The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
Disclosures
Stakeholders Affected
ESG Risks and Opportunities
Our Environmental
Water consumption within the
Impact
organization
Our Environmental
Water withdrawal
KPIs
Impact
Water consumption
Performance Metrics
Water recycled and reused
Materials Used by the Organization

General
Disclosures

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
Materials used by weight or volume

Percentage of recycled input
materials used to manufacture the
organization’s primary products and
services
Ecosystems and Biodiversity

-About this Section
Our Environmental
Impact
Performance Metrics

KPIs

General
Disclosures

Management Approach

The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
Operational sites owned, leased in,
or adjacent to, protected areas and
areas of high biodiversity value
outside protected areas
KPIs
Habitats protected or restored
IUCN Red List species and national
conservation list species with
habitats in areas affected by
operations
Environmental Impact Management
Air Emissions - Green House Gasses (GHG)
Management Approach
General
Disclosures

KPIs

The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
ESG Risks and Opportunities
Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions
Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG
Emissions
Emissions of ozone-depleting
substances (ODS)

--

Our Environmental
Impact
About this Section

--

Our Environmental
Impact
About this Section

Performance Metrics

--

Air Pollutants
General
Disclosures

KPIs

Solid Waste

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
Nitrogen oxides (NOx)
Sulfur oxides (SOx)
Persistent organic pollutants (POPs)
Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)
Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs)
Particulate matter (PM)

-About this Section

--

General
Disclosures

KPI

Management Approach

Our Environmental
Impact

The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected

About this Section

Total solid waste generated - by
type

Our Environmental
Impact
Performance Metrics

Hazardous Waste
General
Disclosures

KPIs

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
Total weight of hazardous waste
generated
Total weight of hazardous waste
transported

Our Environmental
Impact
About this Section

Performance Metrics

Effluents
General
Disclosures

KPIs

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Stakeholders Affected
Total volume of water discharges
Percent of wastewater recycled

Our Environmental
Impact
About this Section
Our Environmental
Impact
Performance Metrics

Environmental Compliance
Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations
Our Environmental
Management Approach
Impact
General
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Disclosures
About this Section
Stakeholders Affected
Total amount of monetary fines for
non-compliance with environmental
laws and/or regulations
Number of non-monetary sanctions
Our Environmental
KPIs
for non-compliance with
Impact
environmental laws and/or
Performance Metrics
regulations
Number of cases resolved through a
dispute resolution mechanism
C. Social Disclosures
Reporting location
Employee Management
Employee Hiring and Benefits
Our People – Hiring
Management Approach
General
and Benefits
Disclosures
The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
Our People
Total number of employees
Performance Metrics
KPIs
Attrition rate
--

Remarks/ explanation

Ratio of lowest paid employee
against minimum wage
List of employee benefits
Employee Training and Development
General
Disclosures

Management Approach

-Our People
Our People – Training
and Development
About this Section

The Impact and Where it Occurs
Total training hours provided to
employees (by male/female)
Our People
KPIs
Average training hours provided to
Performance Metrics
employees (by male/female)
Labor Management Relations
Management Approach
Our People
General
Disclosures
The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
% of employees covered by
Performance Metrics
Collective Bargaining Agreements
KPIs
Number of consultations conducted
with employees concerning
-employee-related policies
Diversity and Equal Opportunity
Management Approach
-General
Disclosures
The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
% of female workers in the
workforce
Our People
% of male workers in the workforce
.
KPIs
Performance Metrics
Number of employees from
-indigenous communities and/or
vulnerable sector
Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights Occupational Health and Safety
Our People - Health,
Management Approach
General
Safety and Wellbeing
Disclosures
The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
Safe Man-Hours
No. of work-related injuries
KPIs
No. of work-related fatalities
-No. of work-related ill-health
No. of safety drills
Labor Laws and Human Rights
Our Suppliers
Management Approach
General
Our People
Disclosures
The Impact and Where it Occurs
About this Section
Policies that explicitly disallow
violations of labor laws and human
Our People
rights (e.g. harassment, bullying) in
Performance Metrics
KPIs
the workplace
No. of legal actions or employee
grievances involving forced or child
Performance Metrics
labor

Supply Chain Management
Supplier Accreditation and Screening
Management Approach
General
Disclosures
The Impact and Where it Occurs
Supplier Accreditation Policy
KPIs
Sustainability Topics Considered
When Selecting/Screening Suppliers
Relationship with Community
Significant Impacts on Local Communities
General
Management Approach
Disclosures
Operations with significant impacts
on local communities (by location,
vulnerable group/indigenous people
(IPs))
Mitigating measures (if negative) or
KPIs
enhancement measures (if positive)
For operations affecting IPs, total
number of Free and Prior Informed
Consent (FPIC) consultations and
Certification Preconditions (CPs)
secured
Customer Management
Customer Satisfaction
General
Disclosures

Management Approach

General
Disclosures

Management Approach

The Impact and Where it Occurs
KPI
Customer Satisfaction Score(s)
Health and Safety

The Impact and Where it Occurs
Number of substantiated complaints
on product or service health and
KPIs
safety
Number of complaints addressed
Marketing and Labelling
General
Disclosures

Management Approach

The Impact and Where it Occurs
Number of substantiated complaints
on marketing and labelling
KPIs
Number of complaints addressed
Customer Privacy
General
Disclosures

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs

Our Suppliers
About this Section
Our Suppliers

Our Communities

Our Customers –
Serving our Customers
Approach to CSR
-Our Customers –
Serving our Customers
Approach to CSR
Our Customers
Performance Metrics

Our Customers –
Serving our Customers
Approach to CSR
Our Customers
Performance Metrics
Our Customers –
Protecting Privacy
Approach to CSR

KPIs

Number of substantiated complaints
on customer privacy
Number of complaints addressed
Number of customers, users and
account holders whose information
is used for secondary purposes

Our Customers
Performance Metrics

Data Security
General
Disclosures
KPI

Management Approach
The Impact and Where it Occurs
No. of data breaches, including
leaks, thefts and losses of data

Our Customers –
Protecting Privacy
Approach to CSR
Our Customers –
Protecting Privacy
Performance Metrics

**As stated in the Approach to CSR – Sustainability Governance Section, ESG Risks and
Opportunities as related to our material topics and climate-related issues were not assessed
for this reporting period.
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STAT EMENT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBI LITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The management of FILINVEST LAND, INC. and SUBSIDIARIES is responsible for the
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements including the schedules altachcd therein,
for the years cnded December 31, 2020, 20 19 a nd 20 18, in accordance witb the prescribed financial
reporting framework indicated therein, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of the financi ::tl statements that arc free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or crror.
In preparing the financia l statements. management is responsible for assessing the Company 's ability
to continue as a going conccrn, disclosing, as applicable matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or
to cease operations. or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
The Board of Dircctors is responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process.
The Board of Directors reviews and approves the financia l statements including the schedules
attached therein, and submits the same to the stockholders.
SyCip GOlTes Velayo & Co., the independent auditor, appointed by the stockholders has audited the
finan cia l statements of the Company in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, and in its
report to the stockholders. has expressed its opinion on the fairness of presentation upon completion
of such audit.
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FILINVEST

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 7,20 and 30)
Contracts recei vables (Notes 6, 8 and 30)
Contract assets (Notes 6 and 30)
Other recei vables (Notes 9 and 30)
Real estate in ventori es (Note] 0)
Other current assets (Notes 6 and] J)
Total Current Assets

¥6,693,557
4,156,939
5,400,32(
3,362,183
65,544,567
4,637,141
89,794,716

Noncurrent Assets
Contract assets - net of current portion (Notes 6 and 30)
Investments in associates (Note] 2)
Investment properties (Notes 3 and] 3)
Property and equipment (Note 14)
Deferred income tax assets (Note 28)
GoodwiII (Note 4)
Other noncurrent assets (Note] 6)
Total Noncurrent Assets

3,533,733
4,787,787
69,264,957
3,348,145
82,405
4,567,242
5,626,161
91,210,430

7,117,321
4,170,682
66,461,060
3,288,718
52,435
4,567,242
5,238,774
90,896,232

PI81,005,146

P173,696,431

TOTAL ASSETS

P4,773,621
1,446,192
5,998,421
3,175,045
63,018,436
4,388,484
82,800,199

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Notes 17 and 30)
Contract liabilities (Note 6)
Lease liabilities - current portion (Note 15)
Due to related parties (Notes 20 and 30)
Income tax payable
Current portion of loans payable (Notes 18, 26 and 30)
Current portion of bonds payable (Notes 19,26 and 30)
Total Current Liabilities

13,117,027
1,249,050
328,796
112,021
29,022
8,866,369
5,294,517
28,996,802

PI3,164,864
972,758
318,119
100,779
142,736
6,887,481
4,294,644
25,881,381

(Forward)

.- ...

-_ ...

FILINVEST LAND, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULE OF BOND ISSUANCES - SECURITIES OFFERED TO THE PUBLIC
DECEMBER 31, 2020
2009
5 Billion Bond

2011
3 Billion Bond

2012
7 Billion Bond

2013
7 Billion Bond

2014
7 Billion Bond

2015
8 Billion Bond

2017
6 Billion Bond

2020
8.1 Billion Bond

Expected gross and net proceeds as disclosed in the prospectus
Gross Proceeds
₽5,000,000,000
₽3,000,000,000
Less: Expenses
63,850,625
34,290,625
Net Proceeds
₽4,936,149,375
₽2,965,709,375

₽7,000,000,000
97,225,625
₽6,902,774,375

₽7,000,000,000
67,594,379
₽6,932,405,621

₽7,000,000,000
82,327,087
₽6,917,672,913

₽8,000,000,000
85,330,750
₽7,914,669,250

₽6,000,000,000
68,308,996
₽5,931,691,004

₽9,000,000,000
118,002.63
₽8,999,881,997

Actual gross and net proceeds

₽5,000,000,000

₽3,000,000,000

₽7,000,000,000

₽7,000,000,000

₽7,000,000,000

₽8,000,000,000

₽6,000,000,000

₽8,100,000,000

Less: Expenses
Net Proceeds

65,936,000
₽4,934,064,000

21,165,000
₽2,978,835,000

84,023,040
₽6,915,976,960

82,906,997
₽6,917,093,003

77,906,937
₽6,922,093,063

86,811,468
₽7,913,188,532

96,582,653
₽5,903,417,347

165,450,548
₽7,934,549,452

Expenditure items where the proceeds were used
Land Acquisition
₽2,960,438,400
Project Development
1,973,625,600
Investment Property
Debt refinancing
Net Proceeds
₽4,934,064,000

₽417,036,900
2,561,798,100
₽2,978,835,000

₽249,938,096
6,666,038,864
₽6,915,976,960

₽2,965,648,318
1,185,554,209
2,765,890,476
₽6,917,093,003

₽0
2,422,093,063
–
4,500,000,000
₽6,922,093,063

₽88,961,000
2,888,760,022
4,935,467,510
₽7,913,188,532

₽0
5,903,417,347
₽5,903,417,347

₽286,315,642
396,627,540
793,255,080
4,356,621,959
₽5,832,820,220

Balance of the proceeds as of December 31, 2020
Net Proceeds
₽4,934,064,000
Capital Expenses
4,934,064,000
Debt refinancing
Net Proceeds
₽0

₽2,978,835,000
2,978,835,000
₽0

₽6,915,976,960
6,915,976,960
₽0

₽6,917,093,003
6,917,093,003
₽0

₽6,922,093,063
2,422,093,063
4,500,000,000
₽0

₽7,913,188,532
7,913,188,532
₽0

₽5,903,417,347
5,903,417,347
₽0

₽7,934,549,452
1,476,198,262
4,356,621,959
₽2,101,729,232

